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About this report
All NHS organisations are required to publish an annual report and financial 
statements at the end of each financial year. This report provides a brief overview 
of the work of NHS Kernow Clinical Commissioning Group (NHS Kernow) from 1 
April 2021 to 31 March 2022. 

This will be NHS Kernow’s final set of accounts and annual report ahead of its 
closure and the formation of NHS Cornwall and Isles of Scilly’s Integrated Care 
Board on 1 July 2022, subject to Parliamentary approval and Royal Ascent. 

Enquiries about this report should be emailed to the communications and 
engagement team at ciosicb.contactus@nhs.net.

Unless otherwise stated, all services are in Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly. Where 
we have referred to 2021 to 2022 or 2022 to 2023, these are financial years.
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Performance overview 
NHS Kernow was formed on 1 April 2013 following the abolition of primary care trusts. 

The changes gave local GPs, nurses and clinicians greater control over which NHS services to 
commission for people living in Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly, based on their needs. 

During the past 9 years our local NHS – led by NHS Kernow - has worked even more closely 
with colleagues in public health, adult social care, our care home and home care providers, the 
voluntary sector and with patients to improve the way people receive health and care services. 

On Friday 1 July 2022, the next stage of our work to create a joined-up health and care 
system, where people can access services which are tailored to meet their needs, takes another 
important step forward with the creation of the Cornwall and Isles of Scilly Integrated Care 
System (ICS). NHS Kernow will no longer exist and decision-making about NHS services will be 
handed over to NHS Cornwall and Isles of Scilly integrated care board (ICB). Details about our ICB 
and ICS can be read from page 9 of this annual report.

This is NHS Kernow’s final annual report and provides an overview of its work from 1 April 2021 
to 31 March 2022, as well as a celebration of its achievements of the past 9 years. It includes a 
summary of some of our work and achievements, together with the accomplishments of our 
partners during the year, information about our performance and commentary on wider events 
which have shaped our business and priorities. It also provides information on our organisation’s 
structure and shows how we are spending the money we are allocated.
 
There is no doubt the past 12 months have been exceptionally challenging. Our health and care 
system declared a critical incident in October 2021 due to the sustained pressures and demand 
felt across primary and secondary care, mental health, social care, in our residential, nursing 
and domiciliary care homes, and in our ambulance service. Our workforce was also affected 
by COVID-19, either with staff off work, isolating or caring for relatives who were unwell, 
alongside the temporary closure of hospital wards and care homes during spikes of infection. 
This was particularly challenging throughout May and June, and the spread of Omicron during 
winter and Easter affected our ability to provide consistent care however, wherever possible, 
contingency plans were put in place to ensure people could work from home to continue 
supporting patients.
 
Following its inspection of our urgent and emergency care system earlier this year, the Care 
Quality Commission (CQC) recognised that our biggest challenge as a system is to create a 
sustainable workforce.
 
Like other parts of the country, we have had 
significant issues attracting people to work in 
health, social and domiciliary care. The severe 
lack of affordable and vacant housing on the 
rental and purchase markets, combined with 
the costs of childcare for people working 
unsociable hours, have been cited as reasons 
why people may not be applying for jobs in 
health and social care.
 

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=WcoxDEImYmk&t=99s
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We are also experiencing homes that were previously rental properties now being sold due 
to the large price increase in the value of properties in Cornwall. These properties are then 
converted to holiday accommodation. This is leading to people having to leave the county 
because they cannot find somewhere to live, and cases where potential staff, including clinicians, 
having to turn down offers of employment because they cannot anywhere to live.
 
We have placed a particular focus on 
encouraging people to work in domiciliary and 
adult social care to support those who want to 
remain in their own homes. We are addressing 
this through local and national recruitment 
drives to attract more people into health and 
care in Cornwall. Anyone who is looking to 
start a career, wants a change in direction, or 
the next step on their career ladder should visit 
the proud to care website to find out more 
about the varied, flexible and secure jobs. 
 
Following more than 6 months of sustained operational pressures, our system stepped down 
from the critical incident in May. This was achieved by NHS and care sector organisations 
working together through initiatives such as care provider collaboration to deliver more 
domiciliary care and reablement capacity; the use of virtual wards to support more people 
in their own homes rather than admitting them to hospital; the establishment of community 
assessment and treatment units for frail and elderly patients, and a one workforce approach to 
supporting care home staffing. These initiatives and many others have played an important part 
and will continue to do so.
 
None of this could have been achieved without the determined and unfailing efforts for staff in 
all system partner organisations.
 
Although we are no longer at our highest level of operational alert, we are by no means out 
of the woods and there is still a great deal of pressure and growing need. As we move into the 
‘living with COVID’ phase we expect to see new demands as people come forward with illnesses 
they may have delayed seeking help for, and equally we’ll be looking to reduce waiting times for 
people needing routine appointments and procedures.
 
There is also more growing demand for care home places and care in people’s own homes 
than we are currently able to keep pace with, which is still leaving more than 200 people in our 
hospitals every day, waiting to be discharged. This in turn means that although we have reduced 
ambulance delays, we haven’t yet got them down to zero, but we are confident we are on the 
right path to better support people and provide the care we all aspire to deliver.
 
Alongside this we have delivered our successful vaccination programme, and responded to the 
peak in COVID-19 infections which affected both patients and our staff, at the same time as our 
usual winter pressures.
 
There is a lot to be proud of and celebrate, particularly during the past 2 years as every part of 
our health and care system has worked together to support people during the pandemic. 

http://www.proudtocarecornwall.org.uk
https://vimeo.com/719122081/faee3075f2
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Who we are
NHS Kernow is the clinical commissioning group (CCG) for Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly. We 
have 57 GP practices (plus a small number of branch sites), organised into primary care networks 
(PCNs) within 3 integrated care areas (ICAs).

Our job is to plan and buy health and care services for the people registered with GP practices in 
Cornwall and Isles of Scilly, including hospital care, mental health and learning disability services, 
children’s services, community services, an integrated NHS 111 and out of hours service, general 
practice, and some wider primary care services.

We are working with everyone involved in health and care locally to join up health and care 
services to develop and deliver the Cornwall and Isles of Scilly long term plan. 

We are regulated by NHS England and NHS Improvement (NHSEI). Our annual budget for 2021 
to 2022 was £1 billion (£1,159,848,000), and we have 502 contracts with providers to deliver NHS-
funded services.

Our main providers include our general practices, Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust (RCHT), 
Cornwall Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (CFT), University Hospitals Plymouth NHS Trust (UHP), 
Northern Devon Healthcare NHS Trust, and South Western Ambulance Services NHS Foundation 
Trust (SWASFT), as well as a wealth of voluntary and community sector organisations.

Like other areas we have faced a significant growth in demand for services at the same time as 
increasing pressures on budgets. We work closely with our partners to try and ensure the money 
we receive is spent wisely on people with the greatest needs using clinically appropriate and 
cost-effective means.

Our partnership of the NHS (RCHT, CFT, NHS Kernow), Kernow Health CIC (a community interest 
company), SWASFT, UHP, primary care and GPs; the local councils (Cornwall Council, and the 
Council of the Isles of Scilly), have worked with the voluntary sector and other core partners on 
plans to transform health and care services. We are really pleased to see our plans are being 
delivered to support people in Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly. 

https://cioshealthandcare.nhs.uk/get-involved/long-term-plan
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Foreword
It is a privilege to write the final annual report 
foreword for NHS Kernow. By the time you 
read this there will have been a successful 
transition to the NHS Cornwall and Isles of 
Scilly ICB. My non-executive colleagues and 
myself will have completed our terms of office 
and handed over to the new board. I have 
the opportunity here to look back and to 
look forward but at the outset I would like 
to thank all our CCG workforce who have 
balanced business as usual, as well as creating 
and developing the new NHS body structures 
and functions, all in the midst of a pandemic. 
Outstanding!

We are finally coming out of an environment 
of reaction and uncertainty to be in a better 
place than last year in both understanding 
and managing living with COVID-19. We have 
taken stock of the pressing needs of our 
population, coupled with a review of the way 
we work as multiple partners and have defined 
a clear set of priorities for our local NHS and 
a clear working structure to support a fully 
integrated, multi-organisational system. It 
has citizen voice weaved throughout as well 
as retaining and enhancing clinical and care 
professional leadership. This, to me, is the 
legacy of the CCG as we were created to be 
more clinically-led and to be more connected 
and intuitive to people’s needs at a local level. 
This new legislation and, more importantly, 
the desire to culturally shift the way we all 
work together for our population, is opening 
new opportunities to deliver more care at 
home and place whilst tackling the clear health 
inequity that still exists in our society.

During this past year we have experienced 
many challenges and successes. A key marker 
was the hosting of the G7 conference at 
Carbis Bay. This was a huge undertaking and 
championed our county but required detailed 
logistical organisation with multiple partners, 
including health, to succeed.

COVID-19 started to show increasing 
prevalence throughout the summer and the 
associated restrictions, health protection 
and immunisation programs continued. 
Unfortunately, by December, we were 
hitting a huge peak and risk of serious illness 
impacting. GPs were asked to step up for 
emergency vaccination clinics through the 
festive period and January whilst still providing 
normal services for the unprecedented local 
patient demand. Due to great coordination, 
determination, and commitment we achieved 
a high booster vaccination rate.

The impact on our workforce became more 
apparent as infection rates accelerated and 
isolation protocols were stripping our teams 
and clinics of staff at short notice. For the 
first time in many years patients are waiting 
longer to see GPs and members of the primary 
care team as well as waiting longer for 
hospital outpatient appointments and elective 
surgery. There have been visible delays in 
receiving urgent care (as is similar to the rest 
of England), as hospitals have struggled to 
get the best flow through their services and 
been unable to free up places for new urgent 
patients to be treated.
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In response there have been new initiatives, 
a focus on intermediate care, closer 
commissioning decisions with the councils and 
greater use of the voluntary sector. There has 
been an acceleration of the digital program 
and the learning is iterative in developing 
which methods and formats are most useful 
and most acceptable to patients and the way 
they wish to access and receive care. Change 
can feel difficult but with the disruption 
COVID-19 created, we have an opportunity 
of settling into new ways of working that are 
better.

I am often asked about how much more 
money we need to get better services but 
currently the restriction in delivery and new 
ways of working is due in a large part to our 
limitations in workforce. We are working 
collaboratively with providers as to how best 
to use our workforce, how to attract and 
recruit as well as support and retain staff. 
Housing and local training opportunities are a 
focus and, although we have had a demanding 
few years, we need to promote the personal 
benefits and rewards that we get from being 
in the health and care professions.

Kate Shields came in as our chief executive and 
accountable officer in August 2021, landing 
with us whilst we were already preparing 
for transition and has led us though that 
period whilst taking on the role of designate 
accountable officer for the ICB. I wish her 
and John Govett, the chairman of our ICB, 
all the best as they take over and guide the 
next development of our local health and care 
system.

As we close down the CCG I want to 
acknowledge my past and current colleagues 
on the Governing Body for their service, 
some of whom have still been here since 
the inception in 2013. There is a pride in 
our achievements but there has never been 
complacency due to the continued self-
critical and reflective questioning of our 
own performance and actions. I have seen 
and experienced their commitment, energy, 
challenge, supportiveness, and care. Thank 
you.
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Our future health and care system 
People living in Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly should be able to live happy and healthy lives, to 
be in control of their future, free from harm and have the same opportunities as everyone else, 
regardless of where they live.

Our new ICS provides the foundation to achieve this by bringing together the NHS, local 
authorities, the police, the voluntary sector and other independent providers of care and 
services we all rely upon. 

At its heart will be our new NHS ICB, which will provide leadership to our ICS, and will be 
responsible for setting our local NHS priorities and making best use of the £1 billion budget we 
are given to manage on behalf of the 555,000 people who rely on us.

Our ICB leaders include doctors, nurses, and people with a wealth of experience and passion 
who are committed to working in partnership with our communities to create a better place for 
us all to live. 

NHS Kernow has spent the past 9 years laying the foundation to create our ICS to improve 
patient experience and has always worked hard to try and provide high quality and safe joined-
up care. 

The Health and Care Bill has formalised these plans following Parliamentary approval and Royal 
Ascent earlier this year. 

Our plans to create a joined-up health and care system were approved by NHSEI in December 
2020, and we are confident that on 1 July 2022 we are handing over a firm foundation that 
allows partners to work even better together to provide the seamless care that people deserve 
and have told us they want to receive

This significant achievement reflects the hard work which had already taken place across the 
NHS, Cornwall Council, the Council of the Isles of Scilly, and the voluntary sector, to create a 
single team to deliver high quality wraparound care to everyone who lives here. 

The Government’s White Paper for the Health and Care Bill includes the recommendation to 
establish ICBs and discontinue CCGs, transferring its staff into the new organisation.
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In November 2021 John Govett was appointed as the designate chair of the ICB, having spent 
the past 2 years as the independent chair of the Cornwall and Isles of Scilly ICS.

With extensive leadership experience in the NHS as both a chair and non-executive member 
roles, John has also been a group chief executive officer in the third sector, a managing director 
of a major county council and held board director appointments in the private sector.

On 30 November 2021 Kate Shields was formally appointed as the inaugural designate chief 
executive officer for the ICB. A previously registered nurse, Kate was formerly chief executive of 
RCHT and is the current accountable officer for NHS Kernow.

John Govett, ICB designate chair Kate Shields, ICB inaugural designate  
chief executive officer

In February 2022 5 new non-executive members also took up their designate roles to the ICB 
board. They are:

Sanj Srikanthan, finance and 
performance committee chair, 

and vice chair

Martin Sykes, audit committee 
chair and senior independent 

director

Tarn Lamb, workforce 
committee chair, and 

remuneration committee chair

Carole Theobald, quality and 
pathways of care committee 

chair, and citizen engagement 
committee chair

Dr Neil Walden, 3 ICAs 
committee chair, and primary 

care commissioning committee 
chair

A new ICB executive team has been appointed in accordance with the Department of Health 
and Social Care (DHSC) and NHSEI requirements. 
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What we want to achieve
We want Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly to be a great place to be born, live and grow old. We 
want it to be a place where people thrive, and live happy, healthy and independent lives, where 
they are in control of their future, but know we are there to support them when they need us. 

Focusing on the priorities set out in our health and wellbeing strategy and the NHS long term 
plan, we want to support people to stay as healthy as possible for as long as possible and 
help people to help themselves and each other so they stay independent and well in their 
community. 

This means providing joined-up, high quality services that we can all be proud of, with more 
services delivered in people’s homes or within their community. This will allow us to make the 
very best use of the funds which are available to us. 

Our ICS has 4 aims, which are:

Improve outcomes in 
people’s health, and 
healthcare

Tackle inequalities in 
outcomes, experiences, 
and access to care

Enhance productivity 
and value for money

Help the NHS support 
broader social and 
economic development

We will achieve this by working with our partners to develop the Cornwall and Isles of Scilly ICS 
and the Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) alongside our local authority colleagues.

We want to ensure that providing local place-based care is at the heart of everything we do. 
This means delivering services closest to where people live and involving communities in making 
the decisions which will affect them.

We work with our voluntary care sector partners to look at how their role can be further 
strengthened to support delivering day to day services in communities, and with our public 
health colleagues to understand how managing the health of the population can be better 
embedded into everything we do. We will also look at how we support our PCNs at a local level 
to embed and use population health data to support local care. 
 
Our ICAs will continue to build their model of care and the infrastructure they need to support 
it, whilst ensuring that decisions are made by local clinical leaders who know what’s best for 
their community. 

Our commitment to working collaboratively during recent years has already delivered real 
improvements and investment in new services and projects to benefit our population, both now 
and in the future. 

https://www.cornwall.gov.uk/media/45121669/hwbs_onpagev_final.pdf
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The development of our new women and 
children’s centre at the Royal Cornwall Hospital 
continues. Due to open in 2024, the centre 
will help to further drive new models of 
care for paediatrics, neonatal, maternity and 
gynaecology care, and provide another centre 
of excellence for family and children’s health. 

COVID-19 brought all partners even closer together to ensure we were able to manage the 
significant additional pressures placed upon our health and care system. This included the 
development of new initiatives such as the creation of community co-ordination centres, and the 
acceleration of existing plans to integrate health and care services.

When we set out on our journey to become an ICS, there were significant challenges across 
our system. We continue to work together with our partners and as a community to solve our 
challenges together, as a community. 

Whether we are supporting the frail and elderly, children with mental health problems 
or people with learning disabilities, families rely on us delivering joined up care across 
organisations. 

Our Governing Body members are working closely with the new ICB chair and non-executive 
members to help safely transfer responsibilities between the 2 organisations to ensure 
everything is in place for 1 July. 

Health and Care Partnership Senate 
The Partnership Senate is made up of all the leaders of the major health and care organisations 
in Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly.

It meets in public 3 to 4 times a year (although this has not happened during 2021 to 2022 due 
to the pandemic) and includes representatives from primary care networks (PCNs) to strengthen 
communities and take account of their needs when making decisions.
 
Representatives from other sectors including housing, the police, employment and education 
also attend meetings when needed to ensure there is a whole person focus and more effective 
partnership working.
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What are our challenges?
While Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly are undoubtedly beautiful places to live, managing the 
health and care needs of a rising population, many with unhealthy lifestyles including obesity 
and smoking; tackling the effects of poverty and deprivation, including poor housing conditions, 
and isolation on physical and mental health and wellbeing, and addressing the additional 
pressures caused by our popularity as a tourist destination, presents significant challenges for 
our health and care system.

Specific challenges

A growing population: there will 
be 62,000 more people living in 
Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly in the 
next 20 years. 

Limited resources to meet growing 
demand: there have been increases 
in NHS funding, but peoples’ needs 
for services are growing faster. 
Funding for health and care is limited 
and with an ageing and growing 
population we need to make every 
pound stretch further. 

Mental health: high rates of suicide 
and self-harm, with 5% people 
reporting long-term mental health 
problems. Poorer physical health for 
people with enduring mental health 
issues and learning disabilities. 

An increase in preventable illnesses: 
more people have preventable 
illnesses, and are having more years 
of ill health, often with multiple 
illnesses, such as cancer, heart 
problems and type 2 diabetes. 

Poor performance in some areas 
of our current system: improving 
productivity and reducing service 
provision variation.

The baby boomer effect: by 2027 
there will be 50% more people aged 
75 to 84; and 27% more people older 
than 85; 62% of hospital beds are 
occupied by people older than 65. 

Health inequalities: 71,000 people 
are at greater risk of long-term 
illnesses, with people with severe and 
prolonged mental illness dying on 
average 15 to 20 years earlier than 
those without. Just 85,000 of people 
are living well, requiring only ad 
hoc care and support, with further 
280,000 at risk of future ill health. 

Workforce shortages: vital health 
and care jobs remain unfilled, with 
an ageing workforce approaching 
retirement and a high turnover of 
care workers. We need to transform 
our workforce to ensure we have the 
right skills in the right places.

Our geography and settlement 
pattern: a peninsula and 60% of 
people in settlements under 3,000 
affects how and where services can 
be provided. There are particular 
challenges for people living on the 
Isles of Scilly. 

COVID-19 pandemic: the impact of 
COVID-19 has created additional 
challenges for our health and care 
system.
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Whilst everyone has been affected by COVID-19 some groups have experienced disproportionate 
health, social and economic impacts. The pandemic has both increased existing inequalities 
and created new risks and impacts, such as living with long COVID, for people who may not 
previously have considered themselves to be vulnerable. 

In addition to the immediate impact of COVID-19 and the lockdowns, including delays to 
planned routine surgery, there will be longer term implications of the measures which have 
been taken to control the spread of the virus. The economic impact of COVID-19 will inevitably 
widen existing health inequalities. Our NHS is committed to recovering from COVID-19 and we 
are focused on actions which reduce these areas of inequality and ensuring that we put equality, 
diversity, and inclusion at the heart of everything we do.

We are also likely to see many people needing treatment for long COVID-19 syndrome in the 
future, and we have a range of services and initiatives in place to support people who are 
suffering from the wider impacts of COVID-19.

We are continuing to work with partners to identify key vulnerable groups so we can review the 
support which is available to ensure that it is reaching and meeting the needs of people who 
need it the most.
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How we will deliver our vision
We want to support people and, where possible, prevent them from becoming unwell, and 
enable them to manage their health and wellbeing. 

While COVID-19 has had a huge impact on the delivery of our health and social care services, 
the dedication and commitment of our staff and volunteers to provide the best possible 
care and support has never faltered. We developed new ways of working, with significant 
improvements in the use of technology and digital innovation, such as email, telephone and 
video consultations, and the provision of new equipment, including pulse and blood pressure 
monitors which can be used by people at home. Together these initiatives are giving our people 
more choice in accessing services and support, making better use of finite resources, and helping 
us to reduce our carbon footprint. 

Based in PCNs, joined-up health and care teams are providing services to improve physical health 
and wellbeing, help children to do well at school, reduce working days lost to ill health and 
fewer years of ill health for older people. This joined-up approach has continued to expand 
through the development of our ICS. 

We continue to work with primary care colleagues and the voluntary sector to expand our 
mental health services and implement the aims of our integrated mental health strategy: Futures 
in mind. This has included expanding the use of social prescribing and other community-based 
services to provide improved care and support to people in their home.

COVID-19 has also accelerated initiatives which were already under development before the 
pandemic. 

The expansion of community intervention services, together with other initiatives, are helping to 
deliver integrated health and care services. There are also closer working relationships between 
primary care and care homes. We will continue to build on these initiatives to help meet 
people’s needs.

We already work closely with hospitals in Devon which provide services to people living in 
north and south east Cornwall, as well as a range of very specialist services. These include 
cardiothoracic services and neonatal intensive care support for the most vulnerable and 
premature babies. We will continue to build on these strong partnerships.

The voluntary and community sector has played an increasingly pivotal role in helping us to 
support communities during the pandemic and we will continue to develop these partnerships 
to reach under-represented communities. 

Becoming an ICS has supported our work to develop a shared Cornwall and Isles of Scilly 
health and care team. Our primary care training hub and virtual Health and Care Academy 
is supporting our primary and community care workforce with their learning, training and 
development, and helping us to design health worker roles and caring careers for the future. 

We are continuing to train new adults and mental health nurses, and clinical associate 
psychologists, and have developed new roles and apprenticeships for health and social care. 

http://doclibrary-kccg.cornwall.nhs.uk/DocumentsLibrary/KernowCCG/OurServices/StrategicReportsAndPlans/MentalHealthStrategy.pdf
http://doclibrary-kccg.cornwall.nhs.uk/DocumentsLibrary/KernowCCG/OurServices/StrategicReportsAndPlans/MentalHealthStrategy.pdf
https://www.royalcornwall.nhs.uk/cornwalls-health-and-care-partners-to-grow-own-workforce/
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We are incredibly proud of our successful vaccination programme. It’s a phenomenal tour de 
force which has delivered more than 1.2 million doses since we began vaccinating people in 
December 2020. 

This amazing achievement was only possible by people from primary care, health trusts, 
community pharmacy, public health, Cornwall Ambulance Service (CAS), St John’s Ambulance 
and support from the voluntary sector working together to protect our community. 

We also booster vaccinated 88% of our eligible population by New Year’s Eve. 3 weeks after 
the Prime Minister announced a programme to deliver life-saving booster jabs to ensure people 
were protected against the omicron variant. 

A significant proportion of vaccinations were delivered by GPs who managed this alongside their 
increased workload, and by getting teams out into the community vaccinating people against a 
continued backdrop of significant pressures across our health and care system during winter.

We have worked hard to make it easier for people to protect themselves against COVID-19 and 
have targeted some of our most vulnerable members of our community, including the homeless, 
migrant workers, traveller communities, fishermen with a range of mobile pop-up vaccination 
clinics alongside health checks.

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ihiejRh1cvY
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ZEtIL8ZEzH4
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“There have been challenges along the way but time and time again our 
staff have stepped up giving up evenings and weekends to support the 
vaccination drive. A huge thank you to the staff, volunteers and everyone 
who has been involved in the roll out of our incredible programme so far.”
Iain Davidson, RCHT’s chief pharmacist

We have targeted areas of low uptake by running a men’s only session at the Cornish Pirates’ 
home ground on match day; a session for seafarers and workers at Falmouth Docks, and Newlyn 
fishermen.

Hundreds of doses of the AstraZeneca vaccine have also been flown to the Isles of Scilly to 
vaccinate care home residents and staff, front line staff and other Islanders. From the large-scale 
vaccination centres, to walk in clinics in GP practices and local pharmacies, mobile vaccination 
centres and pop-up hubs in shopping centres, community buildings and car parks – vaccination 
teams have worked around the clock to deliver lifesaving jabs to our communities.

For housebound individuals, local GP services have been offering home visits. Where it is not 
possible for the GP to attend, processes have been put in place for the person to be vaccinated 
through an alternative, wraparound support. 
 
A free transport service, Vaxi Taxi, was also organised through Volunteer Cornwall, to improve 
access to COVID-19 vaccination centres. This service was not only for those with mobility 
issues, but also for those who would otherwise not be able to afford to travel to a vaccination 
appointment.

Vaccinations were made available at local events, such as Cornwall Pride, with teams also joining 
up with other organisations to encourage specific groups of people to take up the offer.

In May 2021, a collaboration with the Cornwall Port Health Authority saw seafarers arriving at 
the ports of Fowey and Falmouth being offered the chance to have their COVID-19 jabs. 

Among the first to take up the offer were some of the crew of the RRS Sir David Attenborough.

In September 2021, the vaccination service at Stithians showground relocated back to the 
hospital hub at RCHT, having given more than 135,000 doses of vaccine. 

“At a time when health 
professionals are under 
a lot of strain, we were 

really grateful to Cornwall 
Port Health for vaccinating 
some of the RRS Sir David 
Attenborough crew and 

keeping us safe and 
healthy while on board”

Simon Evans, chief 
officer, RRS Sir David 

Attenborough
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“To see the people who had been isolated 
and shielding for so many months walk into 

the marquee all dressed up, hair done, make-
up on and so pleased to see us, was a big 

event. It was very, very emotional.”

“It was a really positive experience; everybody 
was such a team player, and it was great to 

meet new people who were all dedicated to 
providing the very best patient care.”

Sarah Watson, frontline paramedic 

Sarah Watson, a frontline paramedic who provided care to people if they became unwell whilst 
attending the showground site for their vaccination, was the last person to have her jab at 
Stithians.

Sarah, who received a commemorative mug alongside her jab, said to have been involved in such 
an important part of people’s lives since the start of the vaccination programme at Stithians was 
an absolute privilege, and that it had been a very special moment to be the last person to have 
their jab at the site.

The vaccination team is now working hard to protect children and young people and people 
with long term conditions and the immunosuppressed through the spring booster campaign.

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=9moC6CT_38k
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=9moC6CT_38k
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Engaging with the public during the pandemic 
COVID-19 transformed the way we approached our communication and engagement, most 
notably stopping face to face engagement to ensure people remained safe and their exposure 
to the virus was minimised. 

Virtual engagement continues to play a significant role in the way we listen to, talk and involve 
people in our work. It has also allowed us to talk to people whom we may not usually engage 
with. 

This has included finding out people’s thoughts on a proposed ear wax removal service, changes 
to the musculoskeletal (MSK) services, and a redesign of the neurodevelopment pathway parent 
survey. We will use this information to help shape and improve future services.

In October and December 2021 we ran the second of our annual Citizens Advisory Panel (CAP) 
health conferences which gave people an opportunity to hear about the changes to the health 
and care system, ask questions of our accountable officer, and find out how public engagement 
will be at the heart of our ICB. The events were hugely successful and attended by 60 people. 

60 people 
attended the 2021 

Citizens Advisory Panel 
conference

We supported the surgeries with its work to inform and engage with its patients and 
communities, including delivering online public meetings, developing patient surveys and 
reporting back on the engagement activity and themes to support any decisions. 

We also concluded the engagement which began in 2020 to support the future of a branch 
surgery in Gorran Haven, and Probus and Grampound. 

Our CAP continued to meet virtually every month, and we have continued to produce a weekly 
digital newsletter. CAP provides an independent view and critical friendship on health and care 
matters to ensure people are heard and can influence plans. We continue to work with the CAP 
and primary care team to review general practice and patient participation groups to strengthen 
engagement and give people opportunities to contribute to the development and delivery of 
primary care services. 

We have continued to work with the local medical committee, the Consultation Institute, 
Healthwatch and Cornwall Council’s health and adult social care overview and scrutiny 
committee to gain feedback before embedding any changes. 

https://doclibrary-kccg.cornwall.nhs.uk/DocumentsLibrary/KernowCCG/EngagingWithServiceUsers/StrategicReportsAndPlans/EarWaxRemovalEngagementReport.pdf
https://doclibrary-kccg.cornwall.nhs.uk/DocumentsLibrary/KernowCCG/EngagingWithServiceUsers/StrategicReportsAndPlans/GorranHavenBranchSurgerySurveyReportAndNextSteps.pdf
https://doclibrary-kccg.cornwall.nhs.uk/DocumentsLibrary/KernowCCG/EngagingWithServiceUsers/StrategicReportsAndPlans/GorranHavenBranchSurgerySurveyReportAndNextSteps.pdf
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Citizens Advisory Panel 

The framework for ICS’s emphasises how important it is to listen consistently to, and collectively 
act on, the experience and aspirations of local people and communities. 

Detailed guidance sets out 10 principles for how boards can develop their approaches to 
working with people and communities and emphasises that the expectations and the voices of 
people and communities must be at the centre of decision-making and governance, at every 
level of the ICS. 

For many years the CAP, which comprises lay representatives from across Cornwall, has acted as 
a critical friend of the health system. The panel was particularly pleased to note the commitment 
to this by members of NHS Kernow’s Governing Body at its meeting in October. 

During the past year the CAP took the lead in 2 major online conferences. In October, Kate 
Shields and Rachel Wigglesworth spoke about the ICS itself and responded to a large number 
of questions and comments in the “chat” box. This was followed in December by a second 
conference which discussed the shape of future public engagement in health and care as well as 
the uses of new technology in health care. 

The CAP has welcomed the appointment of Dr Neil Walden, a CAP member with a long-
standing interest in patient and public engagement, as a non-executive member of the ICB. 
Working together members of the panel look forward to ensuring that the ICB and place-based 
partnerships across Cornwall have effective representation from local people and communities 
in priority-setting and in decision-making forums. 

CAP members have also attended and contributed actively to the Governing Body, the 
Senate and to the primary care commissioning committee as well as being active in their local 
communities. 
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Section 1B
PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS
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Making sure everyone gets the best start in life 
The past 12 months have been very challenging, with waves of increasing demand for services 
from the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic impacting on workforce availability and interrupting 
“best laid plans” for service improvements and change. 

Despite this there have been a number of key achievements and improvements in the services 
we provide for children and young people in Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly.

Continued improvements in maternity services

We have around 5,500 births a year in 
Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly. We believe 
every woman should have access to first-class 
perinatal maternity services and have a positive 
experience. This means providing safer, kinder, 
more joined-up and personal services which 
reflect women’s choices; offer continuity of 
care; and are more family friendly. 

As a member of the local maternity and 
neonatal system, we work closely with 
Cornwall Council’s public health team, 
doctors and midwives in Cornwall and Devon, 
CFT, Trust and volunteers from the Kernow 
Maternity Voices Partnership, to support 
women and families. 

Our maternity services have continued to 
deliver personalised care and a choice of birth 
options, alongside acting quickly to ensure 
they have plans in place to implement the 
quality improvement recommendations arising 
from the Ockenden report.

Regionally Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly 
have been recognised as having an effective 
Maternity Voices Partnership. 

Other achievements this year

• Implementing a pelvic health clinic to help 
to prevent and treat incontinence and other 
pelvic floor issues for pregnant women and 
new mums. This offers a one stop shop for 
women with symptoms, bringing together 
midwives, specialist doctors and specialist 
physiotherapists under one roof.

• Expanding the number of mental health-
focused midwives and maternity support 
workers providing targeted support to 
women with mental health difficulties 
through the establishment of the women 
requiring extra nurturing team.

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/final-report-of-the-ockenden-review/ockenden-review-summary-of-findings-conclusions-and-essential-actions
https://cioshealthandcare.nhs.uk/maternal-mental-health-cornwall-and-isles-of-scilly-to-become-pilot-site/
https://cioshealthandcare.nhs.uk/maternal-mental-health-cornwall-and-isles-of-scilly-to-become-pilot-site/
https://cioshealthandcare.nhs.uk/maternal-mental-health-cornwall-and-isles-of-scilly-to-become-pilot-site/
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Managing the increasing mental health difficulties of children 
as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic

The consequence of COVID-19 restrictions is 
an increased need for conversations about 
the way children and young people feel, 
emotionally, about their families, home life, 
school, and a sense of hopelessness about the 
future. 

Requests for help from those experiencing 
the most common and more serious mental 
health conditions of anxiety, depression 
and eating disorders continue to increase. 
The lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender 
(LGBT+) community has experienced isolation 
which has disproportionately impacted their 
emotional wellbeing and mental health. Pre-
COVID-19 a trend in requests for help from 
younger children was starting to develop from 
5 years. This trend accelerated during the 
pandemic and continues as society adapts to a 
‘new normal’. 

Our services across the NHS, voluntary and 
independent sectors have come together 
strongly. Through our long tradition of 
children and young people participation, 
we have been able to identify the actions 
that work for them. We continue to grow 
the number of individuals accessing our care 
however, the need for help in Cornwall and 
Isles of Scilly, from infants to young adults is 
coming forward faster than we can grow our 
services. 

In response to what children and young people 
have told us we have:

• expanded open access, on-line help and 
counselling for those aged 11 to 25, 
providing more than 10,000 log-ins to almost 
1,500 people (approximately 11% of users 
identify as black and ethnic minority)

• started 7 open access drop-in hubs in key 
town youth centre settings providing mental 
health practitioners and youth workers for 
those aged 8 to 25 (the hubs have supported 
nearly 150 children in the first 5 months)

• we have doubled the number of schools 
that can take part in the mind and body 
programme working in schools with people 
who self-harm

• we have responded to the importance of 
sleep in avoiding poor mental health and 
thoughts of self-harm (150 children and 
young people accessed sleep therapy during 
2021 to 2022)

• we have responded to those who are 
neurodiverse and those who have withdrawn 
and become house bound, with person 
centred care planning supported by a fund 
to provide creative therapies such as art, play 
and music for 100 people

• we have grown year on year throughout the 
pandemic the number of individuals seen by 
an NHS funded service

Year target Numbers seen Target % Actual Access
2017/18 1,219 30% 19% N/A
2018/19 2,344 32% 36% N/A
2019/20 3,327 34% 47% N/A
2020/21 3,375 35% 54% N/A
2021/22 5,900* N/A N/A 5,864

*4,335 up to 2021 to 2022 end quarter 2. On track to achieve access target.
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Improving services for children 
with special educational need 
and disabilities 

NHS Kernow is a statutory partner to the 
special education needs and disabilities (SEND) 
joint planning process, with legal duties to 
secure health provision based on children’s 
needs and target outcomes. 

As part of the preparation for an inspection of 
the SEND service on the Isles of Scilly, we took 
part in a peer review carried out with the local 
government office. This recognised the positive 
impact of our supportive and flexible approach 
to planning and paying for services for the Isles 
of Scilly in recognition of the core aims to meet 
the needs of children and young people as far 
as possible through upskilling local staff.

The visiting team highlighted the mature 
partnership between NHS Kernow and the 
council, noting the flexible approach of health 
professionals to seeing children and young 
people which involved working to coordinate 
appointments in the mainland when island 
visits by specialists were not available. 

In 2021 we successfully recruited to a new 
post of the designated clinical officer for the 
system. Hosted by NHS Kernow, the clinical 
officer works across the system to improve 
the health input into personalised plan and 
quality of response for children with SEND. 
The clinical officer is already demonstrating an 
improvement in health, education, and care 
plans.

Implementing a new clinic for 
children with obesity

In Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly, 1 in 
4 children leaving primary school are 
overweight. Children who are overweight 
are more likely to become overweight adults. 
Obesity is a complex issue and there are several 
factors that can impact on a child’s weight, 
some of which are outside of a parent’s direct 
control such as environment, genetics and 
culture. There is also a relationship between 
lower income families and excess weight.
 
The biggest issue is because a child is eating 
more food than is burnt off by physical activity. 

Building on the successful service we already 
have in place for tackling obesity in very young 
children, Cornwall has become a pilot site for 
a new highly specialist service for all children 
with medical complications from excessive 
weight. 

RCHT and UHP are working with public health 
teams to build and trial a new offer that 
combines medical investigation and treatment 
with psychological, family and healthy lifestyle 
support. 

The pilot will test new research-based 
approaches to help young people start 
adulthood at a healthy weight and with the 
knowledge and skills they need to maintain it 
for life.

Responding to the disruption in packages of care for children 
with complex needs

Throughout the pandemic, close working relationships between social care and the continuing 
and complex care team have been vital to ensure that children with complex healthcare needs 
could continue to be cared for at home. 

This has included the need for very flexible working to manage the staffing of packages of care, 
delivering personal protective equipment (PPE) and sharing guidance across all providers during 
the first wave of COVID-19. 
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Responding to the surge in respiratory syncytial virus

Last summer saw a warning from public health that a lack of socialising of young children during 
the pandemic was likely to lead to a surge in this respiratory virus. While most people recover 
in 1 or 2 weeks, the condition can be serious for infants and young children, resulting in an 
increase in people visiting the emergency department and being admitted to hospital.

We developed a clear plan to manage the potential risks of this situation. This included:

• monitoring data from our hospitals to review the impact of the surge, including any specific 
geographical areas of demand and unnecessary admissions to the emergency department

• delivering a public campaign to both raise awareness of the virus and promote the use of the 
Handi-app to help parents make decisions about the right care

• establishing a plan for ensuring children and families could access out of hours hot clinics
• establishing a regional escalation plan for hospital beds

Thankfully we only needed to implement some aspects of the plan, but our learning has helped 
strengthen relationships and laid the foundation for future integrated working. 

Celebrating the work of NHS 
Kernow in transforming 
services for children and young 
people

As well as the positive achievements delivered 
during the past 12 months, services for 
expectant parents, children and young people 
have seen significant change since NHS Kernow 
was formed in 2013.

The most significant change has been the recognition that getting it right at the start of the 
maternity journey and through childhood is the cornerstone of improving health throughout a 
person’s life.

We have ensured the voice of parents and young people have been at the heart of our work 
through the development of Maternity Voices Partnership, Young People Cornwall Participation 
Network and Parent Carer Forum alongside Healthwatch. 

This has led to a range of schemes that have been co-designed and co-produced including: 

• improvements in personalisation, choice and quality of maternity services 
• a pelvic health clinic for women during and post pregnancy
• keyworker support for children with learning disabilities and autism
• the implementation of a range of offers within mental health, such as mental health in 

schools, wellbeing workers and the design of the Sowenna in-patient unit
• training tools for the workforce in how to engage with young people
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We have worked to develop strong collaborative relationships with providers in health, social 
care and education.

This has enabled us to agree and implement ambitious plans for improvement which have 
resulted in significant changes.

Improvements made 

• Development of the One Vision partnership, and joint working across mental health, child 
development disorders, disability and children with complex needs. 

• Growth of maternity services, from a position of poor CQC ratings to a service rated as good, 
with a focus on personalisation and choice of birth options, alongside improved quality, and 
a robust relationship with women in the design and assurance of the service through the 
Maternity Voices Partnership. 

• Significant investment in children’s mental health services, ensuring 24/7 crisis response, 
achievement of the nationally set access to therapy targets, more rapid responses to 
assessment and intervention, a clearer early intervention offer through digital offers, 
wellbeing workers and implementation of the mental health in schools programme. 

• Development of an offer for infant mental health alongside perinatal and maternal mental 
health services, in recognition of the core importance of parent and infant relationship in the 
first years of life as the foundation of good mental health throughout a person’s life.

• Improvements in the intervention and intensive support offer for those with learning 
disabilities and autism, with a significant improvement in a reduction of inpatient admission 
for these cohorts.

• Closer working with social care for those with complex needs, with joint decision panels and 
improvements in joint arrangements for packages of care. 

• A robust offer for children with long term conditions, including a service for children with 
diabetes that is recognised as high quality through successive peer reviews.

Behind these improvements, alongside dedicated management and clinical teams within 
providers, sits a committed and skilled workforce within NHS Kernow spread across 
commissioning quality teams. 

Our staff have championed the needs of women, children and young people and bring support 
and challenge to the quality and improvement of service provision. They have grown and 
adapted to the ever changing and increasing national and local agenda, developing skills and 
approaches accordingly. 

“I am extremely proud of how both the maternity, children and young people’s  
commissioning team and the teams focussed on children and families in the quality team  

have worked together, including embedding collaborative approaches across partners  
in health services, the voluntary and community sector, social care, education teams to  

deliver on such a wide and varied agenda. Their knowledge and commitment is inspiring.

“As we move to an ICS I hope that we can shape and grow their skills to adapt  
to maximise the opportunities to develop new ways of working with  

the core aim to grow and improve our offer to meet the health needs of children  
and families as a core aspect of our ongoing work.”

Liz Cahill interim associate director for commissioning maternity, children and young people
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Safeguarding children, young people and adults at risk of 
abuse and neglect

We continue to deliver a robust multi-agency safeguarding approach for children and young 
people. This means meeting vulnerable children’s health needs, including those with a child 
protection plan, children in need, looked after children and those in the criminal justice system.

We are a statutory partner to the Youth Offending Service and provide both strategic input into 
whole system planning around vulnerable children and safeguarding, and commission specialist 
expertise into the team. 

We are also working closely with public health, education and social care to ensure a whole 
system approach to promote wellbeing and prevent long-term health needs.

Our safeguarding team works with commissioning colleagues to ensure organisations that are 
commissioned to provide services have systems in place that safeguard children, young people 
and adults at risk in line with Children Act 2004 and Care Act 2014. This includes clear accessible 
policy and procedures, safer recruitment, training and governance systems.

We have implemented the child protection information sharing project which allows basic 
information held by children’s social care departments about children on a child protection plan, 
and children who are looked after, to be shared with health professionals and alerts them to the 
vulnerability of these children, creating a more complete picture of any safeguarding risks.

All health partners continue to use the safeguarding assurance scorecard developed by our 
safeguarding team to ensure they are meeting their statutory safeguarding requirements. 

In December 2021 the Government announced that the new Liberty Protection Safeguards (LPS), 
which will replace the existing Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) scheme, will not now 
be implemented in April 2022. A new timetable for the introduction of the new safeguards has 
not yet been confirmed as the Government is planning to consult on the new regulations. In the 
meantime we have been preparing for the new legislation by setting up a Cornwall and Isles of 
Scilly LPS implementation group, and attending a wider south west network.

We continue to be involved in the development of multi-agency systems to protect children 
at risk of exploitation. We participate in the development of safeguarding services including 
responding to contextual safeguarding needs and the development of trauma-informed 
approaches to service delivery. 
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Commissioning and development of primary care services
On 1 April 2020 NHS Kernow was delegated 
responsibility for the commissioning of primary 
care medical services. This meant taking on 
the oversight and assurance of the 57 GP 
contracts, including a requirement to deliver 
contract procurements. As part of this remit, 
we successfully maintained patient services for 
residents of Mevagissey and surrounding areas 
following a successful contract procurement 
process. Alongside this, the primary care 
team supported the development of general 
practice resilience across Cornwall and the Isles 
of Scilly, providing support and guidance across 
all practices, and creating and implementing 
an escalation process.

The range of financial support available to 
general practice during the year, as a result of 
the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, has enabled 
successful deployment of the COVID-19 
vaccination programme, of which primary care 
has been a significant provider. We have also 
supported investment in developing general 
practice premises via the minor improvement 
grant process.

Our primary care team has nurtured excellent 
working relationships with the practices and 
the local medical committee, Kernow LMC. 
This facilitates an effective 2-way flow of 
communication. The team has also developed 
an engagement protocol, to support practices 
to conduct effective patient engagement 
when reviewing proposed changes such as a 
merger or relocation. This ensures the delivery 
of proportionate patient engagement in line 
with their contractual requirements.

Supporting the digital 
development of primary care 

We have continued to support our general 
practice community to provide a range of 
digital options for staff and for patients to 
access primary care services throughout the 
COVID-19 pandemic. This has included:

• access to and support for online consultation 
tools to provide a ‘digital front door’ to the 
practice for patients

• access to secure video consultation facilities
• secure remote access to a full range of 

IT services for staff working from home, 
whether for self-isolation or to facilitate 
social distancing within practices

• SMS messaging capability for sending 
appointment reminders and fit notes and 
receiving images as part of the consultation 
process

Other achievements 

• Implemented a Cornwall and Isles of Scilly 
branded health app library, which enables 
the local population and our healthcare 
professionals to access digital apps that 
have been reviewed for suitability against 
3 domains (professional assurance, usability 
and data) by the Organisation for Review of 
Care and Health Apps (ORCHA).

• Applied for, and been awarded, additional 
funding to support the upgrade of internet 
connectivity to 53 general practice sites 
to faster, more robust connections. This 
improves clinicians’ access to patient records, 
medical history and shared information.

• Managed the investment of capital 
funding to deliver over £600,000 worth of 
replacement equipment, and introduced a 
risk-based approach to applying for further 
capital funding from NHSEI to support 
the aspiration to a minimum 5 year rolling 
refresh programme for general practice IT 
equipment and infrastructure. This supports 
the reliability of the systems used by GPs to 
capture and review patient information.

• Upgraded all general practice computers to 
use the NHS variant of Office 365 (N365), 
ensuring that a key cyber security risk is 
mitigated by eradicating the use of the 
unsupported Microsoft Office 2010.

• Improved engagement between the CCG’s 
primary care digital team and the general 
practice community, with the inception of a 
primary care digital and information steering 
group and a primary care digital forum.

• Maximised the use of system development 
funding to support infrastructure resilience, 
online consultations and digital first primary 
care.

https://cios.orcha.co.uk/
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Improving prescribing 
During the past 12 months our medicines optimisation team has worked with colleagues from 
RCHT, CFT, the Local Pharmaceutical Committee (LPC), and PCN pharmacists to ensure the quality 
of prescribing, cost effectiveness, equity, and patient safety. 

Despite the high rates of population growth and increasing rates of prescribing, we have 
maintained a prescribing cost growth rate similar to neighbouring CCGs and the national 
average. The current forecast is for a 0% growth in prescribing costs this year. Efficiency 
savings of nearly £1.3 million have been delivered in the first 3 quarters of 2021 and 22, and are 
currently forecast to exceed £1.6 million in the full year. 

Medicine safety information, updates and alerts are sent to prescribers and other healthcare 
colleagues via our weekly prescribing shots newsletter. As well as looking at issues relating to 
digital and medicines safety, we also provide advice on best practice, including information on 
greener choices when available, and cost saving guidance to all prescribers. 

During the past 12 months we have worked with partners to highlight the importance of self 
care, creating and sharing videos, visual aids and other resources with GP practices and local 
pharmacists. 

We continue to focus on the challenges caused by antimicrobial resistance and are working with 
primary care practices and PCN pharmacy teams to ensure we meet the national targets for 
reducing antibiotic prescriptions in the community by 25% by 2024. 

Other achievements 

• Providing medicines optimisation information and advice to all GP practices, PCNs and other 
organisations, with more 1,000 queries responded to within the last year.

• Supporting the COVID-19 vaccination programme, providing clinical updates, advice and sign 
off for vaccination sites, taking part in assurance visits and working with partners to produce 
the COVID-19 community treatment pathway for adults with COVID-19.

• Supporting GP practices and PCNs to identify and prioritise patients who would benefit 
from structured medication, providing advice on repeat prescribing policies or protocols, and 
developing local prescribing policies as required. 

• Assessing new medicines and products. 
• Developing guidelines for specific areas of nutritional prescribing and engaging with other 

healthcare professionals and clinical specialists, for example infant formula guidance, thickener 
guidelines, and oral nutritional supplements (ONS) guidance.

• Responding to safety alerts or changes in national guidance around all areas of prescribing 
and ensure information is effectively communicated to other health care professionals and 
prescribers, for example, safety alerts for thickeners, removal of probiotics from drug tariff, 
free vitamin D supply for care homes and actions following the end of the free supply.

• Supporting the CFT mental health team and GP practices to identify women of childbearing 
age prescribed valproate medicines for a mental health indication. 

• Supporting the World Health Organisation (WHO) medication without harm challenge to raise 
awareness of risks associated with selected areas of prescribing, for example, transdermal 
fentanyl and higher-risk co-prescribing with opiates, alongside supporting prescribing reviews 
for patients who may be at highest risk.

• Providing medicine management advice to care homes and supported living settings. 

https://apps.who.int/iris/rest/bitstreams/1083775/retrieve
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The team have finalised guidelines for monitoring COVID-19 and post COVID-19 drugs, emollient, 
antimicrobial and clostridium difficile, developing eclipse guides and retinal screening for 
patients on hydroxychloroquine and chloroquine and renal resource packs for adults. We are 
also involved with supporting the syringe driver paperwork. Supporting the focus on atrial 
fibrillation, hypertension, and lipid management, including the recruitment of a cardiovascular 
disease (CVD) champion to support PCNs, and working with the team leading on the delivery of 
the CVD prevention and diagnosis service. 

We have also worked with dietitians to provide guidance to care home staff, volunteers, and 
other healthcare professionals on all areas of nutritional prescribing. This has included providing 
training and support to care homes where nutrition and hydration have been identified as an 
issue; auditing care homes on their use of nutritional planning tools and developing new patient 
resources such as food first campaign for adults with a small appetite, food first for adults with 
a small appetite and diabetes, an updated homemade fortified drink: and eating well with 
dementia leaflets and videos. Our team also set up a 3-month trial of the patient association 
nutrition checklist with the STEPS and Corcare West team in February.

We have been working with colleagues to develop the community pharmacy consultation 
service in Cornwall. Originally launched by NHSEI in 2019, this service enables patients to visit a 
pharmacy without an appointment or referral to have a consultation with the pharmacist in the 
privacy of a consultation room and receive NHS treatment if appropriate. A record of the service 
is electronically sent to the patient’s GP for completeness.

Patients are already able to access care for a small number of conditions that would usually 
require a GP visit by taking advantage of the Cornwall minor ailment scheme at their local 
pharmacy. 

There are approximately 400 plus referrals a month from RCHT with an 80% completion rate by 
community pharmacies. Across England, NHS pharmacy leads, and the Academic Health Sciences 
Network are working with provider trusts to implement this service, though in Cornwall we have 
been delivering this important patient safety initiative for many years.

https://youtu.be/AMHTWacCmrY
https://youtu.be/JFciw47HWHc
https://youtu.be/0WsKAgku68A
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Providing care in our communities
We are changing the way we organise health 
and care in our communities, building on the 
work which took place during the COVID-19 
pandemic to create a system that is resilient 
and responsive to local needs, and that 
supports people to stay in their own homes as 
far as possible.

We have organised our community services 
into 3 ICAs across Cornwall: west, central and 
north and east.

Each of these is comprised of a number of 
PCNs, which are groups of practices working 
alongside other health and care providers, 
including the voluntary sector to improve the 
health and wellbeing of their population, 
usually around 30,000 to 60,000 people. 

The pandemic fast-tracked our ambitions for 
local care and support, with teams coming 
together from different providers to seek to 
deliver the best possible outcomes for people.

We now have central co-ordination functions 
in each ICA which receive all new requests 
for community health and care support, and 
which have oversight of the local demand and 
capacity. This includes following up on people’s 
progress when they have to go to hospital and 
making sure they return home quickly and 
safely.

Self-care and staying well

We want our people to enjoy good health, 
wherever they live, or whatever their 
circumstances.

To help us achieve this we have invested in 
a population health management approach. 
This means we are using data about health 
inequalities and the prevalence of certain 
conditions in different geographical areas to 
understand what we need to focus on.

We have also been working with our public 
health colleagues in embedding and delivering 
the Core20 Plus 5 methodology to help us to 
reduce health inequalities. This uses a common 
approach to support the most deprived 20% of 
the population according to a national index, 
with a further 5 population groups chosen 
using local population health data.

Within our ICAs we have set up networks of 
community health and care services, linked 
to the voluntary sector, which aim to keep 
people well at home. This includes access to 
nursing, therapy, mental health support, social 
prescribing, pharmacy, paramedics and urgent 
care practitioners. 
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We are also starting to build community hubs, which are physical spaces where voluntary and 
community workers can offer support services as well as signpost people to further sources of 
help and information. 

We anticipate becoming responsible for commissioning community pharmacy, optometry, and 
density services in 2023. We anticipate this will help bring together local providers around PCNs, 
to join up care for people and improve working relationships between different provider teams. 

Community health and care support

We provide services that aim to keep people well and safe at home.

GP practices
Provide a range of health services, including medical advice, long-term condition 
management, complex frailty, mental distress and illness, and end of life care, 
vaccinations, immunisations, examinations and treatment, prescriptions for 
medicines and referrals to other health and care services. 

Multi-disciplinary teams working
This is when groups of health, care and voluntary sector staff come together on a 
regular basis in a particular place, usually a GP practice or PCN, to discuss individuals 
with high care needs, to pool their knowledge and skills to achieve better outcomes 
for the person.

Social prescribing
Trained social prescribing link workers help people to access non-medical sources 
of support within the community and address wider issues affecting health and 
wellbeing, such as housing and benefits.

Individual budgets
We have increased access to individual budgets for people who have complex care 
needs and want to determine their own type of support.

Care home support
We have a clinical support team that provides virtual advice and support, as well 
as care home site visits for short-term help when needed. Every care home has a 
named GP as their primary point of contact and access to an advice line.

Medication support
We have a primary care medicines information and advice support service run 
by pharmacists within the medicines optimisation team. This is accessible to all 
healthcare professionals. We also support community pharmacy services, including 
an emergency supply service and minor ailments service offering advice and 
treatment for conditions including cystitis, conjunctivitis, and acute migraine.
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Short-term intervention

We are building services to reduce and avoid hospital admissions for people with an urgent 
health need. This includes: 

Same day emergency care
People are assessed, diagnosed, treated and then sent home the same day with 
ongoing clinical follow up as required.

Community assessment and treatment units (CATUs)
People are assessed and receive a diagnosis, a treatment plan and are either 
discharged or receive appropriate community-based treatment within 72 hours. 
Each CATU has an on-site x-ray, as well as support from elder care consultants 
and the complex care, dementia and palliative care teams. There is now a CATU in 
each ICA.

Minor injury units (MIUs)
Located in community hospitals and are run by highly skilled specialist clinicians 
who can treat a range of minor conditions.

Bed bureau
Triages all requests for bedded care that includes transfer from acute to 
community hospitals and any bedded care anywhere that is not in an acute 
hospital setting, for example nursing or residential homes.

Patient flow teams
Working with ward teams to help people get home or to transfer to another 
service; using local knowledge and community networks to find support to 
improve people’s independence; ensuring people get the right care in the right 
place at the right time.

Ageing Well urgent care
2-hour urgent crisis response provides advanced level assessment, treatment and 
support to people in their homes who are experiencing a health crisis. Ageing 
Well works with GPs, the ambulance service and NHS 111 to reduce hospital 
admissions and achieve better outcomes. Virtual wards: this is a safe and efficient 
alternative to NHS bedded care that is enabled by technology. Virtual wards 
support people who would otherwise be in hospital to receive the acute care, 
monitoring and treatment in their own home. This helps to prevent avoidable 
admissions into hospital and supports people who do need a hospital stay to 
return home more quickly.

Managing individual funding requests

We have a legal duty to consider requests for drugs and treatments which are not routinely 
commissioned by the NHS. During the past year we received 89 applications, 11 of which were 
received in March 2022 and will be considered at the April panel. Applications are considered in 
line with our individual funding request policy. 
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Providing personalised care 

This year we have focused on giving more 
people a voice by ensuring that personalised 
care is on everyone’s agenda.

There is a growing recognition of the 
importance of giving people more control of 
their health, and personalised care provision 
when they need it. During the pandemic, the 
personal care team developed new ways of 
supporting people who receive NHS continuing 
health care, or personal health budgets. 

We have established a personalisation delivery 
group with partners from across Cornwall to 
support them to embed personalised care 
within their services.

Our vision is for everyone in Cornwall living 
with an ongoing health condition or conditions 
to be empowered to better manage and live 
well with their conditions.

We are achieving this through a range of 
different measures.

Supported self-management

This is where health and care services 
encourage, support and empower people to 
manage their ongoing physical and mental 
health conditions themselves. The NHS long 
term plan talks about a shift in the relationship 
with the people we support, hence we need 
new skills for a new kind of relationship. 

Health coaching

This means helping people to gain and then 
use knowledge, skills and confidence to 
become active participants in their care so that 
they can reach their self-identified health and 
wellbeing goals. 
 

A health coaching role can be built into 
existing healthcare professional roles, for 
example existing staff are trained to use these 
techniques and tools within routine NHS 
consultations; or a dedicated health coach role, 
usually delivered in a primary or community 
care setting.

We are training people across health and 
social care in Cornwall in health coaching 
skills. We have also trained a specific team to 
deliver training to embed these skills within 
our workforce. Run over 2 days, this accredited 
training enables people to identify and really 
share what matters to them and to work in 
collaboration to improve their health and 
wellbeing. 

Despite the challenges of the pandemic, we 
have trained 240 people in these skills so far 
and will be delivering a rolling programme of 
training during 2022 and 2023. Email deborah.
onyons@nhs.net for more information about 
the training. 

Shared decision making

This is where a clinician supports a patient 
to reach a decision about their treatment, 
with the aim of the collaborative process to 
ensure that individuals are supported to make 
decisions that are right for them. 

The conversation brings together:

• the clinician’s expertise, such as treatment 
options, evidence, risks and benefits 

• what the patient knows best: their 
preferences, personal circumstances, goals, 
values and beliefs

We are working with partners to develop 
improved shared decision-making 
conversations within all health settings. 

mailto:deborah.onyons%40nhs.net?subject=Annual%20report%3A%20Health%20coaching
mailto:deborah.onyons%40nhs.net?subject=Annual%20report%3A%20Health%20coaching
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Magic cards

Through consultation with patients we know 
many people are not fully informed about 
their health care. At an appointment it can be 
hard to remember the questions you want to 
ask.

Shared decision making ensures that people 
are fully informed and enabled to make 
choices. The 5 questions on the Magic Card 
are designed to support people within health 
appointments. 

The card provides a simple yet powerful 
and inclusive tool that gives people who 
use our services the clear message that their 
questioning, curiosity and healthy challenge is 
both welcomed and expected. What matters 
to them should be asked and included in every 
aspect of their care.

We are also exploring the use of apps and 
digital technology to support this process. 

Supporting primary care

We know that dealing with persistent pain is 
a challenge: for the person with pain, their 
family or carers, their friends, work colleagues 
and employer – and certainly their clinicians. 

Relying solely on medication, with its range of 
side effects and long-term problems, just adds 
to these challenges. Persistent pain cannot be 
fixed or cured but there is still much that can 
be done.

To help to address this issue, we have begun 
training colleagues within primary care in how 
to deliver personalised care and also training 
them in health coaching skills. 

10 footsteps for pain management

We are using a personalised care approach for 
pain management to help colleagues across 
primary care to support people with complex 
pain. 

Self-management is essentially about helping 
people to work on different areas of their lives 
to help better manage their pain. Research 
shows that people who have developed self-
management skills not only cope better with 
their pain and lead fuller, more satisfying lives. 
They tend also to be more effective in their 
use of health care services.

We are working with clinicians to help them 
to understand more about persistent pain and 
develop ways to work with their patients to 
help them shift their mindset from fix it for me 
to help me make the best of my life.

https://www.cornwallft.nhs.uk/download.cfm?doc=docm93jijm4n19248.pdf&ver=51327
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This involves training people across all the PCNs in Cornwall to: 

• have personalised care conversations about what matters to them in relation to their pain in 
both 1:1 and group sessions

• see the person as resourceful and able to build on their knowledge and skills in relation to 
pain management

• prepare for shared decision-making conversations in relation to pain management
• develop personalised care and support plans with the patient’s health and wellbeing goals 

being at the heart of the plan

We will also be training community pharmacists in the 10 footsteps approach to enable better 
support for people, the focus being on skills not pills.

Responding to people’s needs 

Discharge support grants

We have worked with Disability Cornwall to develop the discharge support grant to help people 
who are ready to leave hospital but might need a little extra help when they get back home. 
Grants can be used for a range of support including providing adaptations to a person’s home, 
paying a carer, and travel costs from hospital to home. So far, 162 people have been supported 
by such grants since April 2021.
 
Doing things differently 

We are very proud of the way in which our staff have responded to people’s individual needs 
during the pandemic, adapting care plans where necessary, and making sure people’s individual 
budgets met the costs of the new arrangements. Our personal health budgets (PHB) team has 
played a vital role in ensuring that people in receipt of a PHB were supported with their care 
delivery and had adequate PPE equipment, and were able to recruit trained personal assistants 
to support them. 

The constantly evolving rules and guidance for care delivery meant ensuring that people 
employing their own teams were kept fully informed. It was very rewarding to see a member of 
our team become a Queen’s Nurse based on the personalised care she had delivered to a large 
number of people with a PHB.

Sharon Evans (right) receiving her Queen’s Nurse award
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A PHB is an amount of money to support a person's identified health and wellbeing needs, 
planned and agreed between the person and their local NHS team.

It can be received in 3 ways:

1. Direct payment: an allocated budget to purchase and manage services themselves, including 
third party organisations.

2. Notional budget: People are aware of their treatment options within an agreed budget 
amount but the NHS manages the budget and undertakes all contracting on behalf of the 
person.

3. Third party: A person’s allocated budget is held by a third party on their behalf. They help 
people choose services, within the budget, based on their agreed health and wellbeing 
outcomes.

Become a rooster: creating 1,500 personalisation ambassadors

We know that personalised care improves people’s health and wellbeing and places the person 
at the heart of their care.

To help us to spread this important message more widely we have recruited a team of 
personalised care ambassadors to collect 1,000 stories showing how personalisation has 
improved people’s health and wellbeing. These include members of the NHS England’s 
south west regional team and we are also launching a train the trainer model to expand the 
ambassadors into Devon.

We are also developing opportunities to recognise personalised care heroes. We will be working 
in partnership with local radio stations to highlight great examples of personalised care. We will 
ask the people we are here to support to tell us when and what type of care they have received 
which they felt put them at the heart of its delivery.

Email deborah.onyons@nhs.net if you would like to get involved. 

Collecting 
1,000 stories

mailto:deborah.onyons%40nhs.net?subject=Annual%20report%3A%20Health%20coaching
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Urgent and emergency care

Integrated urgent care (111 
and out of hours)

The service has proven itself very successful 
in offering clinical advice to patients who call 
111, which has included making the best use of 
video technology where this is helpful.

Patients either have their health need resolved 
on the phone through the self-care advice 
offered, via a visit to a pharmacist or the 
issuing a prescription. If they need to actually 
be seen during working hours, clinicians 
can guide them to minor injury units, help 
them get booked into their own GP, or an 
urgent treatment centre, or to the emergency 
department. Outside of these hours, overnight 
or weekends, patients can either receive a 
clinical call back, be seen at a treatment centre 
or at home.

The service also provides advice lines for 
end of life care, care homes and healthcare 
professionals, working very closely with 
services who support care home placements. 

Calls have continued to be higher than 
previous non-COVID years during the first 
half of the year, but numbers of calls coming 
through now are returning to pre pandemic 
levels. The local helpline support system still 
encourages people to call 111 first or use 111 
online before presenting for care in person.

SWASFT 999 

The ambulance service is an important part 
of the urgent and emergency services and 
has played a crucial part of the planning 
and preparation in the early phases of the 
pandemic.

Demand on the ambulance service has 
remained high, especially high during the 
peak summer and winter months when visitor 
numbers, combined with easing of COVID-19 
restrictions, placed additional demands on the 
service.

A number of new pathways have been 
introduced to help tackle the pressure on the 
service. These include development of the 
community based 2-hour urgent care response 
for people at home who need support but 
would benefit from having an assessment at 
home first, rather than being taken to hospital.

Whilst calls had returned to normal levels 
by the autumn, there has continued to be 
sustained pressures on the ambulance service. 
This was largely as a result of increased 
handover delays caused by the additional 
checks required by COVID-19, together with 
social distancing rules and hospital capacity. 
Significant numbers of patients are still in 
acute and community hospital inpatient care 
and awaiting care at home or a care home 
placement.

This situation continues within the local 
system, with pressures on handover delays 
increasing. Hospital services are working with 
the wider system to reduce delays wherever 
possible.

There has also been significant investment in 
the ambulance service, with additional staff 
and vehicle fleet. 
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We are working with a number of private 
ambulance providers to release extra resources 
and capacity back to SWASFT by providing 
a response to health care professional calls 
and inter facility transfers where the patient 
needs a response within 1 to 4 hours. This frees 
SWASFT to attend to higher category calls 
during this pressurised period.

Additional support for people who have 
fallen has also been put into place, including a 
response model, and work in the community 
around roll out of more defibrillators and 
special lifting devices to make lifting the 
uninjured faller easier and safer. 

Our ambulance teams helped to develop Think 
111, and worked with the voluntary sector to 
provide extra support for people with complex 
needs who call ambulances more often than 
usual. This has led to the commissioning of a 
new service for people who access emergency 
healthcare more than usual. This service, which 
will be in place for up to 5 years, uses a health 
coaching approach to ensure that people who 
call 999 or 111 very frequently, receive all the 
support they need.

Another exciting piece of work includes 
shaping the future model of care for the 
Isles of Scilly, ensuring we have the right 
arrangements to transfer people needing 
medical care safely off the islands. This 
includes making the very best use of digital 
technology.

Stroke mortality

Since 2017, a significant amount of work has 
taken place to reduce the numbers of deaths 
as a result of a stroke. 

Stroke prevention

Transient ischaemic attack service

The transient ischaemic attack (TIA) service 
has been centralised and re-designed into 
1 location, allowing the team to deliver the 
national clinical guidance for stoke care. 

Plans for a new pathway from the emergency 
department to the Phoenix stroke ward, 
developed to help reduce double attendance, 
have been tested but with the existing 
COVID-19 pressures remaining within the 
hospital, the results of the trial are not yet 
conclusive. 

TIA clinics have continued throughout the 
pandemic, with a mixture of telephone, video 
and face to face consultations. The majority 
of appointments are now in person, and 
the service is meeting its key performance 
indicators in seeing patients within 24 hours of 
symptoms. 

Anyone who needed diagnostic care received 
it, and this was followed up, as required, in the 
community. 
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Cardiovascular disease 

Research from the getting it right first time 
team suggests the number of people in the 
south west going to hospital with atrial 
fibrillation (AF) symptoms will more than 
double by 2050, with Public Health England 
indicating that stroke remains the third highest 
cause of death. 

Identifying and treating people with AF 
with anti-coagulation medication remains 
a high priority for primary care, and a new 
cardiovascular disease oversight group has 
been set up to drive this work forward. 

While the number of AF strokes is not 
decreasing, a significant increase in the 
prescription of anti-coagulation medication 
shows a trend of stabilising. This is likely to 
be as a result of the increased use of these 
medications. 

An audit has identified that a number of 
people had a stroke were also in AF. This 
work will now be shared with PCNs to agree a 
system response and service provision plan.

Acute care 

There have been significant improvements 
following the implementation of the business 
case for a stroke unit at RCHT. 

The Phoenix ward has been reconfigured, 
reducing the number of medical outliers and 
the implementation of the additional hyper 
acute stroke unit level care beds. A new 
additional consultant has also provided some 
much-needed extra clinical resourcing to the 
team.

The extra pressures placed on the hospital 
does mean that the stroke specific indicators 
have been under considerable pressure during 
the past year. 

Other developments include participation in 
the integrated service delivery networks for 
stroke for the south west. This has led to RCHT 
taking part in the roll out of Brainomix, an 
artificial intelligence (AI) solution for acute 
stroke care. 

Brainomix is a set of image interpretation tools 
which provides clinical decision support for 
specialist brain needs. It supports the rapid 
centralised interpretation of imaging and 
selection of patients for stroke reperfusion and 
is particularly useful to support primary stroke 
centres without 24/7 availability of stroke 
and neuro-radiology expertise. This AI-based 
decision support system will lead to increased 
and faster uptake of appropriate stroke 
treatments, and more efficient referral and 
secondary transfers of thrombectomy cases. 

We want to ensure the maximum number 
of clinically appropriate patients receives 
thrombectomy, and having access to the latest 
imaging technology, will be another way of 
meeting this ambition. 

Recovery

Work has been taking place to look at the 
role of therapy in the patient rehabilitation 
pathway, both in the acute setting as well as 
in early supported discharge and community-
based therapy teams.

A business case has recently been approved 
which provides further investment into the 
use of rehabilitation to make sure all eligible 
patients receive early supported discharge and 
that the waiting time for community-based 
therapy for ongoing care is reduced.

Despite the additional challenges created by 
COVID-19, significant improvements have been 
made in stroke care during the past 12 months. 
The number of stroke deaths have fallen since 
April 2019, although further work is needed.



2021 to 2022 annual report  | 41

Improving planned care
Timely and effective planned care can help 
reduce the demand for urgent and emergency 
care, as well as reducing the length of hospital 
stays. We cannot always predict unplanned 
care crises, but we are working closely with all 
of our partners to support people so that any 
unplanned care can be provided at home or as 
close to home as possible, or in a care home or 
community hospital. 

Improving planned care means improving 
education and early diagnosis, and developing 
time-sensitive, defined pathways that offer 
effective intervention and minimise or prevent 
complications.

It is also about developing a prevention 
and self-care approach. We want people to 
think about their own health and well-being 
and how they can try to prevent problems 
happening in the first place. 

System wide waiting lists

The pandemic created an opportunity for 
our health and care system to move swiftly 
towards a single waiting list, achieving a single 
patient tracking list and equitable waits for 
Cornwall and Isles of Scilly patients.

A referral assessment service model has been 
implemented, which allows providers to pull 
patients from a single waiting list, rather than 
the current clunky process which involves 
consenting patients, retrospectively screening 
for exclusions, and administratively completing 
inter provider transfers. 

Processes are now in place for both Probus 
Surgical Centre and Ramsay Healthcare Duchy 
Hospital to vet patients directly from the 
service, making appropriate referrals in a 
timely way across a range of pathways, with 
further improvements in process and delivery 
to follow. 

Tele dermatology 

We have commissioned a photo storage and 
forward software service from Consultant 
Connect to ensure that dermatology pathways 
requiring images as part of referral criteria can 
be supported. 

We have also worked with the peninsula 
cancer alliance to secure dermatoscopes for 
all GP practices during 2021. Our plan is to 
work with our GPs and the peninsula cancer 
alliance to increase usage of both the software 
and scopes in 2022 to fully support an earlier 
diagnosis and intervention for patients.

Video consultations

The use of video consultations has been a 
massive part of the COVID-19 response across 
the country and within Cornwall and the Isles 
of Scilly.

We are continuing to expand this further and 
set up a single video platform solution for the 
county to cover all planned care by secondary 
care providers. We secured additional funding 
which will secure a common platform video 
consultation capability and enable the 
proven benefits to continue to be delivered 
and grow through increased adoption and 
transformation.

Digital inclusion hubs

As part of our outpatient transformation work, 
we began developing digital inclusion hubs 
which can be used by people who otherwise 
would not be able to take part in virtual and 
non-face to face consultations as part of their 
treatment plan. 
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The first involved a broadband provider 
collaborating with a range of partners and 
agencies, including the NHS, to provide access 
to equipment and broadband in a village hall; 
the company giving something important back 
to the communities it is connecting. 

The second is a collaboration with 
Communities 4 Change, which is providing 
access to a connected PC in a number of its 
offices. 

Both providers are offering access to the hubs 
to facilitate potential video consultation for 
patients in those areas in order to test the 
concept and model.

Cardiology

RCHT has been the main provider of 
interventional angiography in Cornwall and 
Isles of Scilly, with patients living in the east of 
the county, traditionally choosing UHP for their 
treatment.

There have been high volumes of waiting 
lists for interventional angiography and a 
consequence of this has been an increased risk 
of harm to patients enduring extended waiting 
times for procedures. To help address this 
growing concern, we have been investigating 
and implementing alternative solutions to this 
particular pathway. 

Since January 2022, the Duchy Hospital has 
been commissioned to provide elective care 
for people with stable symptoms capacity 
with RCHT consultant cardiologists who hold 
practicing privileges at the Duchy Hospital. 

Our plans are to commission this pathway on a 
permanent basis.

Long COVID-19 pathways

Post COVID-19 assessment services are now 
available across Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly. 

Referrals from GPs, occupational health and 
other services, are triaged using a screening 
questionnaire completed by the patient and 
a remote assessment is then completed by 
the GP lead for the service. This service has 
received 424 referrals since it was launched in 
February 2021. 

Patients are supported following their initial 
appointment within the multi-disciplinary 
team and where needed, can be referred on to 
acute or community services for rehabilitation. 
A high proportion of people are also 
discharged with self-management advice. 

424 referrals 
since February 2021

Referral Management Service

The Referral Management Service (RMS) 
has transformed the service it provides to 
GP practices and to patients. Following the 
changes to outpatient services, the RMS has 
adapted and taken on a variety of additional 
roles to help support the system. 

The team is supporting RCHT’s patient hotline 
and orders COVID-19 swabs for the trust’s 
patients who are being seen in ophthalmology.

The clinical team has been busy reviewing and 
amending all the published referral guidelines, 
as well as auditing outputs of the outpatient 
transformation programme.
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Community diagnostic centres

Community diagnostic centres have been set up in Cornwall and the Isles of Silly to deliver 
additional, digitally connected, diagnostic capacity. This will provide patients with a co-ordinated 
set of diagnostic tests in as few visits as possible, which enables an accurate and fast diagnosis. 

In delivering this vision, hubs will:

• enable patient access to diagnostic services locations that are convenient and appropriate to 
the needs of our population

• co-locate a greater number of diagnostics which support elective and non-elective services 
outside the acute hospital setting thus reducing pressure on the acute sites

• increase the current capacity to meet current and future needs
• provide efficient and effective services which avoid duplication and optimise the number of 

patient visits to care settings
• ensure equity of access and help to address health inequalities
• develop and sustain highly qualified and motivated staff, this includes through links with local 

academic organisations and developing a model which is both flexible and pragmatic about 
changing population demands

• enable redeployment of clinical staff, including consultants, to deliver one stop clinics
• positively contributing to improved referral to treatment times
• ultimately supports improvements in earlier diagnosis and patient outcomes

Our aim is to have the centres located away from the acute hospital sites, ideally co-located 
with current urgent care provision to ensure that we maximise our workforce and equipment 
availability. 

These centres will also support our strategy to increase the numbers of ‘cold green’ elective sites 
away from the ‘hot red’ acute hospital sites, so that they can continue to operate unaffected by 
urgent and emergency pressures.

The first phase of our plans in 2021 and 2022 focused on the Bodmin health campus due to its 
strategic and operational location. 

2022 and 2023 will see the completion of the installation of a CT, X-ray, and a 3-phase pad 
that will enable a range of mobile testing and screening facilities which could include MRI, 
chemotherapy, and breast screening.
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Supporting people’s mental health and 
wellbeing 
Mental health affects us all. Directly, through 
our families, or through friends, colleagues 
and employers. Many mental health issues will 
be preventable, and almost all are treatable, 
so people can fully recover or manage their 
conditions successfully and live as healthy, 
happy and productive lives as possible. 
Supporting people to manage their mental 
health is 1 of our top priorities. 

Almost 140,000 people (1 in 4 of our 
population) experience at least 1 diagnosable 
mental health problem in any given year.

Research shows that people with enduring 
mental health issues and people with learning 
disabilities have poorer physical health than 
the rest of the population. Around 40% of 
people with depression and anxiety disorders 
also have a long-term physical health condition 
and often receive their mental and physical 
healthcare uncoordinated in separate services. 

We want to help people to enjoy the best 
possible emotional and mental health and 
wellbeing throughout their life. We have been 
working hard to improve the quality, range 
and accessibility of services to support people 
to manage their condition and avoid reaching 
a crisis.

In 2020 we published our mental health 
strategy Futures in Mind which sits alongside 
the mental health strategy for children and 
young people. This supports both national 
policy and the NHS long term plan for mental 
health. 

The past 2 years have been an incredible 
challenge for people mentally, with some who 
have never experienced a mental health issue 
before, struggling to cope.

In 2017 around 5% of people in Cornwall 
stated they had probable depression and/or 
anxiety. This increased to 13% in 2020 and 15% 
in 2021.

1 in 4 people experience a 
mental health problem

During the same period, the proportion of 
people with possible depression and/or anxiety 
rose from 22% in 2017 to 44% in 2020, and to 
57% in 2021.

To help manage this demand and support 
those who are struggling, we have been 
working even harder than ever to deliver the 
changes we have committed to in our strategy, 
developing high quality services which are 
delivering real improvements for the people 
using them. 

This has led to greater partnership working 
between services and the development of 
more preventative care and support, which 
is delivered closer to people’s homes. Some 
of the skills to support those with emotional 
and mental health issues do not always sit in 
specialist services but within our communities. 
We are providing better and clearer 
signposting to these services, empowering 
people to have greater choice and control over 
the way their health and care is delivered. 

This has included expanding social 
prescribing and PHBs, to allow better 
access to complimentary therapies, creative 
opportunities, intensive psychotherapy, and 
hydrotherapy.

We’re providing
better and clearer 

signposting to services

https://doclibrary-kccg.cornwall.nhs.uk/DocumentsLibrary/KernowCCG/OurServices/StrategicReportsAndPlans/MentalHealthStrategy.pdf
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Specific achievements
 

Successfully securing £1.6 million additional funding to support transformation 
and innovation in mental health services across Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly.

Setting up a robust multi-agency board to oversee the delivery of the local 
mental health strategy.

Providing a 24-hour helpline for all people living in Cornwall and the 
Isles of Scilly, with links to 24/7 crisis support and a range of alternative 
complimentary support from the voluntary sector. Working with partners 
to provide additional services in the community. These include providing 
additional community-based support to prevent people with dementia being 
admitted to hospital in the first place or being discharged as early as possible; 
supporting the community outreach service and bolstering the existing mental 
health and suicide prevention programmes by providing face to face support 
signposting and navigation and targeted communication and engagement. 

Using technology to ensure that patients have been able to continue to access 
their appointments virtually using specialist software during the pandemic.

Expanding SilverCloud, the online platform for mental health, to provide 
cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) support for patients, workforce and their 
carers, including social care staff working in residential care settings.

Working with public health to deliver a voluntary sector survey around mental 
health.

Developing a wide range of web-based support and guidance tools which 
provide links and specific support for mental health and wellbeing, with 
bespoke guides for different groups and conditions.

Developing easy read messaging for people with learning disabilities and their 
carers.

Developing links with teams working with people with drug and alcohol 
issues, complex care needs, the homeless and people suffering from domestic 
violence and sexual abuse.

Publishing bespoke mental health guides for different sectors of the 
population.
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Suicide prevention 

We recognise the impact of suicide has 
a devastating impact on people. We are 
committed to supporting people to manage 
their mental health, reducing the numbers of 
people who take their life, and improving care 
for people who self-harm.

We have worked with public health to set 
up a specialist suicide prevention innovation 
programme to creatively engage and support 
smaller and harder to reach communities to 
promote mental health and wellbeing.

Launched in 2021, our suicide prevention 
innovation fund invited community-based 
organisations to bid for funding to support 
projects designed to prevent to help reduce 
the numbers of people self-harming or taking 
their own lives in Cornwall and the Isles of 
Scilly. During the first year particular emphasis 
has been given to projects which focused upon 
reducing suicide by middle aged men and 
those with mental illnesses, and to those which 
reduce self-harm within communities.

13 projects received funding during 2021, 
including the SeaFit and FarmFit projects, 
which provided outreach, face to face, 1-2-
1, phone or video support to fishing and 
farming communities. Designed to build and 
strengthen collaborative working relationships 
within these communities, the projects 
involved sharing information at the quayside 
or farmers markets, and online to educate 
and raise awareness of mental health and 
wellbeing issues to ensure that people involved 
in the industries know where to access the 
right support at the right time.

Other projects supported by the fund include:

• Dads’ Support, providing bespoke packs for 
bereaved dads provided by Penhaligon’s 
Friends 

• Men Outside, a series of outdoor activities 
aimed at reaching and supporting men 
who have attempted suicide, are living 
with suicidal thoughts and experiencing 
depression

• Towards Zero with young fathers which 
offered workshops offering strategies for 
reducing self-harming behaviours 

• Make It Better, a series of projects in 
different areas of the county introducing 
vulnerable people to smartphone 
photography and helping them to make new 
friends and learn new skills

 
The programme will be running again during 
2022, with funding in place to support even 
more projects. 

We have also provided suicide prevention 
training for GPs and improved the real time 
sharing of information and data with the 
police and other key partners to support 
targeted suicide prevention actions.

Future plans 

We are analysing our existing mental health provision to ensure that our transformation plans 
are fit for purpose and also better understand areas for improvement.

We are also working with partners to improve annual health checks for people with mental 
health issues. This includes working with specialist local and national teams to establish a revised 
approach to physical health checks for those with a learning disability and autism, including the 
need for reasonable adjustments to be made by the emergency dental service for those needing 
treatment. 

13 projects 
received funding 

during 2021
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Using nature to support mental health and wellbeing

We have been building on our work with Cornwall Wildlife Trust to open up dedicated open 
spaces to help support people’s mental health and wellbeing. 

Research by the Mental Health Foundation and its partners shows that going for walks outside 
was one of the top coping strategies for people during the pandemic, with around 45% of 
people reporting that being in green spaces had been vital for their mental health. 

These findings were supported by Cornwall Wildlife Trust’s Nature in Lockdown survey with 96% 
of those responding agreeing or strongly agreeing that nature had been important for relieving 
stress and for their mental wellbeing and a survey on accessing mental health support carried 
out last year by Healthwatch Cornwall with residents naming walks, air, sea and exercise’ among 
their stress-busting allies. 

During last year’s Mental Health Awareness Week in May, we worked with public health CFT, 
and local agencies and charities to encourage people to reconnect with nature.

“Nature is a powerful tool for boosting our mental wellbeing. Even 
small contacts with the natural world, whether it’s a walk on the beach 
or simply listening to birds singing in your garden, can reduce feelings 
of social isolation and be effective in protecting mental health and 
preventing distress.“
Dr Richard Sharpe, advanced public health practitioner and lead for 
mental health services at Cornwall Council

http://www.cornwallwildlifetrust.org.uk/looking-after-yourself-and-nature-during-latest-lockdown
https://www.healthwatchcornwall.co.uk/
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Improving end of life care
People reaching the end of their lives have the right to receive safe, high-quality care which 
meets their needs. We are committed to ensuring that we prepare and support people at the 
end of their lives, and their families so they can have a good and dignified death. 

We work with partners, including representatives from the care home and care at home market, 
the integrated urgent care service, hospices, Macmillan, Marie Curie, and Healthwatch Cornwall, 
to improve end of life care.

During the past 12 months we have introduced a number of positive changes to the service.

Providing patients with the direct number for the out of hours palliative care line.

Allocating palliative patients a specific end of life case tag which ensures people can 
be easily identified and supported when the call comes through either the out of 
hours palliative care line directly or via 111, enabling it to be picked up quickly.

Providing district nurses with access to the health care professionals line to come 
through to the integrated urgent care system. This means any queries they may 
have will be dealt with quicker as health care professionals calls also have specific 
case tags making them easily identifiable.

Offering the ability to prescribe electronically, making it easier to send prescriptions 
to designated pharmacists for the family to collect from.

Making the syringe driver prescription sheet available electronically, enabling the 
clinician to print, sign and email it to the district nurses where appropriate.

“Thank you so much from the bottom of my heart for helping sort out my dad. He 
was much more comfortable after Dr M altered his driver and peacefully passed 

away at home a few days afterwards. Please pass on my thanks to all of the out of 
hours team including the call handlers who were excellent without exception.”

Recent feedback received from the daughter of a palliative patient
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Improving quality 
The public have a right to feel safe and to have confidence in all our services. 

The quality of health and care matters because we should all expect care that is consistently 
safe, effective, and personalised to you. 

Developed by the National Quality Board “A shared commitment to quality for those working 
in health and care systems” outlines a shared single view of quality that is high-quality, 
personalised and equitable care for all, now and into the future. 

In practice this means that people working in systems deliver care that is:

Positive 
experience

• Caring: staff involve and treat you with compassion, dignity, and 
respect. 

• Responsive and person-centred: services respond to people’s needs 
and choices and enable them to be equal partners in their care. 

Effectiveness People’s care and treatment achieves good outcomes, promotes a good 
quality of life, and is based on the best available evidence.

Safety People are protected from avoidable harm and abuse. When mistakes 
occur lessons will be learned.

Use resources 
sustainably 

We will work in partnership with ICS partners to ensure resources 
are used responsibly and efficiently, providing equitable access to all, 
according to need, and promote an open and fair culture.

Well led
Both commissioner and provider services are open and collaborate 
internally and externally and are committed to learning and 
improvement.

Equitable for 
all

The CCG and providers will work together to ensure inequalities in 
health outcomes are a focus for quality improvement, making sure 
care quality does not vary due to characteristics such as gender, race, 
disability, age, sexual orientation, religion, belief, gender reassignment, 
pregnancy and maternity or marital or civil partnership status.
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Setting out 
priorities

Bringing clarity 
to quality

Measuring 
and publishing 

quality

Recognising 
and rewarding 

quality

Safeguarding 
quality

Building 
capability

Staying  
ahead

1
2

3
4

5

6
7

Our quality framework continues to provide oversight of the services you receive, ensuring they 
are delivered in a way that is well-led, sustainable and addresses inequalities. This means that it 
enables equality of access, experiences and outcomes across health and care services. 

We have strengthened our 7 steps to improve quality this year by building a larger and stronger 
team. 

We have welcomed a new head of clinical quality, head of patient safety and head of nursing to 
build on our clinical leadership. 

We have also welcomed a new designated GP for safeguarding adults, safeguarding adult lead, 
designated nurse for safeguarding children. 

Our new quality managers and general practice nurse leads are aligned to ICAs as well as 
providing clinical expertise to monitor safety, experience, and effectiveness. 

Safety 

We have continued to work together to deliver the national patient safety strategy. We 
have recruited a head of patient safety and patient safety specialist to comply with this key 
component of the strategy and provide patient safety leadership.

Our provider early adopters CFT and RCHT have successfully transitioned from the serious 
incident framework to the adoption of patient safety incident response framework. Members 
of our Governing Body have received patient safety training, which will be embedded across our 
organisation. 
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We are providing leadership across the whole 
system by chairing and participating in the 
Cornwall systems patient safety forum; where 
learning from patient safety incidents is 
shared and support for multi-agency safety 
investigation is provided.

There is now a joint Devon and Cornwall 
patient safety specialists meeting which 
enables shared learning from patients’ safety 
incidents and discussion regarding new ways 
of working whilst embedding aspects of the 
patient safety strategy.

We are working towards the recruitment of 
patient safety partners to join our system 
quality and governance meetings and 
anticipate that these roles will be in place by 
July 2022.

Care homes

During the past year our quality managers 
were redeployed to support the council’s 
quality and public health outbreak team 
alongside the virtual ward home care support 
team. This has created a more collaborative 
quality approach with care homes that will be 
improved in the coming year.

We have provided enhanced support to 
care homes where quality and safeguarding 
challenges and concerns have been raised.

Our staff have also contributed significantly to 
the work of NHS Kernow and Cornwall Council 
in seeking assurance that people who live in 
care homes receive safe care. This has included 
undertaking site visits to care homes and 
provide advice, information and guidance.

Infection control 
team carried out 
more than 1,100 

telephone contacts 
and 130 site visits 

Infection control 

Our infection prevention and control (IPC) 
team continues to work with partners in the 
local trusts, local authority, and UK Health 
Security Agency to support health and care 
services with the experience and impact of 
outbreaks. 

More than 1,100 telephone contacts, 130 site 
visits, and an education programme have 
contributed to the local wrap around approach 
to care sector outbreak support alongside 
colleagues in adult social care, public health 
and the care home virtual ward team.

Our aim to reduce avoidable health care 
associated infections is maintained alongside 
our work with outbreaks. The dedicated 
care home and primary care IPC team has 
completed its first full year in post and 
delivered an annual programme to set the 
foundation for future progress. 

Care homes have all been provided with a full 
set of infection prevention policies to work 
from and an IPC champions programme has 
been launched to retain and develop the care 
home staff who played key roles in outbreak 
recovery and resilience in their own settings. 

In primary care an education programme has 
been developed to provide a locally informed 
annual update offer for all practice staff. A 
site visit offer to support practice IPC audits is 
in the early stages and will be extended in the 
forthcoming year.

We are participating in a regional collaborative 
project targeting clostridium difficile infection. 
Local case investigations have been translated 
into learning resources for professionals 
across the system to use in reflection and 
development. 

These infections are often associated with 
recent or repetitive use of antibiotics, and 
we have improved our links this year with 
antibiotic pharmacists in our PCNs to continue 
to raise the profile of focussed prescribing.
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Gram negative bloodstream infections (GNBSI) 
have increased globally over the last twenty 
years and a significant proportion of these 
can be associated with older people needing 
more healthcare. Our team has developed 
an in-depth investigation method this year 
for a sample of cases each month and, as 
with Clostridium difficile, we have developed 
learning resources from the findings. 

Some of this learning will be contributing to 
the update of the local catheter passport as we 
know that many GNBSI are related to urinary 
tract infections.

Developing the specialist capability of local 
IPC teams is a priority and working with 
the hospital IPC team we have begun a 
development initiative involving rotation of 
IPC staff to ensure a system wide breadth of 
knowledge and experience. 

People’s experience of care

One of our new quality managers has led 
the creation of a new system wide patient 
experience forum. Still in its early stages, the 
forum enables people to come together to 
share feedback, share different experiences 
of care and using a quality improvement 
approach, improve people’s experience of care 
in the future.

During the autumn the work of the local 
maternity and neonatal system (LMNS) was 
re-started following a pause due to the 
pandemic. 

Kernow Maternity Voices Partnership (KMVP) 
is an independent forum for women, birthing 
people and families to share their experiences 
with maternity services in Cornwall and the 
Isles of Scilly, enabling them to get involved in 
the design, improvement, and implementation 
of those services. 

KMVP is a critical partner to the LMNS and acts 
as a critical friend, offers positive challenge 
and has a system wide view of the ever-
changing safety landscape to highlight any 
concerns early. 

KMVP published a new report on people’s 
maternity journey in Cornwall which told 
us about the maternity experiences of 760 
birthing people and their families between 
2018 and 2020. 

Complaints 

During 2021 to 2022 we received 29 complaints, which were dealt with in accordance with our 
complaints policy. 

4 complainants referred their concerns to the Parliamentary Health Service Ombudsman for 
further investigation. 3 have been closed following initial enquiries by the ombudsman, 1 is still 
at the assessment stage and there is 1 case still open with the ombudsman from last year. 

No final reports were issued to NHS Kernow by the ombudsman in the reporting year

https://www.healthwatchcornwall.co.uk/report/2021-09-03/maternity-journey-feedback-report
https://www.healthwatchcornwall.co.uk/report/2021-09-03/maternity-journey-feedback-report
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Care Quality Commission inspections

The CQC gives 4 ratings to health and social care services:

Outstanding
The service is performing exceptionally well.

Good
The service is performing well and meeting our expectations.

Requires improvement
The service is not performing as well as it should and we have told the service how it 
must improve.

Inadequate
The service is performing badly and we’ve taken action against the person or the 
organisation that runs it.

Royal Cornwall Hospital Trust 

The current CQC rating for RCHT is  requires improvement. The latest published report is dated 
26 February 2020.

Domain Outcome
Safe  Requires improvement
Effective  Good
Caring  Good
Responsive  Requires improvement
Well-led  Good

Cornwall Partnership NHS Partnership Trust 

The current CQC rating for CFT is  good. The latest published report is dated November 2019.

Domain Outcome
Safe  Requires improvement
Effective  Good
Caring  Outstanding
Responsive  Good
Well-led  Good
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University Hospitals Plymouth NHS Trust 

The current CQC rating for UHP is  requires improvement. The latest published report is dated 
26 February 2020.

Domain Outcome
Safe  Requires improvement
Effective  Good
Caring  Outstanding
Responsive  Requires improvement
Well-led  Good

North Devon District Hospital 

The current CQC rating for North Devon District Hospital is  requires improvement. The latest 
published report is dated July 2021.

Domain Outcome
Safe  Requires improvement
Effective  Good
Caring  Outstanding
Responsive  Good
Well-led  Requires improvement

Effectiveness

Often referred to as clinical effectiveness, this is about improving the total experience of 
healthcare, and is an essential part of improving and assuring quality. 

Learning from lives and deaths of people with learning disabilities and autism (LeDeR) works to:

• improve care for people with a learning disability and autistic people
• reduce health inequalities for people with a learning disability and autistic people
• prevent people with a learning disability and autistic people from early deaths

As we continue to review deaths and share learning, this year has seen the successful role out 
of Restore 2 (recognise early soft signs, take observations, respond and escalate) training to all 
learning disabilities care providers as well as families and carers. 

Restore 2

100% of staff surveyed said that the training had 
helped them to achieve earlier escalation of concern 
and earlier intervention for people in their care.

100% of staff 
said the training 
had helped them
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Safeguarding 

Everyone has the right to live their lives free from abuse and neglect. Some people, because of 
their circumstances, may not be able to exercise this right and are unable to protect themselves 
from abuse and neglect. We are committed to ensuring that people who are experiencing, 
have experienced, or are at risk of abuse or neglect will receive compassionate and effective 
responses from all NHS services working with people living in Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly.

We support a think family approach as it recognises that anyone may suffer abuse or neglect 
at some time in their life and be at risk of poor outcomes. It also recognises that neither adults 
nor children exist in isolation. People identified for protected characteristics or people who 
experience health inequalities may be at greater risk from abuse and exploitation. 

Our key aims for safeguarding are to:

• to advance equality of opportunity for those who share a protected characteristic or 
experience health inequalities

• protect the rights of children, adults and young people to live free from abuse, neglect and 
exploitation in a way that supports them, wherever possible, to make choices and have control 
about how they want to live

We are accountable for a range of statutory safeguarding functions. This means we are required 
by law to carry out certain duties. 

Our responsibilities include the following areas of safeguarding:

Child protection and child 
safeguarding

Domestic abuse and sexual violence

All forms of exploitation; including 
modern slavery 

Female genital mutilation 

Hate crime Looked after children and care leavers 

Prevent 
Safeguarding adults with care and 

support needs 

Serious violence duties Sexual violence 

It also includes how we work with people older than 16 who are unable or make decisions about 
their life. The law that we follow for these people is called the Mental Capacity Act 2015. 
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Safeguarding and the pandemic 

We have worked flexibly and extended the 
scope of our work during the pandemic. We 
did this to support patient safety, quality and 
experience and with the aim of preventing 
harm. This included supporting our trusts’ 
integrated safeguarding team by responding 
to safeguarding enquiries from trust staff. 
We have also supported the work of teams 
who identify placements where people can be 
discharged to once they no longer need to be 
in hospital.

We continue to support colleagues working 
in general practice. This year has seen regular 
training and update sessions for GPs and a 
safeguarding channel set up to provide GPs 
with a forum to ask questions and to access 
resources. 

We carried out a survey of the safeguarding 
arrangements within general practice and 
found that our practices scored well in the 
areas of safe recruitment, safeguarding 
leadership and for safeguarding and 
promoting the wellbeing of adults at risk. 

A particular highlight was that 84% of 
practices surveyed have multi-disciplinary 
safeguarding meetings for children and adults. 
This also demonstrates that general practice 
remains highly engaged with safeguarding 
children and adults. 

One of the ways that we monitor the 
performance of our trusts is through setting 
standards in our contracts and monitoring 
how those standards are being met. These 
standards are set out in the NHS Kernow 
safeguarding assurance scorecard. 

The scorecard is a cloud-based quality 
assurance system which contains our 
safeguarding standards. The tool provides a 
mechanism for the provider to self-assesses 
performance against each standard and enter 
information about how standards are being 
met on the scorecard. 

Despite the impact of the pandemic on our 
services, our trusts have kept safeguarding 
as a high priority, continuing to complete 
self-assessments on the tool so that both 
the provider and the CCG are assured 
of the effectiveness of the safeguarding 
arrangements. 

Safeguarding children

We have worked with partners to audit 
how both health providers and the wider 
system respond to people who experience 
abuse or neglect. This has included working 
with colleagues who provide children and 
adolescent mental health services (CAMHS) 
to undertake a case review to check that 
safeguarding issues are identified and 
responded to effectively. 

Our safeguarding team also contributed to an 
audit undertaken by the Cornwall and Isles of 
Scilly Our Children Safeguarding Partnership. 
As a result, the young parent’s pathway has 
been refreshed to improve the co-ordination 
in teams providing this service to ensure a high 
standard of service delivery to this vulnerable 
group. Results show an improvement in co-
ordinated service provision.

It is important that we work with partners 
to learn and improve when things do not go 
well, or avoidable harm occurs because of 
abuse or neglect. We have contributed to the 
development of a thematic review that was 
published following the death of 2 young men 
who died from suicide. We are working with 
partners to undertake improvement work and 
to ensure that recommendations have been 
followed up and are embedded in current 
practice.

84% of practices have 
multi-disciplinary 

safeguarding 
meetings 



2021 to 2022 annual report  | 57

Looked after children and care leavers

Under the Children Act 2018, we have a 
duty to comply with requests from the local 
authority to help them provide assessment 
and support services to meet the physical and 
mental health needs of children and young 
people experiencing care or leaving care. 

We commission a specialist children in care 
health team hosted by RCHT’s community 
paediatric department to undertake the 
statutory health assessment. These are initial 
health assessments by consultant paediatricians 
and review health assessments by a team of 
specialist nurses. The designated doctor and 
the medical adviser for adoption and fostering 
are also employed by and hosted in the same 
department.

We worked closely with RCHT to develop 
the COVID-19 delivery and recovery plans 
to maintain the delivery of statutory health 
assessments. 70% of initial health assessments 
and 90% of all review health assessments were 
completed within the statutory timescales. 
We also supported the provider to introduce 
a nurse review additional to those required 
by statute to support and advise children and 
their careers and improve health outcomes.

Our children’s commissioning team and 
designated staff collaborate to ensure that 
looked after children with complex and 
continuing health needs receive a robust 
quality service wherever they are living. 

In relation to children placed out of area, 
we work closely with our local authority 
colleagues so that those children have access to 
appropriate health care and that notification 
and transfer of care are timely for children 
living ‘out of area’. We work in partnership 
with local authority and third sector partners 
to exercise their corporate parenting 
responsibilities and contribute to the local 
corporate parenting strategy.

Safeguarding adults

To enable our GP practices to respond 
effectively to people who experience domestic 
abuse and violence, we have provided funding 
to commission GP domestic abuse workers. This 
service supports GP practices and will meet 
people who need support in surgeries. They 
also are providing training to GP practices to 
enable them to implement best practice.

The Cornwall and Isles of Scilly Safeguarding 
Adults Board commissioned Healthwatch 
Cornwall to carry out a project to understand 
people’s experiences of adult safeguarding 
services.

This involved speaking to service users 
from across Cornwall who have shared 
their experiences of safeguarding and this 
information. 

The final report highlights findings which 
include:

• the importance for service users of good 
relationships with safeguarding professionals 
they can trust

• clear, consistent information on safeguarding
• regular communication on their case
• the value of advocates and family and 

friends to support people through 
safeguarding

We provided support for this work 
programme, including the follow up action 
planning group to inform future service 
delivery.

We continue to support the Prevent 
programme which enables people to access 
support who are at risk of being exploited and 
radicalised.
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Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 

While the implementation of the new Liberty Protection Safeguards (LPS), which replaces the 
existing Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) scheme, has been further postponed, we 
have been preparing for the new legislation by setting up a Cornwall and Isles of Scilly LPS 
implementation group, and attending meetings of a wider south west network.

We continue to work closely with colleagues in our trusts and the councils to ensure there are 
common standards, process and documentation with an aim that people receive a consistent 
and high quality LPS assessment.

We have supported continuing healthcare (CHC) colleagues to prepare for the implementation 
for the LPS by jointly completing a readiness audit. The team has supported Mental Capacity 
Act (MCA) and LPS training for CHC staff and provided 1 to 1 support to CHC staff to develop 
and improve their skills. The team has supported general practice, providing updates to the GP 
safeguarding leads and advice on the management of complex issues.

The MCA and DoLs team have also contributed to national developments in this area, 
supporting the NHSEI national clinical reference group, again with an aim of achieving the best 
outcomes for people who are deprived of their liberty.
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Health and wellbeing strategy 

Our Cornwall and Isles of Scilly health and wellbeing strategy was approved in January 2020 but 
its sign off by constituent authorities was delayed until late 2021 due to COVID-19.

Our strategy is based around the vision that “by working together to tackle health inequalities, 
everyone can enjoy good health and wellbeing and grow, live, work and age well”. 

It has 4 overarching objectives:

Healthy communities
We create healthy and sustainable places and communities 
to live, learn, work and age.

Healthy start
Children are given the best start in life enabling them to 
equally reach their full potential.

Healthy bodies
People feel enabled and motivated to actively manage 
their lifestyles and reduce risks to health.

Healthy minds
Our mental health and wellbeing is valued and considered 
equally important as physical health.

Collective responsibility and understanding of the benefits of actively 
managing our health and wellbeing.

It is underpinned by 5 principles:

Investing in prevention to promote a more sustainable system.

Communities and systems working together to drive a healthier culture.

Promoting inclusion, recognising diversity and reducing inequalities.

Ensuring we all safeguard the most vulnerable to enable them to live 
healthy, safe lives.

1

2

3

4

5
The strategy is aligned to the NHS long term plan, providing the prevention and wellbeing focus 
that is required alongside our transformation of health and care services. 
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Our original programme had included working with our communities and stakeholders to 
develop 4 plans covering the Isles of Scilly, west, central and north and east Cornwall to deliver 
our strategy. COVID-19 has, however, changed our landscape and during the past 12 months we 
have worked closely with partners to support the COVID-19 recovery plan, covering economic 
regeneration, community and wellbeing support and health, adult social care and children’s 
services. 

We will now focus on the following 6 priorities to tackle health inequalities: 

1 Give every child the best start in 
life.

2 Enable all children, young 
people and adults to maximise 
their capabilities and have 
control of their lives.

3 Create fair employment and 
good work for all.

4 Ensure a healthy standard of 
living for all.

5 Create and develop healthy 
and sustainable places and 
communities.

6 Strengthen the role and impact 
of ill-health prevention.

Delivery plans are being developed at area levels to link with the place-based work of the ICS 
and ensure that services meet the local health, care and wellbeing needs and reduce inequalities 
of the local population. 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

Health and wellbeing boards have traditionally provided a place where organisations come 
together to help improve the future health and wellbeing of our population. 

There were previously 2 separate boards for Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly but on 1 January 
2022 the 2 boards were replaced with a new joint Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly Health and 
Wellbeing Board. 

Membership includes representatives of the 2 local authorities - Cornwall Council and the 
Council of the Isles of Scilly - health partners and Healthwatch representatives its statutory 
members in addition to other stakeholders such as the voluntary and community sector and 
Devon and Cornwall Police

The creation of the new joint board supports a system-wide approach to integrated health and 
social care, prevention, and tackling health inequalities, delivering a better understanding of the 
needs of the whole area and encouraging the development of shared approached and better 
solutions to tackle public health challenges. 



2021 to 2022 annual report  | 61

Reducing health inequalities
We have a legal duty to help reduce inequalities between people in accessing health services 
and the outcomes achieved. This is 1 of the 5 guiding principles in our health and wellbeing 
strategy. 

Those most at risk of health inequalities are:

People aged 65+ 
who are frail

People who 
are homeless or 
part of travelling 

communities

Children living in 
poverty

COVID-19 challenges 

The impact of the pandemic has led to 
widening inequalities in many respects. This 
has had a significant impact on the health and 
wellbeing of the population. 

Beyond the immediate harm caused by 
COVID-19 itself and the accompanying 
lockdowns, there will also be longer term 
implications of the measures taken to control 
the spread of the virus. The impacts of 
COVID-19 have also been felt differentially, 
for example within black and ethnic minority 
communities, amplifying existing health and 
social inequalities. The economic impact 
of COVID-19 and immediate response will 
inevitably further widen health inequalities. 

What we have been doing

Contain Outbreak Management Fund 

The contain outbreak management fund is 
funded by the Department of health and social 
care (DHSC) has provided Cornwall Council 
with more than £16 million of funding to assist 
in the response to the COVID-19 pandemic 
since November 2020.

These monies have enabled the council to 
fund measures that have prevented the spread 
of COVID-19 as well as investing in projects 
to support recovery for residents who have 
experienced the largest impact and the most 
detrimental effects due to the pandemic.

Almost £11.5million has been allocated to 
recovery projects supporting the following 
groups: 

• children and young people
• homelessness and rough sleeping
• mental health
• physical health
• supporting most vulnerable
• voluntary and community sector (harnessing 

capacity and engagement)
• older people and people supported by adult 

social care

This has led to council services working with 
the voluntary and community sector to create 
projects to support a range of activities. 

£11.5 million 
allocated for 

recovery projects
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These have included Future Hope, an 
alliance of voluntary and community sector 
organisations who have worked with young 
parents to improve their skills, confidence and 
mental wellbeing, so they can support their 
babies’ communication and mental health. The 
alliance combined providing practical support 
around basic needs with the development of 
essential resources with access to specialist 
advice, psychological support and activities.

Funding was also provided for a disAbility 
Cornwall-led project which worked with 10 
organisations from the Cornwall Disability 
Alliance to provide activities for residents with 
long-term health conditions and disability.

The funding has been used to support memory 
cafés; active8 an organisation to encourage 
people aged 14 to 25 with physical disabilities 
to become active again; repurposed a training 
room into a socially distanced therapy room at 
the Merlin MS centre that restarted activities 
such as a nutrition and meditation and 
mindfulness course; and developed a support 
planning and brokerage grant scheme that has 
supported residents out of hospital as well as 
providing cleaning and hoarding support to 
prevent hospital admissions. 

Other activities have included:

• supporting the provision of a programme 
of sexual health and wellbeing support for 
those at risk of poor sexual health, through 
Brook Young People

• increasing the provision of accessible, high-
quality sustainable creative opportunities 
to focus on reducing health inequalities, 
improved mental wellbeing and tackling 
loneliness and isolation, through Arts Well 
CIC

• linking community health champions with 
social prescribers to support a community of 
practice to gather information on needs with 
the community, whilst providing support 
and advice to residents, through Volunteer 
Cornwall

Decisions on commissioning and grant-making 
have been focussed on understanding need 
directly from communities and the voluntary 
sector, with flexibility built into the funding to 
enable organisations and projects to adapt to 
learning.

All organisations receiving funding are 
required to take part in learning sessions 
where everyone shares what is working, where 
there are issues, and what we are learning 
about the needs of the population and the 
way the system operates and can help. There 
is also a formal process to capture the learning 
and use it to inform service and system 
improvement.

Addressing health inequalities in 
COVID-19 vaccination

The COVID-19 vaccination programme has 
been unprecedented in size, pace and context. 
The circumstances have driven innovation and 
have led to the creation of a shared Cornwall-
wide system priority. Equity has been a core 
part of the strategy from the planning stages. 

Maximising the uptake of vaccinations has 
included both engagement and outreach, and 
has been done collaboratively with health, 
local authority and volunteer sector colleagues. 
The aim has been to ensure no one is left 
behind, especially those at higher risk of severe 
illness and death from COVID-19. 

The vaccination programme health inequalities 
work has focused on 4 elements:

Insights

Population health management using data

Communication and engagement

Outreach
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Programme element Rationale and impact
Insight work • Identify reasons for low uptake of vaccine via community health 

champions and social prescribers, surveys at clinics.
• Identify subgroups less likely to be vaccinated.
• Develop communications and engagement strategy.

Population health 
management using data

• Identifying high risk for COVID-19 groups, and groups with low 
uptake of flu vaccines to prioritise groups for equity work.

• Mapping groups geographically and to healthcare services, for 
example PCNs.

• Iteratively testing approaches and re-evaluating priorities, for 
example effectiveness of pop up delivery models.

Communication and 
engagement

• Using trusted sources of advice regarding the vaccine, for example 
NHS, public health and voluntary sector lead conducting webinars, 
videos, radio, print material.

• Use most effective language and people to deliver messages.
• Communications via local media platforms, organisations and 

communities.
• Building trust and partnership working with communities via local 

partners and stakeholders.
Outreach work • Pop-up clinics in areas of low uptake, deprivation, homeless 

accommodation, Gypsy and traveller sites, employers of migrant 
workers.

• Housebound visits.
• Vaccinating through existing support services such as drug and 

alcohol support.
• Taking the vaccine to vulnerable groups.
• Making adaptations to mass vaccination centres.

 
We have worked with public health to support place-based vaccination stakeholder groups in 
areas of the county with high cases and low uptake of the vaccine. 

This has involved developing local plans for tackling high cases and increasing uptake of the 
vaccine. 

This model was successfully delivered across the county, with the learning used to develop the 
model for Gypsy traveller and seafarers and fishermen’s pop-up clinics. 
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Population health management 

We’re committed to providing services that 
meet people’s needs. We know that what 
works well in Penzance might not be best for 
people living in Port Isaac. This is why clinical 
leaders who know their community best are 
leading changes to the way health and care 
services are delivered. Population health 
management (PHM) underpins this approach 
as it helps us to understand and look for the 
best solutions to people’s needs and deliver 
improvements in health and wellbeing. It 
does this by bringing together health-related 
data to identify a specific population in our 
community, such as people with diabetes and 
a mental health condition, and work with 
partners to improve health outcomes for that 
group of people.

During 2021 we worked with Cornwall Council 
to deliver the third wave of the national PHM 
development programme, an NHS-funded 
programme which provides resources and 
support to speed up the progress to embed 
PHM and prevention across Cornwall. 

Watergate, north Kerrier west and Bosvenna 
PCNs and north and east ICA took part in the 
programme, which led to the development of 
a PHM approach in the participating areas and 
a clear plan for continuing the work at the end 
of the programme 

Acclaimed chef Rick Stein has also supported 
work led by east PCN to support a selected 
group of people in east Cornwall to manage 
their diabetes and mental health. The 
Healthier Me 8-week course was created by 
Bodmin-based Dr Janine Riley from the Three 
Harbours and Bosvenna Health surgeries to 
support a group of patients who are receiving 
help to manage their diabetes, and mental 
health. The first group was carefully selected 
by the surgery’s GPs who they felt would 
benefit from this new targeted approach of 
help. 

The first group of people who have been 
chosen the join the club will receive 1 to 1 
support from a range of local experts to 
manage their mental health, become more 
active, receive healthy eating advice and 
review any medication they’re taking to 
manage their conditions. They’ll also receive 
help from a closed Facebook group where 
it’s hoped the members will also support and 
encourage each other to achieve the targets 
they have each set at the start of the 8 week 
course. 

Rick Stein’s cookery school will also provide a 
specially selected weekly healthy recipe for the 
group to cook on a Friday, culminating in a live 
cook-along with 1 of its chefs at the end of the 
programme in May. 

Work is now taking place to roll out the 
PHM approach across the rest of Cornwall. A 
steering group including partners from across 
health, care and the voluntary sector, has been 
set up to oversee this work. 

The thing that interests 
me is a lot of us often forget 

that we are what we eat, 
and the more healthily we eat, 
the more healthy we are – yes 

physically, but mentally as well. 
So I really do support this local 

project.”
Rick Stein

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=CPWKw-JnJ-w
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=CPWKw-JnJ-w
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Our plans for 2022 

• Continued support for the PCNs and ICAs 
which took part in the wave 3 development 
programme.

• Development of 2 further PCNs and another 
ICA in another locally commissioned delivery 
programme.

• Participation in the NHS funded place 
development programme which will provide 
further resources to develop population 
health management strategic decision 
making, continued application of population 
health management methodology in the 
local system, and data development to 
support the population health management 
programme of work.

Using population health management to 
address health inequalities

Developing an effective PHM approach with 
our partners is vital to address the health of 
our communities and successfully deliver the 
aims of our long term plan to address health 
inequalities.

This will include working with communities 
and partner agencies to develop plans to 
reduce the occurrence of ill-health and address 
wider determinants of health. The NHS 
adoption of addressing the inequalities agenda 
is welcome and this is being reflected in the 
rolling out of an increased number of national 
led initiatives.

The 20CorePlus5, a national programme aimed 
at addressing inequalities for the following 
priority groups, will support us: 

Core 20

• Inclusion health groups include ethnic 
minority communities, coastal communities, 
people with multi-morbidities, protected 
characteristic groups, people experiencing 
homelessness, drug and alcohol dependence, 
vulnerable migrants, Gypsy, Roma and 
Traveller communities, sex workers, people 
in contact with the justice system, victims of 
modern slavery and other socially excluded 
groups.

Plus

• ICS determined population groups 
experiencing poorer than average health 
access, experience and/or outcomes, but not 
captured in the Core20 alone. This should be 
based on ICS population health data.

The final part of the programme sets out 5 
clinical areas of focus.

Maternity: ensuring continuity of care 
for 75% of women from black, Asian 
and minority ethnic communities and 
from the most deprived groups.

Severe mental illness: ensuring annual 
health checks for 60% of those living 
with a several mental illness (bringing 
this in line with the success seen in 
learning disabilities).

Chronic respiratory disease: a 
clear focus on Chronic Obstructive 
Pulmonary Disease (COPD) driving 
up uptake of COVID-19, flu and 
pneumonia vaccines to reduce infective 
exacerbations and emergency hospital 
admissions due to those exacerbations.

Early cancer diagnosis: 75% of cases 
diagnosed at stage 1 or 2 by 2028.

Hypertension case-finding: to allow 
for interventions to optimise blood 
pressure and minimise the risk of 
myocardial infarction and stroke.

We will work with Cornwall Council, 
communities and the voluntary, community 
and social enterprise sector to tackle health 
inequalities.
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Emergency preparedness, resilience and response 

All CCGs are required to plan for and respond to incidents which could affect the health, care 
and wellbeing of their populations. Emergency preparedness, resilience and response (EPRR) 
remains 1 of our core priorities.

During the past 3 years our team has developed to include a head of EPRR, an EPRR manager 
and an EPRR administrator. The expansion of the team has ensured that we can deliver a robust 
EPRR function, working with system partners and learning and improving from incidents are at 
the forefront of our planning. 
 
We have maintained our levels of compliance against the NHSEI EPRR core standards throughout 
this period and have continued to deliver the system assurance process. 

Specific achievements include:

• delivering the health aspect of the G7 conference in June, in which we built robust multi-
agency working relationships which we have continued to maintain

• delivering a continued response to the COVID-19 pandemic, ensuring we remain the single 
point of contact for the local response, staffing our incident command centre with colleagues 
from across the organisation

• supporting the urgent and emergency care team with the challenges around system surge and 
capacity

• ensuring our on-call teams are trained and ready to respond to any system pressure or incident

During the past 8 months we have been planning for the transition to the ICB and our role as a 
category 1 responder. This has included building robust training programmes to ensure that we 
are ready to comply with our statutory duties.
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Managing our organisation 

Sustainability 
We are required by law to work in a way that 
has a positive effect on the communities for 
whom we plan and buy healthcare services. 
Sustainability means spending public money 
well, the smart and efficient use of natural 
resources and building healthy, resilient 
communities. 

Making the most of our social, environmental 
and economic assets, as set out in the 2012 
Public Services (social value), means we can 
improve health in both the immediate and 
long term, even in the context of rising costs. 
This includes working hard to minimise our 
carbon footprint.

We recognise that climate change and 
environmental degradation in Cornwall and 
the Isles of Scilly will have a negative impact 
on both the physical and mental health of our 
local population, particularly on the poor and 
vulnerable. Reducing this impact will reduce 
health inequalities and lessen the demand on 
the NHS and social care.

The NHS accounts for 4% of all UK carbon 
emissions. NHSEI has set out plans to address 
that percentage, stating it wants the NHS 
to become the world’s first carbon net zero 
national health system. 

Achieving this will mean reducing greenhouse 
gas emissions and using resources more 
efficiently in all aspects of the local NHS. This 
will require action in the areas of energy, 
travel, waste, procurement, pharmaceuticals, 
buildings and land.

As part of this declaration the NHS has 
committed to putting sustainability at the 
centre of health care.

Actions during the past 12 months

• Using new technology as part of the 
bowel cancer screening programme in 
the endoscopy department to tackle 
environmentally damaging emissions from 
nitrous oxide, the gas commonly used for 
pain relief. This is the first time the mobile 
destruction unit, which works by separating 
and neutralising greenhouse gases, has 
been used during endoscopy procedures. 
Patients do not experience any difference in 
their care. It is simply the processing of the 
exhaled gas that is different. 

• Working with partners and innovators to 
develop sustainable solutions to replace 
disposable PPE drapes and other textiles 
used in surgical procedures. RCHT was 
chosen as 1 of 10 pilot projects to be 
awarded funding from the delivering a new 
zero NHS competition.

 
A specific member of our Governing Body 
is responsible for monitoring progress in 
reducing our carbon emissions via 6 monthly 
reports. We require the environment and 
climate change to be considered in all decisions 
made by the organisation, including the 
commissioning of services. 

We aim to maximise the health co-benefits 
of interventions to reduce greenhouse gases, 
particularly in terms of active travel, home 
energy efficiency, healthier diets, food 
growing, environmental volunteering and 
air quality. We have introduced initiatives to 
help sustain the health and wellbeing of our 
population, our environment and our local 
economy.

“Cornwall’s NHS has made great strides in its journey to reduce carbon emissions. 
I wish them every success in its efforts towards a more sustainable future that will 

benefit patients, health workers, the wider community and the planet.” 
Elizabeth O’Mahony, NHSEI’s south west regional director
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We are also working to improve staff 
awareness of climate change and the impact 
of decisions on the environment through 
regular communication in staff bulletins, the 
development of a carbon literacy and health 
training module, and identifying carbon 
champions.

The impact of COVID-19 has also accelerated 
the expansion of existing projects to increase 
the use of digital technology in health and 
care, as well as the development of new 
initiatives. These include the introduction of 
new virtual clinical nurse specialist clinics in 
RCHT’s hepatalogy. 

“We have a lot of remote, rural communities 
that don’t have the best access to public 

transport. This new role allows 1 to 1 
clinics to be conducted remotely, hopefully 
removing some of the barriers that might 

exist for people accessing important services, 
both during lockdown and beyond. Not only 

is this a firm step towards improving our 
environment, it will also help us to increase 
access to specialist liver services for our most 

vulnerable patient population”.
Liz Farrington, hepatology nurse consultant

Other ongoing actions include further 
developing joined up IT systems to support 
collaborative working between organisations 
and individual teams.

The majority of our staff continue to work 
from home, and the offices staff do work from 
are leased either from NHS Property Services of 
a private landlord, and are shared with other 
organisations that contribute to the bills. It is 
therefore not possible to provide meaningful 
data on sustainability issues including water 
use and energy consumption. 

Equality and diversity

People have different needs and access services 
in different ways. We want to ensure there 
is equality of access and treatment for all 
services that we commission, both as a matter 
of fairness and as an essential part of our 
commitment to reduce health inequalities and 
improve people’s health and wellbeing. 
 

We strive to ensure an equitable and 
comprehensive service for all, irrespective of 
age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage 
and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, including nationality and ethnic origin, 
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.
 
We are committed to ensuring our staff are 
treated fairly and equally. Our aim is to be 
an organisation that leads the promotion 
of equality and diversity. We are a disability 
confident employer and a mindful employer. 
 
Information about our equality and diversity 
work is available on our website. This includes 
our overarching equality objectives, gender 
pay gap report and workforce race equality 
standard report, as well as linking to our 
equality information in compliance with our 
public sector equality duty.
 
LGBTQ+ employee network group

The LGBTQ+ employee network group was 
set up in September 2019 to support LGBTQ+ 
health and social care employees. The aim 
is to create a more LGBTQ+ inclusive work 
environment. The group is open to staff from 
NHS Kernow, CFT and RCHT. 

The group holds a formal meeting every 2 
months to discuss key issues, with a coffee 
break event in between to provide members 
with an opportunity to socialise informally 
and support each other. Whilst the meetings 
have taken place virtually under COVID-19, this 
has not prevented members from discussing 
a wide range of topics, including scrutinising 
organisations’ policies and processes, feeding 
back suggestions for improvement, identifying 
and raising any areas of concern, and sharing 
stories and personal experiences.

The group also have presentations from guest 
speakers, with examples including counselling 
and domestic and sexual violence support. 

With the current home working arrangements 
making it more difficult for people to keep 
in touch and support each other, leading 
to increased feelings of isolation, members 
are very clear about the importance of the 
network. 

https://www.kernowccg.nhs.uk/get-info/equality-and-diversity/
https://www.kernowccg.nhs.uk/get-info/equality-and-diversity/
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SECTION 2 

ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT
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Governing Body
Our Governing Body is accountable for all our activities and is the key decision-making body for 
major decisions. 

The Governing Body is supported by senior health managers who have vast experience of the 
health service. Our member biographies can be found on our website.

The Governing Body can comprise:

• chair
• 6 GPs drawn from the GP performers list 

who are employed by member practices or 
regularly working within Cornwall and the 
Isles of Scilly in a GP-related role

• 4 lay members
• 1 registered nurse

• 1 secondary care clinician
• chief executive (our accountable officer)
• chief finance officer
• chief operating officer or nominated deputy 
• local director of public health or deputy
• senior council representative with a lead on 

adult or children’s services

During 2021 to 2022 the Governing Body operated with 5 rather than 6 GPs and without the 
senior council representative.

Dr Paul Cook
Chair

Chair Executive directors

Kate Shields
Executive director and 

accountable office

Simon Gittoes-Davies
Chief finance officer and 

senior information risk officer

Clinical members

Dr Matthew Hayman
Secondary care doctor 

member

Natalie Jones
Chief nursing officer, NHS 

Kernow

Other members

Rachel Wigglesworth
Public health director

https://www.kernowccg.nhs.uk/about/who-we-are/governing-body/
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Lay members

Chris Blong
Deputy chair and governance 

lay member

Nikki Kelly
Patient and public 

involvement lay member

Melissa Mead
Primary care and prevention 

lay member

John Yarnold
Fiscal management lay 

member

GP members

Dr Judy Duckworth Dr John Garman Dr Francis Old

Dr Deryth Stevens Dr Rob White

Member practices 
Our member practices are listed in our constitution.

More information on our member practices can be found on our website.

https://www.kernowccg.nhs.uk/primary-care/
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Register of interests 
Our declarations of interests can be found on 
our website.

Personal data related 
incidents 
We can confirm there have been no serious 
lapses of information governance in 2021 
to 2022. This includes untoward incidents 
relating to data security breaches, including 
any that were reported to the Information 
Commissioner. Further details about 
information governance can be found in our 
governance statement (page 75).

Statement of disclosure 
to auditors 
Each individual who is a member of NHS 
Kernow at the time the members’ report is 
approved, confirms, so far as the member 
is aware, that there is no relevant audit 
information of which NHS Kernow’s auditor 
is unaware that would be relevant for the 
purposes of their audit report. 

Pension liabilities
Details of our pension liabilities are contained 
within the financial statements and the 
remuneration report on page 96.

Charges for 
information 
We certify that NHS Kernow has complied with 
HM Treasury’s guidance on cost allocation and 
the setting of charges for information. We do 
not charge for providing information.

Donations 
NHS Kernow made no donations in the year 
(2020 to 2021: none).

Gifts and hospitality 
Details of our hospitality, acceptance of gifts 
and sponsorship policy, ratified in May 2021, 
are available on our website, together with our 
register of gifts, hospitality and commercial 
sponsorship. 

Modern slavery act 
We take a robust approach to modern 
day slavery and human trafficking and 
is committed to its prevention within all 
corporate activities. We publish an annual 
modern slavery statement which reflects the 
requirements of the Modern Slavery Act 2015 
and demonstrates our commitment. We ensure 
our procurement principles and contracts with 
providers contain an obligation to comply with 
the requirements of the Modern Slavery Act 
2015 when we secure any NHS funded medical 
services. Through these, we demonstrate our 
commitment to zero tolerance of modern 
slavery or human trafficking in any part of our 
business or supply chains.

We work both as an organisation and with 
partners to identify and respond to any 
modern slavery, trafficking or exploitation 
in Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly. We include 
how we identify and respond to all forms of 
exploitation in our safeguarding training and 
policies. We stipulate how we expect providers 
in Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly support 
staff to identify and respond effectively to 
exploitation.

https://www.kernowccg.nhs.uk/get-info/corporate-governance/key-governance-information/
http://www.kernowccg.nhs.uk/get-info/corporate-governance/key-governance-information/)
http://www.kernowccg.nhs.uk/get-info/corporate-governance/key-governance-information/)
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Losses 
There was 1 loss incurred in the year 2021 to 2022 totalling £79. In 2020 to 2021 there were 2 
losses totalling £16,069.

Special payments
NHS Kernow made 3 special payments in 2021 to 2022 totalling £76,048. The payments ranged 
from £22,751 to £28,800 and all related to exit packages. These should have been submitted 
to NHS England for review and approval prior to being paid. NHS Kernow sought retrospective 
approval from NHS England, but this was not granted. This type of payment also requires HM 
Treasury approval. As this was not given the payments are therefore irregular.

Statement of accountable officer’s 
responsibilities 

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each CCG shall have an 
accountable officer and that officer shall be appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS 
England). NHS England has appointed our chief executive as the accountable officer. 

The responsibilities of an accountable officer are set out under the National Health Service Act 
2006 (as amended), managing public money and in the CCG accountable officer appointment 
letter.

They include responsibilities for:

• the propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the accountable officer is 
answerable

• keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the CCG and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the 
requirements of the accounts direction)

• safeguarding the CCG’s assets (and hence taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities)

• the relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under managing public money
• ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in accordance 

with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)) and with a view to 
securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in accordance with Section14R of 
the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)

• ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J of the 
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England directs each CCG to 
prepare financial statements in the form and on the basis set out in the accounts direction for 
each financial year. The financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis and must give 
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the CCG and of its net expenditure, changes in 
taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/managing-public-money
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In preparing the financial statements, the accountable officer is required to comply with the 
requirements of the group accounting manual issued by the DHSC and in particular to: 

• observe the accounts direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant accounting and 
disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis

• make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis
• state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the group accounting manual 

issued by the Department of Health have been followed, and disclose and explain any material 
departures in the financial statements

• prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis

To the best of my knowledge and belief I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out 
under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), managing public money and in my 
CCG accountable officer appointment letter.

 I also confirm that:

• as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s auditors are 
unaware, and that, as accountable officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to have 
taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s 
auditors are aware of that information

• the annual report and accounts as a whole are fair, balanced and understandable and that I 
take personal responsibility for the annual report and accounts and the judgments required 
for determining that it is fair, balanced and understandable

Kate Shields
Chief executive
31 August 2022
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Governance statement 

Introduction and context

NHS Kernow is a body corporate established 
by NHS England on 1 April 2013 under the 
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).

Details of our statutory functions are set 
out in the National Health Service Act 2006 
(as amended), with our key role being to 
commission health services for our populations. 
This includes arranging for the provision of the 
range of health services we consider necessary 
to meet the reasonable requirements of our 
population.

As of 31 March 2022, we are not subject to any 
directions issued by NHSEI under the National 
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended by the 
Health and Social Care Act 2012).

Scope of responsibility

As accountable officer, I have responsibility 
for maintaining a sound system of internal 
control that supports the achievement of the 
CCG’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst 
safeguarding the public funds and assets 
for which I am personally responsible, in 
accordance with the responsibilities assigned 
to me in managing public money. I also 
acknowledge my responsibilities as set out 
under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended) and in my CCG accountable officer 
appointment letter.

I am responsible for ensuring that NHS Kernow 
is administered prudently and economically 
and that resources are applied efficiently and 
effectively, safeguarding financial propriety 
and regularity. I also have responsibility for 
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control within NHS Kernow as set out 
in this governance statement.

Governance arrangements and 
effectiveness

Our constitution sets out the foundations of 
our organisation, together with our values, 
responsibilities, accountabilities and duties. It 
identifies the respective responsibilities and 
powers of NHS Kernow and the Governing 
Body and how these are delivered through 
our governance framework and scheme of 
delegation. 

It provides information on:

• our membership and the area we cover
• principles of good governance 
• how we make decisions 
• our standards of business and how we 

manage conflicts of interest
• how we work with other organisations to 

commission services 
• the ways we work and our commitment to 

being open and transparent

Our Governing Body is required to ensure 
we have appropriate arrangements in place 
to make sure we exercise all our functions 
effectively, efficiently and economically. It also 
makes sure that we comply with any generally 
accepted principles of good governance that 
are relevant to us.

Our constitution states that responsibility for 
high level decisions relating to regulation and 
control, appointment of some Governing Body 
members, strategy, the annual operating plan, 
budgets, audit, the annual report and accounts 
and arrangements for the proper management 
of conflicts of interest sits with the Governing 
Body. 

The membership of our Governing Body is set 
out in the Governing Body section on page 70. 

https://doclibrary-kccg.cornwall.nhs.uk/DocumentsLibrary/KernowCCG/OurOrganisation/Policies/NHSKernowConstitution.pdf
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There are an equal number of non-clinical 
members and clinical and GP voting members 
on the Governing Body. The chair has a 
second casting vote, giving the clinical and GP 
members a majority.

Our Governing Body held 6 formal public 
meetings during 2021 to 2022 including an 
annual general meeting. In response to the 
continued COVID-19 pandemic, these meetings 
were held online, and members of the public 
were able to join virtually. The Governing Body 
member attendance rate for these meetings 
across the year was approximately 82%.

Where extraordinary meetings were required 
for urgent decisions, these were later reported 
at a formal Governing Body meeting. In 
addition to the formal public meetings, 3 
development sessions were held in private 
plus additional private sessions to support 
the development of the ICB. The ICB chair 
(designate) was invited to become an attendee 
of the Governing Body in January 2022.

As well as items on quality, corporate risk 
and assurance, finance and performance, 
members received updates on the work being 
undertaken to respond to the COVID-19 
pandemic and how it has impacted on services 
we commission. In addition the Governing 
Body received reports on the actions needed 
to transition to an ICS.

Underpinning the work of the Governing Body 
are several committees. Their responsibilities 
and membership are set out below and 
their terms of reference are available on the 
website. 

Audit committee

Our audit committee provides another layer of 
scrutiny and assurance for the Governing Body 
on the way we are designing and following the 
rules of the organisation. 

This includes:

• financial accounts
• assurance of governance, risk management 

and internal control
• clinical audit and quality regulatory and 

statutory duty compliance including 
assurance framework, whistleblowing and 
conflicts of interest

• internal and external audit functions
• counter-fraud and bribery
• annual attendance by the chair of each of 

the other main committees to provide a 
review of how their committees are working

Our audit committee is chaired by Chris 
Blong who is Governing Body lay member for 
governance. The other members are:

• the Governing Body lay member for finance
• at least 1 Governing Body GP member

The Governing Body GP members provide 
clinical quality expertise. In addition, the 
committee is attended by the chief finance 
officer, chief nursing officer, head of finance 
and deputy director corporate governance, 
representatives from internal and external 
audit and counter fraud and security specialist 
services.

During 2021 to 2022 the committee received 
reports from the chairs of each constitutional 
committee as well as reports and updates on:

• internal and external audits
• finance
• conflicts of interest
• the corporate risk register 
• the Governing Body assurance framework 
• counter-fraud and security
• the development of the ICB and assurance 

on its close down and stand-up programme 
plans

82% 
Governing 

Body member 
attendance

https://www.kernowccg.nhs.uk/get-info/corporate-governance/committees/
https://www.kernowccg.nhs.uk/get-info/corporate-governance/committees/
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Finance and performance committee

The finance and performance committee 
focuses on how the organisation manages 
money, how well the services we commission 
are performing and how we are managing 
their performance. It makes decisions and 
agrees policy in these areas. 

This includes:

• financial plans and performance
• financial measurement and reporting
• stewardship of CCG financial resources
• monitoring delivery of services we 

commission
• discharge of procurement responsibilities
• contribution to the annual report and 

accounts 
• contribution to operational plans 
• providing reports to Governing Body and 

audit committee

The committee is chaired by the Governing 
Body lay member for finance. The other 
members are:

• 2 Governing Body clinical members (for 
example GPs or secondary care clinician)

• the chief finance officer
• the deputy director of finance with 

responsibility for performance

The accountable officer can attend meetings 
when necessary. The directors of integrated 
care, deputy director of corporate governance, 
quality and performance managers and senior 
responsible officers from the system boards 
also may attend but are not members.

During 2021 to 2022 the committee received 
reports on financial commitments, the impacts 
on performance from COVID-19 and how the 
system recovery plans were progressing.

People and organisational governance 
committee 

The people and organisational governance 
committee looks at our non-clinical and non-
financial responsibilities. It agrees policy and 
makes decisions on these subjects. 

This includes:

• human resources 
• organisational development 
• patient and public engagement
• health and safety
• business continuity
• emergency planning resilience
• workforce equality and diversity
• corporate governance
• information governance

The committee is chaired by a Governing Body 
lay member. The other members are:

• Governing Body GP 
• additional Governing Body member
• the chief officer 
• an additional director

The head of people and organisational 
development, deputy director of corporate 
governance and head of communications 
and engagement are not members of the 
committee but attend the meetings to provide 
advice.

During 2021 to 2022 the committee received 
reports on the impact of the COVID-19 
response on staff as well as updates on risks, 
information governance, health and safety, 
complaints, freedom of information, equality 
and staff engagement.
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Primary care commissioning committee 

The primary care commissioning committee 
maintains oversight of the commissioning 
of primary medical services under section 
83 of the National Health Service Act. It 
makes decisions and agrees policy in this 
area, although financial decision making 
also requires agreement by the finance and 
performance committee. 

The committee’s remit includes:

• services that are part of the national primary 
care contracts 

• the integrated urgent care service 
• enhanced services commissioned by NHS 

Kernow
• medicines optimisation 
• primary care estates
• contribution to operational plans
• providing reports to Governing Body and 

audit committee

The committee is chaired by a Governing Body 
lay member (this cannot be the same person as 
the chair of the audit committee).

The other members are:

• additional non-conflicted lay member (vice 
chair) (this person may or may not be a 
Governing Body lay member)

• the chief officer 
• the chief finance officer (or deputy)
• the chief nursing officer (or deputy)
• a non-conflicted GP or managing partner 

representative
• the director for primary care

Several other people are also invited to attend 
each meeting but are not members. This 
includes representation from the local medical 
committee, Governing Body GPs, CAP and 
Cornwall Council public health leadership.

During 2021 to 2022 the committee received 
reports on the impact of the COVID-19 
response on general practices as well as 
updates on risks, finance and quality, primary 
care digital topics, premises and contracts.

Quality committee

The quality committee is concerned with how 
safe and effective the services we commission 
are and how good the processes are which 
review and manage this. The committee makes 
decisions and agree policy in this area. 

This includes:

• infection control
• safeguarding
• serious incidents
• patient experience
• clinical outcomes
• contribution to operational plans
• providing reports to Governing Body and 

audit committee

The committee is chaired by a Governing Body 
clinician from the committee membership. The 
members are: 

• 2 Governing Body GPs
• Governing Body secondary care clinician
• Governing Body lay member
• the chief nursing officer
• the deputy director of quality

Commissioning directors, quality managers and 
others may attend the meeting but are not 
members.

During 2021 to 2022 the committee received 
reports on the impact of the COVID-19 
response on services, system pressures, 
risks, infection prevention and control, 
national clinical priorities as well as items on 
safeguarding.

Remuneration committee

The remuneration committee makes 
recommendations about contracts, 
performance, pay and rewards for the 
executive team, very senior managers (VSMs), 
Governing Body members and clinical leads. 
This committee has met regularly throughout 
the year.



2021 to 2022 annual report  | 79

The committee is chaired by a Governing Body 
lay member. The other members are:

• Governing Body GP 
• 1 other Governing Body member 

The chief officer, chair, directors, deputy 
director of corporate governance (as board 
secretary) and deputy director of human 
resources may attend to give the committee 
advice but are not members.

During 2021 to 2022 the committee received 
reports on changes to the on-call system and 
arrangements as part of transition to an ICS as 
well as remuneration and terms of services for 
Governing Body members and VSMs.

The CCG undertook its own retrospective 
review into the circumstances that resulted in 
a number of irregular payments being made 
in 2021 to 2022. This included HR and legal 
advice. The ICB, as successor body to the CCG, 
has commissioned an external review into 
governance procedures. The outcome of the 
review will result in appropriate measures 
being put in place to reduce the risk of this 
happening in the future.

The chairs of each committee provide a regular 
report to the Governing Body and attend audit 
committee annually to provide an overview of 
the committee’s activities and effectiveness. 
The audit committee chair also attends each of 
the committees at least once a year.

As part of the transition process between the 
CCG and the new ICB board discussions (are 
planned) between the current committee 
chairs and new ICB non-executive members to 
share members’ insights into the committees 
and their effectiveness for the ICB non-
executive members to take that learning and 
build it into the new terms of reference for the 
ICB committees, where appropriate. 

The Governing Body has considered its 
effectiveness during 2021 to 2022. This 
included determining how best to continue to 
carry out its role in line with the changes to 
our ways of working in response to COVID-19. 
Meetings have continued online, maintaining 
the facility for members of the public to ask 
questions and observe the formal meetings. 

Answers to questions raised at the start of the 
meeting are included within Governing Body 
minutes and placed on the website.

Governing Body development sessions topics in 
2021 to 2022 have focussed on the Governing 
Body assurance framework, board training 
requirements and the development of the ICS.

Other key groups

Executive team meeting

This group meets weekly. Its members are the 
executive directors from NHS Kernow as well as 
the direct reports of the accountable officer. It 
considers operational and strategic issues such 
as quality and performance, resourcing and 
financial position.

Information governance sub-committee

This group, which meets at least quarterly, is 
responsible for monitoring the way we handle 
information, especially personal identifiable 
information. Its role includes confidentiality, 
data protection, records management, data 
quality and information security.

Health and safety sub-committee

This group, which usually meets quarterly, is 
responsible for ensuring that we meet both 
statutory legal requirements for standards 
of health, safety and welfare and our own 
internal policies. 

Joint partnership committee

This group, which includes representatives 
from trade unions, is responsible for consulting 
with our staff and with recognised Trade 
Unions on issues relating to pay and working 
conditions.

Citizens Advisory Panel

This is a monthly meeting of citizen 
representatives which aims to be a critical 
friend and support our work to help ensure 
the voice of the local population is heard. As 
noted above, its chair also participates in our 
Governing Body meetings. 
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Health and wellbeing boards for Cornwall 
Council and the Council of the Isles of Scilly

These are key multi-agency bodies where 
representatives from health, social care, 
police, housing, education and children’s 
services come together to provide leadership 
to improve efficiency, secure better care, 
health and wellbeing outcomes for the local 
community and reduce health inequalities. The 
2 boards merged in January 2022 to become a 
joint health and wellbeing board for Cornwall 
and the Isles of Scilly.

Health and social care overview and scrutiny 
committees for Cornwall Council and the 
Council of the Isles of Scilly

These committees of the councils are 
responsible for scrutinising services which 
look after the health and social care needs 
of people in Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly. 
There are separate committees for adults and 
children.

Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly Health and 
Care Partnership Senate

The Partnership Senate comprises system 
partners from numerous health and care 
organisations. It meets quarterly in public and 
is chaired by our ICS independent chair who 
is also the ICB chair (designate). It focuses on 
bringing a wide range of partners together 
to assist in the development and delivery of 
system transformation plans.

System board

The system board meets formally each month 
to discuss transformation plans as well as 
system performance and the combined 
financial position. It is underpinned by the 
system executive group whose membership 
is drawn from health and care partner 
organisations. Decision making remains with 
the individual organisations.

UK Corporate Governance 
Code

NHS bodies are not required to comply with 
the UK Code of Corporate Governance. 
However, we have reported on our corporate 
governance arrangements by drawing on the 
best practice available, including those aspects 
of the UK Corporate Governance Code we 
consider to be relevant to us.

These include: 

• creating a Governing Body with a strong lay 
membership and clear division of the chair 
and chief executive roles

• ensuring appropriate audit and 
remuneration committees are in place to 
oversee robust financial management and 
pay systems

• ensuring strong risk management and 
internal control systems are in place and 
audited

• establishing and enacting effective 
engagement with patients and the public as 
key stakeholders

The role of our chair is an elected position, 
with nominees coming from the practising 
GP population of Cornwall and the Isles of 
Scilly and required to meet role description 
requirements developed by the Governing 
Body. 

Further information on the structures we have 
in place in respect of 4 of the 5 main principles 
of the UK corporate governance code, namely: 
leadership, effectiveness, accountability and 
remuneration are contained throughout this 
governance statement.

As a statutory NHS organisation, we do not 
have shareholders and so are not required 
to comply with the fifth principle of the UK 
code: relations with shareholders. However, 
this annual governance statement and the 
annual report and accounts demonstrate how 
we have carried out our responsibilities to our 
stakeholders, including our members and the 
public.

https://cioshealthandcare.nhs.uk/about/cornwall-isles-scilly-partnership-senate/
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Discharge of statutory 
functions

We have reviewed our statutory duties and 
powers and understand the legal requirements 
associated with each of the statutory functions 
for which we are responsible, including any 
restrictions on delegation of those functions. 
Responsibility for each duty and power has 
been clearly allocated to a lead director.

Directorates review their team structures to 
ensure they provide the necessary capability 
and capacity to undertake our statutory duties. 
Where gaps in capacity are identified these 
have been recorded as a risk and appropriate 
actions taken to address them.

Risk management 
arrangements and 
effectiveness 

Our risk management strategy and policy 
were reviewed in 2021 and remain in date. 
We also reviewed our strategic objectives and 
principal risks during 2021 to 2022 and made 
amendments to reflect changes in focus due 
to transition to the ICS. We are also working to 
develop the risk management arrangements, 
strategic objectives and principal risks for the 
ICS and board.

Details of our approach to the Governing Body 
assurance framework (GBAF) are provided in 
the section on other sources of assurance. Our 
risk and assurance management arrangements 
were subject to internal audit review this 
year, resulting in a report giving “substantial 
assurance” assurance for the fourth year 
running. 

Risks are identified through several routes, 
for example by individuals, through 
committee reports, reviews of national 
guidance, performance information or project 
documentation. We assess risks using a 5x5 
matrix, scoring for impact and likelihood. We 
consider various possible areas of impact such 
as safety, quality, finance, compliance and 
reputation.

Our risk register is reviewed and updated 
regularly. Updates are sought monthly for high 
scoring (12+) risks. The register is shared with 
directors regularly as well as being formally 
reported to committees. Each risk is assigned 
to 1 of 4 committees (quality, finance and 
performance, people and organisational 
governance or primary care commissioning) 
whose members then receive regular reports 
covering red and high amber risks, highlighting 
escalations and improvements, new risks and 
those for removal.

The Governing Body receives reports on the 
red risks and on the GBAF, at least 3 times 
a year. These reports highlight escalations 
and improvements as well as assessments of 
controls and assurance, gaps in these and 
actions planned to address them. 

Our Governing Body meetings are held in 
public, and the meeting papers are available 
on our website for staff and the public to 
read. The only exception to this is if a risk or 
information relating to that risk is particularly 
sensitive and would fall within the exemptions 
of the Freedom of Information Act, in which 
case it would have to be reviewed in private 
session.

Our audit committee also receives reports 
on the risk register and GBAF to allow them 
to take a view on the appropriateness and 
effectiveness of our risk management system.

Examples of how we manage risk as part of 
our day to day working:

• all formal papers for Governing Body or 
committee meetings include sections on risks 
associated with the subject, as well as links 
to our strategic objectives

• all new or updated policies are subject to an 
equality impact assessment prior to approval 
and publication

• incidents are reported centrally, with 
reminders to staff on how to do this 
throughout the year in staff email bulletins

• staff are required to undertake mandatory 
training which includes health and safety, 
safeguarding and information governance

https://www.kernowccg.nhs.uk/get-info/governing-body-meetings/
https://www.kernowccg.nhs.uk/get-info/governing-body-meetings/
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We are committed to working in partnership 
with our population and to give members of 
the public and the people we work with the 
opportunity to get involved with plans to 
make changes to services. This allows them to 
be aware of and engaged in managing any 
risks that may affect them.

We work closely with our partners in the NHS, 
local authorities and the voluntary sector to 
make sure that we are as inclusive as possible.

More information on patient and public 
engagement is available in the main body of 
the annual report.

Capacity to handle risk 

Our chief executive acts as our accountable 
officer and is responsible for implementing 
working arrangements which secure effective 
and appropriate risk management processes. 
The chief executive has designated the 
chief nursing officer as the director with 
responsibility for risk.

The deputy director of corporate governance 
is responsible for ensuring effective corporate 
assurance, governance and risk procedures are 
in place across the organisation. 

The chief finance officer is responsible for 
arrangements to review, evaluate and report 
on financial control and regular assessment 
of and reporting on financial risks and the 
financial aspects of other organisational risks. 
The post holder also acts as the Governing 
Body lead for counter fraud and information 
governance. 

The chief nursing officer is responsible for 
ensuring robust systems are in place for quality 
governance to assure and improve quality of 
care for all patients, taking the lead on risks 
relating to the clinical quality and safety of 
services and ensuring the quality aspects of 
other organisational risks are apparent and 
addressed.

The Caldicott Guardian is a strategic, advisory 
and facilitative role with the aim that the 
practice of NHS Kernow and its employees 
will comply with high practical standards 
for handling patient information. The chief 
nursing officer holds the role of Caldicott 
Guardian for NHS Kernow.

The senior information risk officer provides 
focus for the management of information risk 
at Governing Body level. The chief finance 
officer holds this role.

The head of corporate governance provides 
a formal lead on corporate risk management 
across the organisation and is responsible for 
ensuring implementation of the corporate 
risk register and assurance framework and 
reporting on this.

The corporate governance team provide NHS 
Kernow with advice and support on security 
and health and safety and are responsible for 
identifying risks arising from claims as they 
progress and ensuring that these are brought 
to the attention of the head of corporate 
governance.

The head of information governance provides 
advice and support on issues and risk arising 
from the management of information.

The complaints manager is responsible for 
identifying risks arising from complaints and 
ensuring these are brought to the attention of 
the head of corporate governance.

The local counter fraud specialist (LCFS) 
provides staff with advice and support in 
accordance with the NHS counter fraud 
authority strategy and carries out national 
and local work to raise awareness and reduce 
the likelihood and impact of fraud. They 
investigate suspected cases of fraud and 
corruption in accordance with NHS counter 
fraud authority guidance. Where system 
weaknesses are identified these will be 
reported to NHS Kernow, internal and external 
audit as appropriate. 
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The local security management specialist 
provides advice and support and carries out 
work to raise awareness and to help deliver a 
safe and secure environment.

All staff are required to undertake mandatory 
training, which includes:

• fire safety awareness
• data security awareness
• equality, diversity and human rights
• health and safety
• infection control
• safeguarding 
• moving and handling

Throughout the pandemic every effort has 
been made to ensure staff remain compliant 
with their mandatory training requirements. 
However, for certain staff who have been 
supporting frontline services or had specific 
roles to play during the pandemic, some 
training requirements have been relaxed.

Information and advice on subjects such 
as incident reporting, counter-fraud and 
information governance has been included in 
staff bulletins throughout the year, including 
signposting to relevant policies. There are also 
sections on the staff intranet on these subjects 
as well as others.

We have a robust whistleblowing policy in 
place which is available to all staff and includes 
details how to raise a concern internally and 
how to seek independent advice. The vice chair 
is the Governing Body lead for whistleblowing 
and the audit committee receives regular 
updates on this matter. Information and advice 
on whistleblowing has been included in staff 
bulletins during the year, as well as featuring 
on the staff intranet.

During the past 12 months our internal 
auditors, TIAA, have reviewed governance 
structures in several areas, including conflicts 
of interest, risk and assurance management 
and financial control. The outcomes of those 
audits are listed in the head of internal audit’s 
opinion. Where recommendations were made 
these have been followed up internally, with 
progress reported to and monitored by the 
audit committee at each meeting.

Our committees and the Governing Body 
receive frequent and regular information 
from our finance, corporate governance, 
business intelligence, performance, people and 
organisational development and quality teams 
which allow them to assess risks to compliance 
with statutory obligations. 

The Governing Body has oversight across 
all statutory obligations and has formally 
delegated responsibility to the committees 
to provide assurance to them on the CCGs 
performance.

Risk assessment 

At the end of 2020 to 2021, we had 18 red 
rated corporate risks. By the end of the year 
the total had decreased to 16.
 
Several of the current red risks were also 
identified as red risks in 2020 to 2021. These 
relate to:

• waiting times in emergency departments
• ambulance response times and handovers 
• stroke 
• pandemic influenza
• cancer waiting times
• waiting times for planned treatment 

https://doclibrary-kccg.cornwall.nhs.uk/DocumentsLibrary/KernowCCG/ManagingStaff/Policies/WhistleblowingPolicy.pdf
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Additional red risks were either identified since 31 March 2021 (for example health assessments 
for children looked after) or escalated during the year (for example risks on mental health 
services for children and young people). The red risks are detailed below.

Risk 4120
RCHT is unable to see and treat, admit, discharge people attending their emergency department 
in a timely and effective manner. This impacts on patient safety and experience as well as 
resulting in a breach of a constitutional standard (4 hour maximum wait in the emergency 
department).

Controls and actions Assurance
Work continues to try to reduce waits and 
improve flow through the hospitals. This 
includes commissioning additional capacity 
outside acute hospitals and help within 
the hospitals and the community to reduce 
avoidable admissions and support timely 
discharges. Incident command approach with 
frequent operational, tactical and strategic 
calls and agreed actions.

System pressures are discussed throughout 
each week at operational, tactical and 
strategic calls. Performance against national 
and local expectations is monitored by the 
commissioning leads and reported through 
our finance and performance committee. Our 
quality committee also seeks assurance that 
the safety of patients is being prioritised.

Risk 6067
UHP is unable to see and treat, admit, discharge people attending their emergency department 
in a timely and effective manner and move closer to achievement of the constitutional standard 
of a 4 hour maximum wait in the emergency department. This impacts on patient safety and 
experience as well as resulting in a breach of a constitutional standard.

Controls and actions Assurance
Work continues to try to reduce waits and 
improve flow through the hospitals. This has 
included changes to operating procedures and 
recruitment at UHP. 

System pressures are discussed throughout 
each week at operational, tactical and 
strategic calls. Performance against national 
and local expectations is monitored by the 
commissioning leads and reported through 
our finance and performance committee. Our 
quality committee also seeks assurance that 
the safety of patients is being prioritised.

Risk 4108
Ambulance turnaround at RCHT and UHP falls outside national expectations putting patient care 
at risk and resulting in failure of a key target. 

Controls and actions Assurance
As well as the work mentioned above, in risk 
4120, our providers strive to try to minimise 
the impact of delays and keep patients safe. 
This includes clinical review of patients waiting 
in ambulances, checks and revisions to patient 
flow and regular discussion at incident co-
ordination calls. In addition, there has been 
increased investment and business continuity 
plans have been enacted in response to 
pressures on the system. 

System pressures are discussed throughout 
each week at operational, tactical and 
strategic calls. Performance against national 
and local expectations is monitored by the 
commissioning leads and reported through 
our finance and performance committee. Our 
quality committee also seeks assurance that 
the safety of patients is being prioritised. 
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Risk 4948
SWASFT do not achieve the national ambulance response times leading to unassessed clinical 
risk, poor patient safety or experience, and reputational harm.

Controls and actions Assurance
As well as the work mentioned above, in risk 
4120, additional investment has been made 
and business continuity plans enacted in 
response to pressures on the system.

System pressures are discussed throughout 
each week at operational, tactical and 
strategic calls. Performance against national 
and local expectations is monitored by the 
commissioning leads and reported through 
our finance and performance committee. Our 
quality committee also seeks assurance that 
the safety of patients is being prioritised.

Risk 5001
Inconsistent implementation of the stroke pathway from prevention, response and treatment to 
aftercare could result in poor outcomes for patients, as well as non-achievement of best practice 
for stroke indicators.

Controls and actions Assurance
Pressures across the system have had an 
impact on the performance of the stroke 
pathway. The work referred to above, in risk 
4120, aims to ease this pressure. In addition, 
recruitment drives for posts on the stroke 
pathway have continued. 

Performance against national and local 
expectations is monitored by local stroke 
partnership meeting, commissioning leads 
and is reported through our finance and 
performance committee. Our quality 
committee also seeks assurance that the safety 
of patients is being prioritised.

Risk 10680
Stacking of category 2, category 3 and category 4 jobs on the SWASFT call stack outside of 
national thresholds due to the unavailability of resources and/or high demand could affect 
patient safety, patient experience, staff morale and performance. This is a SWASFT system risk 
that all CCGs have been asked to include in their risk register.

Controls and actions Assurance
As well as the work referred to above, in risk 
4120, additional investment has been made 
and business continuity plans enacted in 
response to pressures on the system.

System pressures are discussed throughout 
each week at operational, tactical and 
strategic calls. This risk is also overseen by the 
finance and performance committee and the 
quality committee.
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Risk 10677
An influenza pandemic occurs which results in service disruption with significantly increased 
service demands and reduced levels of staffing as well as increased mortality. The UK National 
Risk Register (Cabinet Office) describes this as high risk. There is no known way to prevent new 
pandemic strains from evolving so the mitigation of risk focuses on response.

Controls and actions Assurance
In addition to national elements such as the 
national pandemic flu service we have a 
business continuity plan and pandemic flu 
plan in place. CCG representatives take part in 
multi-disciplinary planning events, including 
horizon scanning and learning lessons. Lessons 
learnt from the system response to the 
COVID-19 pandemic have informed and will 
continue to inform our plans.

We complete an annual assurance return on 
our emergency preparedness, resilience, and 
response. This is reviewed by our people and 
organisational governance committee and 
submitted to NHSEI.

Risk 10706
The CCG and providers are unable to restore elective inpatient and day case activity to the 
levels being set out in the draft national guidance and required by national guidance following 
COVID-19 and subsequently are unable to restore and improve performance against national 
referral to treatment and 52 week wait targets which impacts on patient safety and experience, 
performance and reputation.

Controls and actions Assurance
Work to ease system pressures (such as that 
referred to above in risk 4120) will improve 
performance for elective care. Processes have 
been implemented to monitor people who are 
waiting and identify those at particular risk. 
Capacity across the system has been increased 
including use of the independent sector and 
primary care.

Referral to treatment waiting times are 
monitored by commissioning leads and 
through the system planned care board as well 
as our finance and performance committee. 
Our quality committee also seeks assurance on 
patient safety in this context. 

Risks 10710 and 10711
RCHT (10710) and UHP (10711) fail to consistently achieve the national cancer performance 
targets (62 day, 31 day and 2 week waits) resulting in harm to patients, poor performance and 
harm to reputation.

Controls and actions Assurance
Work to ease system pressures (such as that 
referred to above in risk 4120) will improve 
performance for cancer care. Some specialties 
are meeting expectations while others are not, 
and actions have been undertaken to identify 
the causes of this. Ongoing efforts to recruit 
are a key to mitigation.

Performance is reviewed through local and 
system operational cancer group meetings as 
well as through the system planned care board 
and our finance and performance committee. 
Our quality committee also seeks assurance on 
patient safety in this area. 
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Risk 10796
The CCG are unable to commission sufficient in-patient and outpatient neurorehabilitation 
services within the county.

Controls and actions Assurance
Medical cover arrangements have been 
confirmed for the existing service and 
recruitment has been completed. This risk is 
expected to reduce in score when it is next 
updated. 

Regular updates on this risk are provided to 
the quality committee and the finance and 
performance committee.

Risk 4916
Risk to patient safety and experience, including delay to transfers of care, due to gaps in 
response for young people with mental health crisis at a system level.

Controls and actions Assurance
Locums are in place and recruitment is 
underway. A review has been carried out of 
the use of section 136 to look at alternatives 
and to gain young peoples views on managing 
crisis. Working with social care, acute care and 
child and adolescent mental health services to 
plan a future model of care.

Regular updates on this risk are provided to 
the quality committee and the finance and 
performance committee.

Risk 7058 
Surge in admissions to secondary care for children with eating disorder, following impact 
of COVID-19 on the mental health of children and young people. This reflects a more than 
doubling of demand into the eating disorder pathway for children. People with an eating 
disorder who are 16 and 17 years old and require an inpatient stay on a medical ward do not get 
the same delivery of care as if they were on a paediatric ward although they are included in the 
NICE children and young people community eating disorder service pathway.

Controls and actions Assurance
Additional investment during 2021 to 2022 
with increased clinics and recruitment. Support 
in the community to reduce admission length 
and avoid unplanned admissions. 

Regular updates on this risk are provided to 
the quality committee.

Risk 10806
NHS Kernow will not be able to meet their corporate parenting responsibilities due to delays in 
the completion of statutory health assessments for children looked after.

Controls and actions Assurance
Additional resource agreed and recruitment 
completed to increase capacity. 

Performance is monitored at meetings every 
6 weeks. In addition the quality committee 
receives regular updates. 
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Risk 10807
NHS Kernow will not achieve the national targets for delivery of annual health checks for people 
with a serious mental illness, leading to failure to effectively support the health needs of this 
patient group. Consequences could include reduced service quality, increased health inequalities 
and harm to reputation.

Controls and actions Assurance
Work has been undertaken to improve 
the quality of the information available on 
provision of these health checks. Tools to allow 
remote health checks are being procured and 
rolled out and conversations are ongoing 
about other ways to improve performance.

Regular updates on this risk are provided to 
the finance and performance committee and 
the quality committee.

1 red risk is considered confidential due to containing sensitive information, because of this it is 
not detailed here. It is discussed by committees and the Governing Body in private.

Other sources of assurance 

Internal control framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place to ensure we deliver 
our policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to identify and prioritise the risks, evaluate the 
likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage 
them efficiently, effectively and economically.

As a system of internal control only allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than 
eliminating all risk, it can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.

In addition to the risk management processes previously identified, we also have a GBAF 
in place. This provides a strategic level of assurance underpinned by a matrix of supporting 
structures and processes.

The GBAF contains high impact risks, known as principal risks, aligned to the organisational 
objectives. It covers all our core business. Each principal risk includes key controls (things which 
should be in place to prevent occurrence), an assessment on the adequacy of those controls, and 
actions required to address any gaps in those controls. In addition, multiple sources of assurance 
are mapped against each principal risk, these are essentially indicators to provide the Governing 
Body with information on how well the risk is being controlled. 

Our committee structures and responsibilities (set out above) ensure regular scrutiny and review 
of key reports on financial performance, achievement of national and local ambitions and 
objectives around performance and quality of services, review of audit reports, risk registers and 
indicators such as training uptake, sickness absence and staff turnover.

The GBAF is reviewed and reported to the Governing Body at least 3 times a year. The audit 
committee also receives GBAF reports. The GBAF was reported to Governing Body on 5 April 
2022 and is summarised below. The summary incorporates amendments agreed at subsequent 
committee meetings. 

https://doclibrary-kccg.cornwall.nhs.uk/DocumentsLibrary/KernowCCG/OurOrganisation/GoverningBodyMeetings/2122/202112/GB2122094GoverningBodyAssuranceFramework.pdf
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Strategic objective 1: Improve health and wellbeing and reduce inequalities

Principal risk Initial 
risk score 

Current 
risk score 

Tolerance Gap Rating of 
key controls

NHS Kernow and system partners 
do not work together to actively 
reduce health inequalities in the 
services we offer.

16 16 12 4 • Green
• Green
• Amber
• Red
• Red

Public health colleagues have been heavily involved with the COVID-19 response. Reducing 
inequalities in access and outcome is a key priority for the ICB. Developing priorities for the 
coming year will take account of the recently published health and wellbeing strategy and the 
population health management work already underway.

Strategic objective 2: Safe, high quality, timely and compassionate care

Principal risk Initial 
risk score 

Current 
risk score 

Tolerance Gap Rating of 
key controls

Partners do not deliver safe and 
clinically effective care.

20 20 9 11 • Green
• Green
• Green
• Green
• Green
• Amber

Partners are unable to consistently 
and sustainably deliver timely access 
to care.

20 20 9 11 • Green
• Green
• Amber
• Amber
• Amber 

Partners do not deliver a positive 
experience of care

12 16 12 4 • Green
• Green
• Green
• Green
• Green
• Amber

This strategic objective is at risk particularly for timely access to care and has been significantly 
affected by actions necessary because of COVID-19.

Many the CCG’s corporate red risks sit as sources of (negative) assurance on this objective. The 
assurances are frequently deemed strong/reliable as they come from constitutional metrics and 
nationally collected data. There has been positive progress on the number of controls in place 
for each principal risk to this objective. However, the effectiveness of those controls is impacted 
by pressures across the health and care system. System partners continue to work collectively 
and the CCG is putting in place additional services to support more timely discharges from the 
acute and community hospitals. These services also aim to reduce hospital admissions in the 
first place and well as delays occurring in ambulance handovers. Doing so should have a positive 
impact on those individuals waiting for planned surgery. 

https://www.cornwall.gov.uk/media/1buptdxl/hwb-strategy-50648-a4-proof5.pdf
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Strategic objective 3: Working efficiently

Principal risk Initial 
risk score 

Current 
risk score 

Tolerance Gap Rating of 
key controls 

Failure to deliver on 2021 to 2022 
October to March (known as 
H2) financial plan, at CCG and/
or system level, with consequent 
impact on future financial strategy 
development.

15 9 9 0 • Green
• Green
• Red
• Red

The score for this principal risk was reduced by Governing Body in December 2021 to reflect the 
expectations on delivery for 2021 to 2022 and change in the NHS financial regime in 2021 to 
2022 due to COVID-19. The need to fully operationalise plans and to obtain partner agreement 
to key elements put this objective at risk. 

Strategic objective 4: A great place to work

Principal risk Initial 
risk score 

Current 
risk score 

Tolerance Gap Rating of 
key controls

Failure to appropriately manage 
transition to ICS could result in 
poor workforce health, reduced 
staff morale plus inadequate CCG 
capacity or capabilities.

9 9 6 3 • Green
• Green
• Green
• Amber
• Amber

The organisation does not comply 
with core governance or corporate 
requirements and is unable to 
provide the appropriate assurances.

4 4 4 0 • Green
• Green
• Green
• Green
• Amber

Both the principal risks to this objective reflect a focus on transition in their controls and 
assurance sources. The transition arrangements, for staff who will be transferred to the new 
organisation as well as our statutory and corporate responsibilities, have been reported on 
regularly as part of the governance and assurance arrangements agreed. Maintaining workforce 
health and wellbeing following COVID-19 and as we transition to the ICS is a priority for us and 
our system partners.

Strategic objective 5: Infrastructure and capabilities

Principal risk Initial 
risk score 

Current 
risk score 

Tolerance Gap Rating of 
key controls

Ineffective planning and 
preparation, and/or a lack of 
capacity, may impact on the 
transition arrangements for the 
new ICS NHS body, affecting its 
functioning and effectiveness for 
April 2022.

20 16 10 6 • Green
• Green
• Amber
• Amber
• Amber
• Red



2021 to 2022 annual report  | 91

There has been further clarification of the fundamental controls and assurance sources for as 
national guidance has been received. Revised arrangements now in place include input and 
scrutiny from external sources such as NHSEI and TIAA, our internal auditors.

Strategic objective 6: Commissioning of services, taking into account COVID-19 recovery

Principal risk Initial 
risk score 

Current 
risk score 

Tolerance Gap Rating of 
key controls

NHS Kernow and system partners 
are unable to optimise resources 
resulting in constrained capacity 
services, longer waiting times 
and continued health and care 
inequalities.

20 20 10 10 • Green
• Green
• Green
• Amber
• Red

This is a strategic objective and principal risk reflect the changed context to which we and 
the wider health and care system must continue adapt. There is some overlap between this 
entry and those on performance and finance. Gaps relate to the need to fully implement some 
controls and ensure partner agreement.

Annual audit of conflicts of interest management 

The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published June 
2016) requires us to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest management. To 
support this task, NHSEI has published a template audit framework. 

Using this framework our internal auditors (TIAA) carried out their annual internal audit on 
conflicts on interest in February 2022 resulting in a finding of substantial assurance for the fifth 
year running.

The audit assessed our arrangements for handling conflicts as fully compliant:

• regarding overall governance
• in respect of processes for declaring interests and gifts and hospitality
• relating to registers of interests, gifts and hospitality and procurement decisions
• regarding decision making processes and contract monitoring
• in respect of reporting concerns and identifying and managing breaches or non-compliance

1 operational effectiveness matter was raised by the audit, relating to the impact of COVID-19 
on the updating of declarations of interest and plans are in place to address this. 
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Data quality

Our data quality policy sets out a clear 
framework for maintaining and improving 
data quality. We receive regular information 
from service providers which is used to monitor 
the performance of contracts and to contribute 
to the planning and development of services. 

Service providers are required to carry out 
checks to ensure that the information they 
provide is accurate and complete. Where 
data falls outside anticipated ranges a 
more detailed evaluation and validation is 
carried out, either by the provider or by our 
organisation. 

Regular meetings and discussions are held 
with major providers to ensure that any data 
discrepancies are picked up and any corrections 
are made as required. 

The Governing Body currently has no 
significant concerns regarding the quality of 
data it receives.

Information governance

The NHS information governance framework 
sets the processes and procedures by which the 
NHS handles information about patients and 
employees, in particular personal identifiable 
information. 

The NHS information governance framework 
is supported by data security and protection 
(DSP) toolkit and the annual submission 
process provides assurances to the CCG, other 
organisations and to individuals that personal 
information is dealt with legally, securely, 
efficiently and effectively.

We submit evidence to demonstrate our 
compliance with of all the mandatory 
assertions expected of CCGs as part of the DSP 
toolkit submission. The deadline for submitting 
evidence for 2021 to 2022 is June 2022. 

Risks to data security are discussed at the 
information governance sub-committee and 
added to the organisational risk register 
for monitoring and mitigation. They can be 
escalated to the people and organisational 
committee, if needed.

We place a very high importance on ensuring 
there are robust information governance 
systems and processes in place to help protect 
patient and corporate information. We have 
an established information governance 
management framework and are continuing 
to develop processes and procedures to ensure 
we remain compliant with the DSP toolkit. 

Systems are in place to ensure all staff 
carry out annual information governance 
training and an information governance 
handbook helps ensure staff are aware of 
their information governance roles and 
responsibilities. Information governance is also 
part of the corporate induction process.

There are policies and processes in place 
for incident reporting and the investigation 
of incidents, which include information 
governance and data security.

Business critical models

We have identified business critical systems 
including those which support our work in 
finance, contracting and business intelligence. 
These are reflected in our business continuity 
plans and information asset management 
processes in line with the data security 
protection toolkit requirements.

Third party assurances

We receive assurances from our third-
party providers via our contract monitoring 
mechanisms. Payroll services are provided by 
RCHT, with regular meetings held to discuss 
the delivery of the service in line with the 
contract and service specification. 
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We also have a contract with Cornwall 
Information Technology Services (CITS) to 
provide services, including end user and system 
application support and system security. A 
management board meets regularly to allow 
discussions regarding service provision.

We receive ledger services from NHS Shared 
Business Services as part of a national contract 
and receive assurances on this.

We use the national electronic staff record 
(ESR) through the NHS Business Services 
Authority and receive assurances on this. 

Primary Care Support England (PCSE) processes 
GP payments and pensions administration on 
behalf of NHSEI. We interact with the PCSE 
because of our role commissioning primary 
medical services. 

Control issues

While we have been able to maintain our 
critical functions and system of internal control 
during the COVID-19 response and recovery, 
the continued impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic means we will not achieve a range 
of required performance targets throughout 
this financial year. 

We are focussing instead on the nationally 
directed operational priorities, with most 
recent priority being given to ensuring we 
make maximum use of our available capacity 
whilst we were in a level 4 incident.

Whilst we have controls in place for managing 
provider performance under normal 
circumstance, including monthly quality 
committee and finance and performance 
committee meetings and supporting processes, 
pressures across the health and social care 
system including the impact of COVID-19 and 
measures needed to prevent its transmission 
have adversely impacted on local capacity and 
performance. 

A range of mitigating actions have been 
deployed to maximise use of existing capacity 
and prioritise access based on risk. 

Review of economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness of the use of 
resources

Financial planning and in-year performance 
monitoring is conducted by our finance and 
performance committee which meets monthly 
and reports to the Governing Body. This area 
is also overseen by the audit committee and 
subject to scrutiny by NHSEI. 

Our financial controls are reviewed by internal 
audit each year. In addition, external audit 
provides independent assurance that the 
annual accounts give a true and fair view 
in accordance with international financial 
reporting standards and the accounting 
policies directed by the NHS Commissioning 
Board with the consent of the Secretary of 
State as relevant to the NHS in England. Their 
reports for 2021 to 2022 have not yet been 
received. 

Our value for money (VFM) assessment is 
subject to formal review as part of the audit 
of the annual accounts carried out by Grant 
Thornton which provides a formal opinion as 
part of their year-end audit. The opinion for 
2021 to 2022 has not yet been received.

Management costs and the use of staffing are 
reviewed and monitored through our finance 
reports to finance and performance committee 
and Governing Body as well as through 
the work of the people and organisational 
governance committee which receives reports 
on staff and vacancies, agency costs and 
sickness absence levels. A resource request 
process is in place to review all recruitment 
and ensure it is appropriately funded and 
effectively planned. 

We are assessed by NHSEI against 4 domains 
under the CCG improvement and assessment 
framework. These cover better care, better 
health, sustainability and leadership. 
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We received our assurance letter for 2020 
to 2021 in July 2021. No specific rating was 
provided due to the impact of COVID-19 across 
the NHS, however the letter was positive, 
with NHSEI noting: “In these exceptional 
times I am grateful for the way the CCG has 
maintained focus and energy, I recognise 
that your leadership team and the entire 
CCG workforce have worked extremely hard, 
at pace, and under challenging conditions. 
People have shown a high degree of flexibility 
and resilience over the past year and I also 
recognise the efforts you have made to 
support staff through a professionally and 
personally challenging time whilst also 
preparing for the future”.

We will continue to work with our health and 
care partners to focus on the areas which will 
make the most difference, modernise services 
and deliver services which we can sustain 
financially

Delegation of functions

In accordance with joint commissioning 
arrangements with other CCGs (see section 
5.12 of our Constitution), we are part of a joint 
commissioning committee of 9 CCGs within the 
southwest for emergency ambulance services. 
Formal arrangements, including Governing 
Body approval and agreed terms of reference 
for the ambulance joint commissioning 
committee, are in place. 

Counter fraud arrangements

We are provided with support in this area 
by TIAA, who also provide our internal audit 
function. An accredited LCFS is contracted to 
undertake counter fraud work proportionate 
to identified risks in line with the government 
functional standard 013: counter fraud and the 
guidance of the NHS counter fraud authority. 
The LCFS is an invited attendee of audit 
committee and counter fraud is a standing 
item on the audit committee agenda.

Our audit committee receives and approves the 
LCFS proactive work plan to address identified 
risks. The committee then receives regular 
reports which detail progress against the work 
plan, including information on any ongoing 
investigations. All counter fraud issues are 
covered in the ISA240 letters to external audit 
signed by the chief finance officer and the 
chair of the audit committee.

The chief finance officer is the Governing Body 
member with responsibility for tackling fraud, 
bribery and corruption.

Head of internal audit opinion

Following completion of the planned 
audit work for the financial year, the head 
of internal audit issued an independent 
and objective opinion on the adequacy 
and effectiveness of our system of risk 
management, governance and internal control. 

The head of internal audit opinion for 2021 
to 2022 states that “reasonable assurance 
can be given that there is a generally sound 
system of internal control, designed to meet 
the organisation’s objectives, and that controls 
are generally being applied consistently. 
However, some weaknesses in the design and/
or inconsistent application of controls, put the 
achievement of particular objectives at risk”.

During the year, internal audit issues the audit 
reports below.

Substantial assurance

• NHS mandated conflicts of interest.
• Safeguarding: looked after children.
• Key financial controls.

Reasonable assurance

• Emergency and business continuity planning 
stage 1 and 2.

• ICT cyber security.
• Primary care commissioning and contracting
• Payroll and human resources.
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Limited assurance

Not assigned as follow up review or 
advisory

• Transition to ICS phase 1.
• Follow up.

In addition a planned audit on transition to 
ICS (phase 2) has been deferred to quarter 1 of 
2021 to 2022.

To be confirmed as yet to complete:

• assurance framework and risk management

Review of the effectiveness of 
governance, risk management 
and internal control

My review of the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control is informed by 
the work of the internal auditors, executive 
managers and clinical leads within the CCG 
who have responsibility for the development 
and maintenance of the internal control 
framework. I have drawn on performance 
information available to me. My review is also 
informed by comments made by the external 
auditors in their annual audit letter and other 
reports. 

Our GBAF provides evidence that the 
effectiveness of controls which manage the 
risks that could prevent is achieving our 
strategic objectives have been reviewed. 

I have been advised on the implications of 
the result of this review by the Governing 
Body, audit committee, the finance 
and performance, quality, primary care 
commissioning and people and organisational 
governance committees, as well as internal 
audit. During 2021 to 2022 a considerable 
number of internal audits have resulted in 
findings of reasonable or substantial assurance 
on the effectiveness of our systems and 
processes.

Conclusion

2021 to 2022 saw continued challenges across 
the health and care system and required 
us to persist with our internal effort, re-
aligning capacity and changing ways of 
working. Throughout this, we maintained our 
governance framework and system of internal 
control, working hard to meet the needs of the 
system and the organisation. 

2022 to 2023 will bring changes as we move 
through transition into an ICS. We will 
continue our work as an organisation and as a 
system with partners across health and social 
care to work together, identify issues and take 
corrective action to ensure we commission 
quality, sustainable services for the population 
of Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly.

Kate Shields
Accountable officer
31 August 2022
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Remuneration report 

Remuneration committee 

Members of this committee are appointed from the organisation’s Governing Body. 

The committee comprises:

• 1 Governing Body lay member (with a nominated alternate)
• 1 Governing Body GP (with a nominated alternate who must be fully briefed and able to 

operate with full authority over any issue arising at the meeting)
• 1 Governing Body clinical member (with a nominated alternate)

The lay member is the chair of the committee. In the absence of the chair of the committee, the 
committee will be chaired by the Governing Body GP member.

The chief officer, chief operating officer, deputy director of corporate governance and head of 
people and organisational development may be required to attend, but do not have a vote.

Policy on the remuneration of senior managers 

The remuneration of our directors is consistent with the NHS England CCG’s remuneration 
guidance for chief officers and chief finance officers. All proposals and decisions regarding VSMs 
are considered by the remuneration committee whose primary function is to fulfil its obligation 
with respect to remuneration and terms of service for the chief officer, directors, other VSMs, 
Governing Body members and clinical leads as outlined in the Constitution.

We also carry out benchmarking with other CCGs to ensure fairness and consistency and take 
into account remuneration of colleagues across the organisation. 

Remuneration of very senior managers

Governing Body GP members are engaged by NHS Kernow on a part time basis. The full-time 
equivalent salary exceeds £150,000. The remuneration for GPs is paid in line with the NHS 
England guidance for CCG Governing Body members: role outlines, attributes and skills which 
states that remuneration should be either at a rate commensurate with allowing backfill or in 
line with local sessional rate. Governing Body GPs are paid a fee in line with this guidance. This 
rate has remained unchanged since 2013.
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Salaries and allowances tables

Employee benefits 2021 to 2022

Admin

Employee benefits Permanent 
employees

£’000

Other
£’000

Total
£’000

Salaries and wages 6,753 472 7,225
Social security costs 765 4 769
Employer contributions to the NHS pension scheme 1,545 6 1,551
Other pension costs 2 0 2
Apprenticeship levy 43 0 43
Gross employee benefits expenditure 9,108 482 9,590

Programme

Employee benefits Permanent 
employees

£’000

Other
£’000

Total
£’000

Salaries and wages 3,928 391 4,319
Social security costs 452 35 487
Employer contributions to the NHS pension scheme 500 0 500
Other pension costs 5 0 5
Apprenticeship levy 0 0 0
Gross employee benefits expenditure 4,885 426 5,311

Total

Employee benefits Permanent 
employees

£’000

Other
£’000

Total
£’000

Salaries and wages 10,681 863 11,544
Social security costs 1,217 39 1,256
Employer contributions to the NHS pension scheme 2,045 6 2,051
Other pension costs 7 - 7
Apprenticeship levy 43 - 43
Gross employee benefits expenditure 13,993 908 14,901
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Employee benefits 2020 to 2021

Admin

Employee benefits Permanent 
employees

£’000

Other
£’000

Total
£’000

Salaries and wages 5,813 825 6,638
Social security costs 656 (0) 656
Employer contributions to the NHS pension scheme 1,307 0 1,307
Other pension costs 2 0 2
Apprenticeship levy 34 0 34
Termination benefits 0 0 0
Gross employee benefits expenditure 7,812 825 8,637

Progra mme

Employee benefits Permanent 
employees

£’000

Other
£’000

Total
£’000

Salaries and wages 3,534 131 3,665
Social security costs 327 0 327
Employer contributions to the NHS pension scheme 422 0 422
Other pension costs 4 0 4
Apprenticeship levy 0 0 0
Termination benefits 0 0 0
Gross employee benefits expenditure 4,287 131 4,418

Total

Employee benefits Permanent 
employees

£’000

Other
£’000

Total
£’000

Salaries and wages 9,347 956 10,303
Social security costs 983 (0) 983
Employer contributions to the NHS pension scheme 1,729 0 1,729
Other pension costs 6 0 6
Apprenticeship levy 34 0 34
Termination benefits 0 0 0
Gross employee benefits expenditure 12,099 956 4,418
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Remuneration of senior managers is decided by the remuneration committee. The remuneration 
committee is comprised of the chairman and 3 lay members of NHS Kernow. Levels of 
remuneration are considered by the remuneration committee and take account of the size 
of the organisation and the complexity of the operational circumstances it operates within. 
Benchmarking against other organisations is also considered in setting remuneration levels.

Note 1
Helen Charlesworth-May is a joint appointment between NHS Kernow and Cornwall Council 
under the provisions of section 113 Local Government Act 1972 (with the costs being shared 
equally). This joint appointment incorporates the functions of NHS Kernow’s accountable 
officer and the council’s strategic director for adult social care. She remains employed by the 
council: Remuneration disclosed in the table above represents NHS Kernow’s share of the 
costs. Helen Charlesworth-May is a member of the local government pension scheme through 
her employment with Cornwall Council. We therefore are unable to access normal pension 
disclosures for this role.

Note 2
Kate Shields chose not to be covered by the NHS Pensions Scheme arrangements during the 
reporting year.

Note 3
No pensionable remuneration received from NHS Kernow.

Note 4 
Expense payments (taxable) relate to benefits-in-kind arising from salary sacrifice schemes and 
travel expenses. Note these figures are stated in pounds, not thousands of pounds.

Note 5
The NHS Pension scheme is a defined benefit scheme based on earnings. Pension related 
benefits are based on a nominal calculations of the accrued increase in future benefits payable 
in retirement, rather than the cost of contributions in-year. This calculation, which is defined 
nationally, takes account of total increases in benefits over the first twenty years of retirement, 
and so a small change in annual pension entitlement can lead to a significant figure being 
reported in the above table.

Note 6
The remuneration figure disclosed includes additional payment for accrued annual leave that 
was unable to be taken in the year due to responding to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Note 7
A special severance payment of £28,800 was paid to Funding Angels Ltd of which Kate Schroder 
was the sole director. This is disclosed as ‘other fees’ as ultimately she was the sole beneficiary. 
This payment is further disclosed under exit payments (see note 4 on page 126), related 
party transactions (note 17, page 137) and also as a special payment (page 73). Certain special 
payments require HM Treasury approval. The CCG sought but did not receive retrospective HM 
Treasury approval and hence this is classed as an irregular payment.

Note 8
Rachel Wigglesworth is a member of the Governing Body. She is employed by Cornwall Council 
and receives no remuneration from NHS Kernow.
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Note 1         
Helen Charlesworth-May is a joint appointment between NHS Kernow and Cornwall Council 
under the provisions of section 113 Local Government Act 1972. This incorporates the functions 
of NHS Kernow's accountable officer and the council's strategic director for adult social care. 
She remains employed by the council and due to the local government pension scheme 
arrangements disclosures in respect of this post are not available.

Note 2 
Kate Shields chose not to be covered by the NHS pensions scheme arrangements during the 
reporting year.

Note 3 
Due to changes in the NHS pension scheme there is no longer a fixed age at which employees 
become entitled to receive their pension. As a result all figures quoted above relate to the senior 
manager's personal circumstances. From 1 April 2022 all active members of the NHS pension 
scheme will transfer into the 2015 scheme.

Note 4 
Certain Governing Body members do not receive pensionable remuneration and therefore there 
are no entries in respect of pensions for those members.

Note 5
GP Governing Body members are engaged on contracts for service. As a consequence of this 
any pension payments are accounted for as practitioner contributions and are paid via the NHS 
pension scheme’s GP SOLO route. Therefore, no pension benefit figures are provided to the CCG, 
as these are included in the individual’s GP pension. There is 1 exception to this as Dr Francis Old 
is auto enrolled in the NEST (stakeholder) pension scheme. The employer contribution to this 
scheme was £1,439 (2020 to 2021: £1,118).

Note 6
Secondary care clinicians do not receive any pensionable earnings from NHS Kernow and so 
there are no disclosures in respect of their superannuation.

Cash equivalent transfer values 

A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension 
scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the 
members’ accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s pension payable from the scheme.

A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in 
another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to 
transfer the benefit accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the 
benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the 
pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies. Where a 
member has reached the normal retirement age for the scheme that they are a member of then 
there is no CETV. 
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The CETV figure and other pension details, include the value of any pension benefits in 
another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension 
scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result 
of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs 
are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of 
Actuaries. 

NHS Pensions are using pension and lump sum data from their systems without any adjustment 
for a potential future legal remedy required because of the McCloud judgement (a legal case 
concerning age discrimination over the manner in which UK public service pension schemes 
introduced a Career Average Revalued Earnings (CARE) pension scheme in 2015 for all but the 
oldest members who retained a pension based on final salary).

Compensation on early retirement or for loss of office: None. 

Payments to past members: None. 

Pay multiples (audited)

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the 
highest-paid director and member in their organisation and the median remuneration of the 
organisation’s workforce based on full time equivalent salaries. 

Description 2021/2022
£

2020/2021
£

Highest paid director (band mid-point) 202,500 157,500
75th percentile 53,219 51,668
50th percentile (median) 39,027 37,890
25th percentile 25,655 24,157

Ratios change year on year 2021/2022
£

2020/2021
£

Highest paid director 28.57% 3.28%
75th percentile 3.00% 1.67%
50th percentile (median) 3.00% 8.94%
25th percentile 6.20% 1.67%

Ratios to highest paid director 2021/2022
£

2020/2021
£

75th percentile 3.81 3.05
50th percentile (median) 5.19 4.16
25th percentile 7.89 6.52
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Range of remuneration (excluding highest paid director) 2021/2022
£

2020/2021
£

Highest 150,172 158,400
Lowest 13,816 18,005

Note the minimum salary relates to an apprentice. The minimum salary excluding apprentice 
salaries is £20,330 (2020 to 2021: £18,005).

Average salary 2021/2022 2020/2021
Average salary for workforce excluding highest paid director £43,564 £43,045
Average percentage change year on year                1.21%             13.40%

There were no employees who received remuneration in excess of the highest paid director 
or member (2021 to 2022: none). The majority of employees are contracted under standard 
Agenda for Change (AfC) terms and received pay awards in line with the national AfC terms 
and conditions. The staff pay award during 2021 to 2022 was 3%. 

Inflationary uplifts for very senior managers salaries are decided by the remuneration 
committee. Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related 
pay, benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension 
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.

Remuneration of senior managers is considered by the remuneration committee and take 
account of the size of the organisation and the complexity of the operational circumstances 
it operates within, as well as any relevant guidance from NHSEI. Benchmarking against other 
organisations is also considered in setting remuneration levels.

A recommendation is made to the Governing Body to approve. The remuneration committee is 
comprised of the chair and 3 lay members of NHS Kernow. 

No staff received non-consolidated performance related pay during 2021 to 2022 (2020 to 
2021; nil.). As a result, there is only 1 set of pay ratios to disclose.

During 2020 to 2021 NHS Kernow appointed to a joint role of CCG accountable officer 
and system chief executive officer for the Cornwall and Isles of Scilly ICS. The subsequent 
recruitment processes for the establishment of the ICB confirmed a designate appointment as 
ICB chief executive. This is the same person in both roles. 

As noted in the tables above there has been a significant increase in the salary costs of 
the highest paid director. In 2021 to 2022 and 2020 to 2021 the highest paid director was 
the accountable officer. On 15 August 2021 there was change in accountable officer. The 
remuneration was considered by a remuneration committee in line with the national ICB pay 
framework guidance in recognition of the greater breadth of work and responsibility that was 
required in the system leadership role than held by previous NHS Kernow accountable officers. 
The appointment process including remuneration also requires the support and approval of 
NHS England and the DHSC.
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Staff report

Number of senior managers

Pay band Number of senior managers
Band 8a 51
Band 8b 13
Band 8c 13
Band 8d 12
Band 9 3
Very senior managers 8

Staff composition 

Role Male Female
Members of the Governing Body 7 (63%) 4 (37%)
All other senior managers, including all 
managers at grade VSM (not including 
members of the Governing Body) 

24 (24%) 76 (76%)

All other employees not included in 
either of the previous 2 categories

47 (20%) 191 (80%)

Staff turnover

2021 to 2022 2020 to 2021
12.53% 11.64%

People policies 

We are committed to the principles of equality of opportunity and encouraging diversity in the 
workplace. As a Two Ticks employer we offer interviews to any disabled applicants who meet 
the essential criteria for a role and as a Mindful Employer we take a proactive approach to 
support people working with a mental health condition. 

Relationships with trade unions 

Our partnership agreement supports consultation with trades unions in relation to key changes 
in our people policies as well as any significant matters affecting the CCG. We continue to work 
in partnership with trades unions colleagues, and in particular in relation to the transition of 
colleagues to the ICB.

Band 8a

Band 
8b

Band 
8c

Band 
8d

Band 
9

VSM 

Female: 
271

Male: 
78
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Parliamentary accountability and audit report

NHS Kernow is not required to produce a parliamentary accountability and audit report.
Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts, and fees and 
charges are included as notes in the financial statements of this report on pages 72 to 73.

An audit certificate and report are also included in this annual report on page 140.

Staff engagement and experience

This year, our colleagues have demonstrated their commitment, determination, and resistance 
during another extremely challenging year. We know that good engagement and experience is 
fundamental to support this. 

Our colleague-led Staff Voice group has remained active this year, influencing decision making 
and creating an informal and productive environment to share thoughts, feedback and drive 
forward ideas. The agenda for this monthly meeting is shared with the wider colleague group 
to provide an opportunity to feed into the group and attend. All new starters are invited to 
come along to a meeting as part of their induction and we have director commitment to attend 
each meeting. It’s through this group that we developed frequent drop-in sessions to update 
colleagues on our transition into an ICB and developed our approach and policy to allow our 
teams to work in an agile way.

This year we have worked closely with our staff voice group and other colleagues to support 
wellbeing. This work led to the development of an agreed wellbeing charter and support for 
the NHS going home checklist, each have been widely promoted. Continued access to our 
trained mental health first aiders and our employee assistance programme has complimented 
the support of line mangers and teams to support wellbeing while colleagues have worked 
remotely. 

Monthly live team brief online events were introduced last year and continue to receive good 
engagement with colleagues able to influence the topics covered while building relationships 
with our senior leadership team. This continues to be supported by our weekly newsletter and 
other opportunities such as our NHS Kernow bitesize sessions to stay connected to the wider 
organisation while the majority of colleagues continue to work from home. Feedback from the 
national staff survey has also show improvements in the relationships colleagues feel they have 
with senior managers

In 2021, as part of our ongoing to commitment to make NHS Kernow a great place to work, we 
opted to once again take part in the national NHS staff survey with 79% of colleagues opting 
to take part. Our approach is to have open and honest conversations with colleagues about 
our results and the next steps we need to take. The information gathered from these listening 
events following the 2020 survey led to a focus on health and wellbeing and developing 
relationships with senior managers in an ever-virtual world, both of which showed improved 
results in this year’s survey.

In addition to the annual staff survey, we have committed to a quarterly survey which allows us 
to identify changing trends through regular questions which can be compared. It also allows the 
flexibility to assess how we are doing in areas of current importance on an ad hoc basis such as 
how well-informed colleagues feel as we transition into the new ICB. 
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Our 3 greatest engagement achievements in 2021 to 2022

Development of a virtual colleague thank you board
This provides an easy way to send an organisation wide message of 
thanks to an individual or team. The thank you board has received good 
engagement and feedback.

Co-design and development of the agile working policy
The people and organisational development team has worked alongside 
staff voice and engaged with the wider organisation to develop a flexible 
and supportive agile working policy.

Staff survey listening events
Following the 2020 national staff survey results, a number of listening 
events took place. All colleagues were invited to take part and there was 
participation from all parts of the organisation. The events provided safe 
and informal environment to discuss the results and identify ways to improve 
colleague experience. Discussion at these events lead to the development of 
the health and wellbeing charter, quarterly survey and further development 
of team brief. 

CCG colleague engagement 9-year achievements

Some of the biggest achievements during past 9 years has been the way in which staff 
engagement has been developed and supported a culture of ongoing conversation, feedback 
and co-design with staff on anything to do with our work environment. This has been 
particularly evident in the way we have developed our health and wellbeing strategies and 
support for staff where we have worked collaboratively with colleagues to develop tools and 
support based on their feedback. Similarly our approach in other areas such as developing 
people policies and other tools like appraisals is also driven and designed with our colleagues.
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Expenditure on consultancy

NHS Kernow spent £215,000 on consultancy during 2021 to 2022 (2020 to 2021: none).

Off payroll reporting

Length of all highly paid off-payroll engagements

For all off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2022, for more than £245 per day Number
Number of engagements 6
Number that have existed for less than 1 year at time of reporting 6
Number that have existed for between 1 and 2 years at time of reporting 0
Number that have existed for between 2 and 3 years at time of reporting 0
Number that have existed for between 3 and 4 years at time of reporting 0
Number that have existed for 4 or more years at time of reporting 0

Off-payroll workers engaged at any point during the financial year

For all off-payroll engagements between 1 April 2021 and March 2022, for more 
than £245 per day

Number

Number of temporary off-payroll workers engaged between 1 April 2021 and 31 
March 2022
Of which:

21

Number assessed as caught by IR35 0
Number assessed as not caught by IR35 21
Number engaged directly (via personal service company contracted to 
department) and are on the departmental payroll

0

Number of engagements reassessed for consistency or assurance purposes during 
the year

0

Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status following the 
consistency review

0

Off-payroll board member or senior official engagements

Description Number
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officials 
with significant financial responsibility, during the financial year

0

Number of individuals that have been deemed board members, and/or senior 
officials with significant financial responsibility, during the financial year. This 
figure includes both off-payroll and on-payroll engagements 

21
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SECTION 3 

FINANCIAL ACCOUNTS
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Statement of comprehensive net expenditure for 
the year ended 31 March 2022
Description Note 2021 to 2022

£’000
2020 to 2021

£’000
Income from sale of goods and services 2 (8,365) (7,787)
Other operating income 2 (23) (42)
Total operating income (8,388) (7,829)
Staff costs 4 14,901 13,055
Purchase of goods and services 5 1,145,608 1,012,021
Depreciation and impairment charges 5 124 122
Provision expense 5 316 222
Other operating expenditure 5 6,716 875
Total operating expenditure 1,167,665 1,026,295
Comprehensive expenditure for the year 1,159,277 1,018,466

Statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022
Description Note 2021 to 2022

£’000
2020 to 2021

£’000
Non-current asset: Property, plant and equipment 8 276 247
Total non-current assets 276 247
Current assets: Inventories - 5
Current assets: Trade and other receivables 9 13,084 7,935
Current assets: Cash and cash equivalents (0) 0
Total non-current assets 13,084 7,940
Total assets (non-current assets plus current assets) 13,360 8,187
Current liabilities: Trade and other payables 10 (59,358) (64,609)
Current liabilities: Borrowings 11 (2,796) (2,562)
Current liabilities: Provisions 12 (271) (267)
Total current liabilities (62,425) (67,438)
Non-current assets plus, less net current assets and 
liabilities

(62,425) (67,438)

Non-current liabilities: Provisions 12 (271) (177)
Assets less liabilities (49,336) (59,428)
Financed by taxpayers’ equity: General fund (49,336) (59,428)

The financial statements on pages 114 to 139 were approved by the Governing Body on 31 
August 2022 and signed on its behalf by:   
   
 
  

Kate Shields
Chief accountable officer
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Statement of changes in taxpayers equity for the 
year ended 31 March 2022
Changes in taxpayers’ equity 2021 to 2022

£’000
2020 to 2021

£’000
Balance at 1 April (59,428) (47,515)
Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from 
closed NHS bodies

0 0

Adjusted NHS CCG balance at 31 March 2021 (59,428) (47,515)
Changes in NHS CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2021 to 2022: Net 
operating expenditure for the financial year

(1,159,277) (1,018,466)

Net funding 1,169,369 1,006,553
Balance at 31 March (49,336) (59,428)

The notes on pages 116 to 139 form part of this statement.

Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 
March 2022
Description Note 2021 to 2022

£’000
2020 to 2021

£’000
Cash flows from operating activities: Net operating 
expenditure for the financial year

(1,159,277) (1,018,466)

Cash flows from operating activities: Depreciation and 
amortisation

5 124 122

Cash flows from operating activities: (Increase) or 
decrease in inventories

5 0

Cash flows from operating activities: (Increase) or 
decrease in trade and other receivables

9 (5,149) 333

Cash flows from operating activities: Increase or 
(decrease) in trade and other payables

10 (5,251) 11,955

Cash flows from operating activities: Provisions 
utilised

12 (218) (185)

Cash flows from operating activities: Increase or 
(decrease) in provisions

12 316 222

Net cash Inflow (outflow) from operating activities (1,169,450) (1,006,019)
Cash flows from investing activities: (Payments) for 
property, plant and equipment

(153) (148)

Net cash inflow (outflow) before financing (1,169,603) (1,006,167)
Cash flows from financing activities: Grant in aid 
funding received

1,169,369 1,006,553

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (234) 386

The notes on 116 to 139 form part of this statement.
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Notes to the financial statements
1. Accounting policies

NHS England has directed that the financial 
statements of CCGs shall meet the accounting 
requirements of the Group Accounting Manual 
(GAM) issued by the DHSC. Consequently, 
the following financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the GAM 2021 
to 2022 issued by the DHSC. The accounting 
policies contained in the GAM follow 
International financial reporting standards 
to the extent that they are meaningful and 
appropriate to CCGs, as determined by HM 
Treasury, which is advised by the financial 
reporting advisory board. Where the GAM 
permits a choice of accounting policy, the 
accounting policy which is judged to be most 
appropriate to the particular circumstances of 
the CCG for the purpose of giving a true and 
fair view has been selected. The particular 
policies adopted by the CCG are described 
below. They have been applied consistently 
in dealing with items considered material in 
relation to the accounts.
 
1.1. Going concern

These accounts have been prepared on a going 
concern basis.

The Health and Social Care Bill received Royal 
Assent on 28 April 2022 and is now an Act of 
Parliament. The Act establishes ICBs across 
England on 1 July 2022 and abolishes CCGs. 
ICBs will take on the commissioning functions 
of CCGs from 1 July 2022. On this date the 
CCG’s functions, assets and liabilities will 
transfer to NHS Cornwall and Isles of Scilly ICB.

Public sector bodies are assumed to be 
going concerns where the continuation of 
the provision of a service in the future is 
anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of 
financial provision for that service in published 
documents.

In the circumstances outlined above the 
CCG considers that the preparation of these 
accounts under the ‘going concern’ basis is 
appropriate.
 

1.2. Accounting convention

These accounts have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention modified to account 
for the revaluation of property, plant and 
equipment, intangible assets, inventories and 
certain financial assets and financial liabilities.
 
1.3. Movement of Assets within the 
DHSC group

As public sector bodies are deemed to 
operate under common control, business 
reconfigurations within the DHSC group 
are outside the scope of IFRS 3 business 
combinations. Where functions transfer 
between 2 public sector bodies, the DHSC 
GAM requires the application of absorption 
accounting. Absorption accounting requires 
that entities account for their transactions in 
the period in which they took place, with no 
restatement of performance required when 
functions transfer within the public sector. 
Where assets and liabilities transfer, the gain 
or loss resulting is recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive net expenditure, and is 
disclosed separately from operating costs.

Other transfers of assets and liabilities within 
the DHSC group are accounted for in line with 
IAS 20 and similarly give rise to income and 
expenditure entries.

1.4. Joint arrangements

Arrangements over which the CCG has joint 
control with one or more other entities are 
classified as joint arrangements. Joint control is 
the contractually agreed sharing of control of 
an arrangement. A joint arrangement is either 
a joint operation or a joint venture.

A joint operation exists where the parties that 
have joint control have rights to the assets 
and obligations for the liabilities relating to 
the arrangement. Where the CCG is a joint 
operator it recognises its share of, assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses in its own 
accounts.
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A joint venture is a joint arrangement 
whereby the parties that have joint control 
of the arrangement have rights to the net 
assets of the arrangement. Joint ventures are 
recognised as an investment and accounted for 
using the equity method.
 
1.5. Pooled budgets

The CCG has pooled budget arrangements 
under section 75 of the NHS Act 2006 and 
accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, 
income and expenditure arising from the 
activities of the pooled budget, identified 
in accordance with the pooled budget 
agreement.

The CCG has considered this arrangement with 
reference to IFRS 11 joint arrangements and 
considers that the substance of the section 
75 arrangement, under which the funds are 
pooled, reflects a joint operation.
 
In line with the requirements of IFRS11: joint 
arrangements the CCG recognises the:
 
• assets the CCG controls
• liabilities the CCG incurs
• expenses the CCG incurs
• CCG’s share of the income from the pooled 

budget activities
 
Information relating to pooled budget 
arrangements is included at note 16 to these 
accounts.

1.6. Revenue

In the application of IFRS 15 a number of 
practical expedients offered in the standard 
have been employed. These are as follows:

• As per paragraph 121 of the standard the 
CCG will not disclose information regarding 
performance obligations part of a contract 
that has an original expected duration of 1 
year or less

• the CCG is to similarly not disclose 
information where revenue is recognised in 
line with the practical expedient offered in 
paragraph B16 of the standard where the 
right to consideration corresponds directly 
with value of the performance completed to 
date

• the financial reporting manual has mandated 
the exercise of the practical expedient 
offered in C7(a) of the standard that requires 
the CCG to reflect the aggregate effect of all 
contracts modified before the date of initial 
application

 
The main source of funding for the CCG is from 
NHS England. This is drawn down and credited 
to the general fund. Funding is recognised in 
the period in which it is received.
 
Revenue in respect of services provided 
is recognised when (or as) performance 
obligations are satisfied by transferring 
promised services to the customer, and is 
measured at the amount of the transaction 
price allocated to that performance obligation.

Where income is received for a specific 
performance obligation that is to be satisfied 
in the following year, that income is deferred.

Payment terms are standard reflecting cross 
government principles. The CCG operates a 
30 day payment policy in line with the ‘better 
payment practice’ code, unless other terms are 
agreed.
 
The value of the benefit received when the 
CCG accesses funds from the government’s 
apprenticeship service are recognised as 
income in accordance with IAS 20, accounting 
for government grants. Where these funds are 
paid directly to an accredited training provider, 
non-cash income and a corresponding non-
cash training expense are recognised, both 
equal to the cost of the training funded.
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1.7. Employee benefits

1.7.1. Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related 
payments, including payments arising from 
the apprenticeship levy, are recognised in the 
period in which the service is received from 
employees, including bonuses earned but not 
yet taken.

The cost of leave earned but not taken 
by employees at the end of the period is 
recognised in the financial statements to the 
extent that employees are permitted to carry 
forward leave into the following period.
 
1.7.2. Retirement benefit costs

Past and present employees are covered by 
the provisions of the NHS pensions schemes. 
These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit 
schemes that cover NHS employers, General 
practices and other bodies allowed under the 
direction of the Secretary of State in England 
and Wales. The schemes are not designed 
to be run in a way that would enable NHS 
bodies to identify their share of the underlying 
scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the 
schemes are accounted for as if they were 
a defined contribution scheme; the cost 
recognised in these accounts represents the 
contributions payable for the year. Details of 
the benefits payable under these provisions 
can be found on the NHS Pensions website. 

For early retirements other than those due to 
ill health the additional pension liabilities are 
not funded by the scheme. The full amount of 
the liability for the additional costs is charged 
to expenditure at the time the CCG commits 
itself to the retirement, regardless of the 
method of payment.
 
The schemes are subject to a full actuarial 
valuation every 4 years and an accounting 
valuation every year.

1.8. Other expenses

Other operating expenses are recognised 
when, and to the extent that, the goods 
or services have been received. They are 
measured at the fair value of the consideration 
payable.

1.9. Grants payable

Where grant funding is not intended to be 
directly related to activity undertaken by a 
grant recipient in a specific period, the CCG 
recognises the expenditure in the period in 
which the grant is paid. All other grants are 
accounted for on an accruals basis.

1.10. Property, plant and equipment

1.10.1. Recognition

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:

• it is held for use in delivering services or for 
administrative purposes

• it is probable that future economic benefits 
will flow to, or service potential will be 
supplied to the CCG

• it is expected to be used for more than 1 
financial year

• the cost of the item can be measured reliably
• the item has a cost of at least £5,000
• collectively, a number of items have a cost 

of at least £5,000 and individually have a 
cost of more than £250, where the assets 
are functionally interdependent, they had 
broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are 
anticipated to have simultaneous disposal 
dates and are under single managerial 
control

• items form part of the initial equipping and 
setting-up cost of a new building, ward 
or unit, irrespective of their individual or 
collective cost

Where a large asset, for example a building, 
includes a number of components with 
significantly different asset lives, the 
components are treated as separate assets and 
depreciated over their own useful economic 
lives.

http://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions
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1.10.2. Measurement

All property, plant and equipment is measured 
initially at cost, representing the cost directly 
attributable to acquiring or constructing 
the asset and bringing it to the location 
and condition necessary for it to be capable 
of operating in the manner intended by 
management. 

Assets that are held for their service potential 
and are in use are measured subsequently 
at their current value in existing use. Assets 
that were most recently held for their service 
potential but are surplus are measured at 
fair value where there are no restrictions 
preventing access to the market at the 
reporting date

Revaluations are performed with sufficient 
regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are 
not materially different from those that would 
be determined at the end of the reporting 
period. Current values in existing use are 
determined as follows:

• land and non-specialised buildings with 
market value for existing use

• specialised buildings with depreciated 
replacement cost

 
Properties in the course of construction for 
service or administration purposes are carried 
at cost, less any impairment loss. Cost includes 
professional fees but not borrowing costs, 
which are recognised as expenses immediately, 
as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair 
value. Assets are re-valued and depreciation 
commences when they are brought into use.

IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture 
and fittings, and plant and machinery that 
are held for operational use are valued at 
depreciated historic cost where these assets 
have short useful economic lives or low 
values or both, as this is not considered to 
be materially different from current value in 
existing use.

An increase arising on revaluation is taken 
to the revaluation reserve except when it 
reverses an impairment for the same asset 
previously recognised in expenditure, in which 
case it is credited to expenditure to the extent 
of the decrease previously charged there. A 
revaluation decrease that does not result from 
a loss of economic value or service potential 
is recognised as an impairment charged to 
the revaluation reserve to the extent that 
there is a balance on the reserve for the asset 
and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment 
losses that arise from a clear consumption of 
economic benefit are taken to expenditure. 
Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation 
reserve are reported as other comprehensive 
income in the statement of comprehensive net 
expenditure.

1.10.3. Subsequent expenditure

Where subsequent expenditure enhances an 
asset beyond its original specification, the 
directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where 
subsequent expenditure restores the asset to 
its original specification, the expenditure is 
capitalised and any existing carrying value of 
the item replaced is written-out and charged 
to operating expenses.

1.11. Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when 
substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are transferred to the lessee. All 
other leases are classified as operating leases.

1.11.1. The CCG as lessee

Property, plant and equipment held under 
finance leases are initially recognised, at the 
inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, 
at the present value of the minimum lease 
payments, with a matching liability for the 
lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments 
are apportioned between finance charges 
and reduction of the lease obligation so as 
to achieve a constant rate on interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability. Finance 
charges are recognised in calculating the CCG’s 
surplus or deficit.
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Operating lease payments are recognised as an 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term. Lease incentives are recognised initially 
as a liability and subsequently as a reduction 
of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term.

Contingent rentals are recognised as an 
expense in the period in which they are 
incurred.

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the 
land and building components are separated 
and individually assessed as to whether they 
are operating or finance leases.

1.12. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any 
financial institution repayable without penalty 
on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash 
equivalents are investments that mature in 3 
months or less from the date of acquisition and 
that are readily convertible to known amounts 
of cash with insignificant risk of change in 
value.

In the statement of cash flows, cash and 
cash equivalents are shown net of bank 
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and 
that form an integral part of the CCG’s cash 
management.

1.13. Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the CCG has 
a present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that the 
CCG will be required to settle the obligation, 
and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation. The amount 
recognised as a provision is the best estimate 
of the expenditure required to settle the 
obligation at the end of the reporting period, 
taking into account the risks and uncertainties. 
Where a provision is measured using the 
cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, 
and the time value of money is material, its 
carrying amount is the present value of those 
cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as 
follows.

All general provisions are subject to 4 separate 
discount rates according to the expected 
timing of cashflows from the statement of 
financial position date a nominal:

• short-term rate of 0.47% (2020 to 2021: 
-0.02%) for inflation adjusted expected 
cash flows up to and including 5 years from 
statement of financial position date

• medium-term rate of 0.70% (2020 to 2021: 
0.18%) for inflation adjusted expected 
cash flows over 5 years up to and including 
10 years from the statement of financial 
position date

• long-term rate of 0.95% (2020 to 2021 
1.99%) for inflation adjusted expected cash 
flows over 10 years and up to and including 
40 years from the statement of financial 
position date

• very long-term rate of 0.66% (2020 to 2021: 
1.99%) for inflation adjusted expected cash 
flows exceeding 40 years from the statement 
of financial position date

 
When some or all of the economic benefits 
required to settle a provision are expected to 
be recovered from a third party, the receivable 
is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain 
that reimbursements will be received and the 
amount of the receivable can be measured 
reliably.

A restructuring provision is recognised when 
the CCG has developed a detailed formal plan 
for the restructuring and has raised a valid 
expectation in those affected that it will carry 
out the restructuring by starting to implement 
the plan or announcing its main features to 
those affected by it. The measurement of a 
restructuring provision includes only the direct 
expenditures arising from the restructuring, 
which are those amounts that are both 
necessarily entailed by the restructuring and 
not associated with on-going activities of the 
entity.
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1.14. Clinical negligence costs

NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling 
scheme under which the CCG pays an annual 
contribution to NHS Resolution, which in 
return settles all clinical negligence claims. 
The contribution is charged to expenditure. 
Although NHS Resolution is administratively 
responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the 
legal liability remains with the CCG.

1.15. Non-clinical risk pooling

The CCG participates in the property expenses 
scheme and the liabilities to third parties 
scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under 
which the CCG pays an annual contribution 
to the NHS Resolution and, in return, receives 
assistance with the costs of claims arising. The 
annual membership contributions, and any 
excesses payable in respect of particular claims 
are charged to operating expenses as and 
when they become due.

1.16. Contingent liabilities and 
contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation 
that arises from past events and whose 
existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 
uncertain future events not wholly within the 
control of the CCG, or a present obligation that 
is not recognised because it is not probable 
that a payment will be required to settle the 
obligation or the amount of the obligation 
cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A 
contingent liability is disclosed unless the 
possibility of a payment is remote.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that 
arises from past events and whose existence 
will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future 
events not wholly within the control of the 
CCG. A contingent asset is disclosed where an 
inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Where the time value of money is material, 
contingent liabilities and contingent assets are 
disclosed at their present value.

1.17. Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised when the CCG 
becomes party to the financial instrument 
contract or, in the case of trade receivables, 
when the goods or services have been 
delivered. Financial assets are derecognised 
when the contractual rights have expired or 
the asset has been transferred.

Financial assets are classified into the following 
categories:

• amortised cost
• fair value through other comprehensive 

income
• fair value through profit and loss

The classification is determined by the cash 
flow and business model characteristics of 
the financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9, and is 
determined at the time of initial recognition.

1.17.1. Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets measured at amortised cost 
are those held within a business model whose 
objective is achieved by collecting contractual 
cash flows and where the cash flows are 
solely payments of principal and interest. 
This includes most trade receivables and 
other simple debt instruments. After initial 
recognition these financial assets are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method less any impairment. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts through the 
life of the financial asset to the gross carrying 
amount of the financial asset.

1.17.2. Financial assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income

Financial assets held at fair value through 
other comprehensive income are those held 
within a business model whose objective is 
achieved by both collecting contractual cash 
flows and selling financial assets and where 
the cash flows are solely payments of principal 
and interest.
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1.17.3. Financial assets at fair value through 
profit and loss

Financial assets measure at fair value through 
profit and loss are those that are not 
otherwise measured at amortised cost or fair 
value through other comprehensive income. 
This includes derivatives and financial assets 
acquired principally for the purpose of selling 
in the short term.

1.17.4. Impairment

For all financial assets measured at 
amortised cost or at fair value through 
other comprehensive income (except equity 
instruments designated at fair value through 
other comprehensive income), lease receivables 
and contract assets, the CCG recognises a loss 
allowance representing the expected credit 
losses on the financial asset.

The CCG adopts the simplified approach 
to impairment in accordance with IFRS 9, 
and measures the loss allowance for trade 
receivables, lease receivables and contract 
assets at an amount equal to lifetime expected 
credit losses. For other financial assets, the loss 
allowance is measured at an amount equal 
to lifetime expected credit losses if the credit 
risk on the financial instrument has increased 
significantly since initial recognition (stage 
2) and otherwise at an amount equal to 12 
month expected credit losses (stage 1).

HM Treasury has ruled that central government 
bodies may not recognise stage 1 or stage 
2 impairments against other government 
departments, their executive agencies, the 
Bank of England, Exchequer Funds and 
Exchequer Funds assets where repayment 
is ensured by primary legislation. The CCG 
therefore does not recognise loss allowances 
for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against 
these bodies. Additionally DHSC provides a 
guarantee of last resort against the debts of its 
arm’s lengths bodies and NHS bodies and the 
CCG does not recognise allowances for stage 1 
or stage 2 impairments against these bodies. 

For financial assets that have become credit 
impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), 
expected credit losses at the reporting date 
are measured as the difference between the 
asset’s gross carrying amount and the present 
value of the estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the financial asset’s original 
effective interest rate. Any adjustment is 
recognised in profit or loss as an impairment 
gain or loss.

1.18. Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised on the 
statement of financial position when the CCG 
becomes party to the contractual provisions 
of the financial instrument or, in the case of 
trade payables, when the goods or services 
have been received. Financial liabilities are 
de-recognised when the liability has been 
discharged, that is, the liability has been paid 
or has expired.

1.18.1. Financial guarantee contract liabilities

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are 
subsequently measured at the higher of:

• the premium received (or imputed) for 
entering into the guarantee less cumulative 
amortisation

• the amount of the obligation under the 
contract, as determined in accordance with 
IAS 37: provisions, contingent liabilities and 
contingent assets

 
1.18.2. Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit and loss

Embedded derivatives that have different risks 
and characteristics to their host contracts, 
and contracts with embedded derivatives 
whose separate value cannot be ascertained, 
are treated as financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit and loss. They are held at 
fair value, with any resultant gain or loss 
recognised in the CCG’s surplus or deficit. 
The net gain or loss incorporates any interest 
payable on the financial liability.
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1.18.3. Other financial liabilities

After initial recognition, all other financial 
liabilities are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, except for 
loans from DHSC, which are carried at historic 
cost. The effective interest rate is the rate 
that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
payments through the life of the asset, to the 
net carrying amount of the financial liability. 
Interest is recognised using the effective 
interest method.

1.19. Value Added Tax

Most of the activities of the CCG are outside 
the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax 
does not apply and input tax on purchases is 
not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged 
to the relevant expenditure category or 
included in the capitalised purchase cost of 
fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or 
input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are 
stated net of VAT.

1.20. Losses and special payments

Losses and special payments are items that 
Parliament would not have contemplated 
when it agreed funds for the health service 
or passed legislation. By their nature they are 
items that ideally should not arise. They are 
therefore subject to special control procedures 
compared with the generality of payments. 
They are divided into different categories, 
which govern the way that individual cases are 
handled.

Losses and special payments are charged to the 
relevant functional headings in expenditure on 
an accruals basis, including losses which would 
have been made good through insurance cover 
had the CCG not been bearing its own risks 
(with insurance premiums then being included 
as normal revenue expenditure).

1.21. Critical accounting judgements 
and key sources of estimation 
uncertainty

In the application of the CCG’s accounting 
policies, management is required to 
make various judgements, estimates and 
assumptions. These are regularly reviewed.

1.21.1. Critical accounting judgements in 
applying accounting policies

The CCG has a pooled budget arrangement 
under section 75 of the NHS Act 2006. The CCG 
has critically assessed this arrangement with 
reference to IFRS 11: joint arrangements and 
considers that the substance of the section 
75 arrangement, under which the funds are 
pooled, reflects a joint operation.

Detailed information relating to pooled 
budgets is provided in note 16.

1.21.2. Sources of estimation uncertainty

The CCG considers that there are no areas of 
material estimation uncertainty
 
1.22. Accounting standards that have 
been issued but have not yet been 
adopted

The DHSC GAM does not require the following 
IFRS Standards and Interpretations to be 
applied in 2021 to 2022. These standards are 
still subject to HM Treasury financial reporting 
manual adoption, with IFRS 16 being for 
implementation in 2022 to 2023, and the 
government implementation date for IFRS 17 
still subject to HM Treasury consideration. 
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IFRS 16 Leases will replace IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an arrangement contains 
a lease and other interpretations and is applicable in the public sector for periods beginning 1 
April 2022. The standard provides a single accounting model for lessees, recognising a right of 
use asset and obligation in the statement of financial position for most leases: some leases are 
exempt through application of practical expedients explained below. For those recognised in the 
statement of financial position the standard also requires the remeasurement of lease liabilities 
in specific circumstances after the commencement of the lease term. For lessors, the distinction 
between operating and finance leases will remain and the accounting will be largely unchanged.

IFRS 16 changes the definition of a lease compared to IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. The CCG will apply this 
definition to new leases only and will grandfather its assessments made under the old standards 
of whether existing contracts contain a lease.

On transition to IFRS 16 on 1 April 2022, the CCG will apply the standard retrospectively without 
restatement and with the cumulative effect of initially applying the standard recognised in the 
income and expenditure reserve at that date. For existing operating leases with a remaining 
lease term of more than 12 months and an underlying asset value of at least £5,000, a lease 
liability will be recognised equal to the value of remaining lease payments discounted on 
transition at the CCG’s incremental borrowing rate. The CCG’s incremental borrowing rate will 
be a rate defined by HM Treasury. For 2022, this rate is 0.95%. The related right of use asset will 
be measured equal to the lease liability adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease payments. No 
adjustments will be made on 1 April 2022 for existing finance leases.

For leases commencing in 2022 to 2023, the CCG will not recognise a right of use asset or lease 
liability for short term leases (less than or equal to 12 months) or for leases of low value assets 
(less than £5,000). Right of use assets will be subsequently measured on a basis consistent with 
owned assets and depreciated over the length of the lease term. 

The CCG has undertaken a review of its lease arrangements and has concluded that there 
are 4 leases relating to the provision of office space that fall within the scope of IFRS 16. The 
impact of applying the standard form 1 April 2022 has the most significant impact on the 
figures contained in the statement of financial position and only minimal impact in operating 
expenditure:

Statement of financial position

Description Carrying 
amount at 31 
March 2022

£’000

Reclassification

£’000

IFRS 16 
carrying 

amount at 1 
April 2022

£’000
Non-current asset: Property, plant and 
equipment

276 3,019 3,295

Current liabilities: other financial liabilities 0 (251) (251)
Non-current liabilities: other financial 
liabilities

0 (2,768) (2,768)
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Statement of cashflows

Financing activities 2021 to 2022
£’000

2020 to 2021
£’000

Repayment of lease liabilities 278 0
Interest paid 28 0

Statement of comprehensive net expenditure for year ended

Description 2021 to 2022
£’000

2020 to 2021
£’000

Operating leases 0 278
Depreciation 387 124
Interest payable 28 0
Totals 415 402

As the CCG’s operations will transfer to the newly formed NHS Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly ICB 
on 1 July 2022 the impact on operational expenditure will be accounted for approximately 1/4 
impact for the CCG and the remaining 3/4 for the ICB. The charge to operating expenditure will 
not be material in either set of financial statements.  
 
The value of assets and liabilities that transfer will not be materially different to those disclosed 
above due to the limited time until the transfer to the ICB.

• IFRS 17 insurance contracts: Application required for accounting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2021. Standard is not yet adopted by the financial reporting manual which is 
expected to be April 2023: early adoption is not therefore permitted.

2. Other operating revenue

Income from sale of goods and services (contracts) 2021 to 2022
£’000

2020 to 2021
£’000

Education, training and research - 7
Other contract income 8,365 7,780
Total income from sale of goods and services 8,365 7,787

Other operating income 2021 to 2022
£’000

2020 to 2021
£’000

Rental revenue from operating leases - 24
Non cash apprenticeship training grants revenue 23 18
Total other operating income 23 42

Totals 2021 to 2022
£’000

2020 to 2021
£’000

Total operating income 8,388 7,829
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers

4.1. Employee benefits

2021 to 2022 Permanent 
employees

£’000

Other

£’000

Total

£’000
Salaries and wages 10,681 863 11,544
Social security costs 1,217 39 1,256
Employer contributions to NHS pension scheme 2,045 6 2,051
Other pension costs 7 - 7
Apprenticeship levy 43 - 43
Gross employee benefits expenditure 13,993 908 14,901

2021 to 2022 Permanent 
employees

£’000

Other

£’000

Total

£’000
Salaries and wages 9,347 956 10,303
Social security costs 983 - 983
Employer contributions to NHS pension scheme 1,729 - 1,729
Other pension costs 6 - 6
Apprenticeship levy 34 - 34
Gross employee benefits expenditure 12,099 956 13,055

4.2. Average number of people employed

Description 2021/22
Permanent 
employees

£’000

2021/22
Other

£’000

2021/22
Total

£’000

2020/21
Permanent 
employees

£’000

2020/21
Other

£’000

2020/21
Total

£’000
Total 254 9 263 230 8 238

4.3. Exit packages agreed in the financial year

2021 to 2022 Compulsory 
redundancies 

Number

Compulsory 
redundancies

£

Other agreed 
departures

Number

Other agreed 
departures

£

Total
Number

Total
£

£10,001 to 
£25,000

- - 2 47,248 2 47,248

£25,001 to 
£50,000

- - 1 28,800 1 28,800

Total - - 3 76,048 3 76,048

There were no exit packages agreed in 2020 to 2021.
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Analysis of other agreed departures

Other agreed departures  2021 to 2022
Number

2021 to 2022
£

Non-contractual payments requiring HMT approval* 3 76,048

These tables report the number and value of exit packages agreed in the financial year. The 
expense associated with these departures may have been recognised in part or in full in a 
previous period.      
      
Exit costs are accounted for in accordance with relevant accounting standards and at the latest 
in full in the year of departure.      
      
There were no non-contractual payments made to individuals where the payment value was 
more than 12 months’ of their annual salary.      
      
The remuneration report (page 97) includes the disclosure of exit payments payable to 
individuals named in that report. Included in the non-contractual payments requiring approval 
are 3 payments made by NHS Kernow that are irregular because they did not receive HM 
Treasury approval. Full details of the payments can be found in the losses and special payments 
note from page 73.

4.4. Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the 2 NHS pension schemes. 
Details of the benefits payable and rules of the schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions 
website. Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices 
and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State for Health and Social 
Care in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS 
bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each 
scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of 
participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for 
the accounting period. 
 
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ 
materially from those that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial 
valuation, the financial reporting manual requires that “the period between formal valuations 
shall be 4 years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows.

http://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions
http://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions
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a) Accounting valuation 

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the 
Government Actuary’s Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises 
an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated 
membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing 
suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as 
at 31 March 2022, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2021, updated to 31 March 2022 with 
summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the 
methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant financial reporting manual interpretations, and the 
discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used. 
 
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme 
actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS pension scheme accounts. These accounts can be 
viewed on the NHS pensions website and are published annually. Copies can also be obtained 
from The Stationery Office.

b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation 

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due 
under the schemes (taking into account recent demographic experience), and to recommend 
contribution rates payable by employees and employers.  
 
The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS pension scheme was completed as at 31 
March 2016. The results of this valuation set the employer contribution rate payable from April 
2019 to 20.6% of pensionable pay.  
 
The 2016 funding valuation also tested the cost of the scheme relative to the employer cost 
cap that was set following the 2012 valuation. There was initially a pause to the cost control 
element of the 2016 valuations, due to the uncertainty around member benefits caused by the 
discrimination ruling relating to the McCloud case.  
 
HM Treasury published valuation directions dated 7 October 2021 (see Amending Directions 
2021) that set out the technical detail of how the costs of remedy are included in the 2016 
valuation process. Following these directions, the scheme actuary has completed the cost control 
element of the 2016 valuation for the NHS Pension Scheme, which concludes no changes to 
benefits or member contributions are required. The 2016 valuation reports can be found on the 
NHS Pensions website.

https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/nhs-pension-scheme-accounts-and-valuation-reports
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5. Operating expenses

Income from sale of goods and services (contracts) 2021 to 2022
£’000

2020 to 2021
£’000

Purchase of goods and services:
Services from other CCGs and NHS England 496 357
Services from foundation trusts 235,463 207,168
Services from other NHS trusts 491,723 429,506
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 207,711 173,687
Prescribing costs 104,439 103,096
GPMS, APMS and PCTMS 100,365 91,427
Supplies and services: clinical 183 234
Supplies and services: general 448 993
Consultancy services 215 -
Establishment 2,016 1,640
Transport 9 5
Premises 963 3,010
Audit fees * 83 78
Other non statutory audit expenditure: Other services 15 14
Other professional fees 1,098 551
Legal fees 293 183
Education, training and conferences 65 54
Non cash apprenticeship training grants 23 18
Total purchase of goods and services 1,145,608 1,012,021
Depreciation and impairment charges: Depreciation 124 122
Provision expense: Provisions 316 222
Other operating expenditure:
Chair and non-executive members 477 417
Grants to other bodies 6,083 170
Expected credit loss on receivables 100 200
Inventories consumed 5 -
Other expenditure 51 88
Total other operating expenditure 6,716 875
Total operating expenditure 1,152,764 1,013,240

* The limitation on auditor’s liability for external work is £2m (2020 to 2021: £2m).  
 
The fee payable to Grant Thornton LLP for the statutory audit for 2021 to 2022 was £68,900 
(excluding irrecoverable VAT) (2020 to 2021 £65,000 excluding irrecoverable VAT). 

Internal audit services (including counter fraud) are provided by TIAA Ltd. Fees paid in 2020 to 
2021 totalled £61,000 (2020 to 2021: £56,000) and are included under other professional fees 
   
During 2020 to 2021, the CCG spent £12.5million in costs related to the response to the COVID-19 
pandemic (2020 to 2021 £29.3million). These costs are included in the figures above. The NHS 
financial regime which was adapted in response to the pandemic for 2020 to 2021 has continued 
during 2021 to 2022 which has impacted on NHS Kernow’s payments to, and contractual 
arrangements with, major NHS and non-NHS providers of healthcare.   
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6. Better Payment Practice Code

6.1. Measure of compliance

Description 2021/22
Number

2021/22
£’000

2020/21
Number

2020/21
£’000

Non-NHS payables:
Total non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year  24,034  364,856 

 
23,915  298,151 

Total non-NHS trade invoices paid within 
target

 23,502  361,300  23,653  297,322 

Percentage of non-NHS trade invoices paid 
within target

97.79% 99.03% 98.90% 99.72%

NHS payables:
Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year

 336  728,788  1,553  647,877 

Total NHS trade invoices paid within target  329  728,761  1,487  647,647 
Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within 
target

97.92% 100.00% 95.75% 99.96%

6.2. The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

The CCG incurred no interest payments under the provisions of the Act (2020 to 2021: £nil).

7. Operating leases

7.1. As lessee

7.1.1 Payments recognised as an expense

Description 2021/22
Buildings

£’000

2021/22
Other

£’000

2021/22
Total

£’000

2020/21
Buildings

£’000

2020/21
Other

£’000

2020/21
Total

£’000
Minimum lease 
payments

352 3 355 882 3 885

The CCG’s lease expenditure reduced in 2021 to 2022 because the lease for its main 
administrative office expired in December 2020.

Whilst NHS Kernow’s arrangements with Community Health Partnership’s Limited and NHS 
Property Services Limited fall within the definition of operating leases, rental charge for future 
years have not yet been agreed for all properties. Consequently the note below only relates to 
leases that have been formalised.
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7.1.2. Future minimum lease payments

Payable 2021 to 2022
£’000

2020 to 2021
£’000

No later than 1 year 53 66
Between 1 and 5 years 83 181
After 5 years - -
Total 136 247

8. Property, plant and equipment

2021 to 2022 Plant and 
machinery

£’000

Information 
technology

£’000

Furniture and 
fittings
£’000

Total

£’000
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2021 13 600 58 671
Additions purchased - 153 - 153
Disposals other than by sale - (39) - (39)
Cost and valuation at 31 March 
2022

13 714 58 785

Depreciation 1 April 2021 13 355 56 424
Disposals other than by sale - (39) - (39)
Charged during the year - 123 1 124
Depreciation at 31 March 2022 13 439 57 509
Net book value at 31 March 2022 - 275 1 276
Purchased - 275 1 276
Asset financing: Owned - 275 1 276

2020 to 2021 Plant and 
machinery

£’000

Information 
technology

£’000

Furniture and 
fittings
£’000

Total

£’000
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2020 34 737 58 829
Additions purchased - 121 - 121
Disposals other than by sale (21) (258) - (279)
Cost and valuation at 31 March 
2021

13 600 58 671

Depreciation 1 April 2020 34 495 52 581
Disposals other than by sale (21) (258) - (279)
Charged during the year - 118 4 122
Depreciation at 31 March 2021 13 355 56 424
Net book value at 31 March 2021 - 245 2 247
Purchased - 245 2 247
Asset financing: Owned - 245 2 247
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8.1. Cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets

The cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets still in use was as follows:

Description 2021 to 2022
£’000

2020 to 2021
£’000

Plant and machinery 13 13
Information technology 209 148
Furniture and fittings 50 50
Total 272 211

8.2. Economic lives

2021 to 2022 Minimum life 
(years)

Maximum 
life (years)

Plant and machinery 5 15
Information technology 4 4
Furniture and fittings 5 10

9. Receivables and losses

9.1. Trade and other receivables

Description 2021 to 2022
£’000

2020 to 2021
£’000

NHS receivables: Revenue 948 950
NHS contract receivable not yet invoiced and non-invoice 743 530
Non-NHS and other whole of government accounts receivables: 
Revenue

6,503 3,981

Non-NHS and other whole of government accounts 
prepayments

1,305 1,093

Non-NHS and other whole of government accounts contract 
receivable not yet invoiced and non-invoice

3,002 1,491

Expected credit loss allowance-receivables (101) (201)
VAT 648 61
Other receivables and accruals 36 30
Total trade and other receivables 13,084 7,935
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9.2. Receivables past their due date but not impaired

Description 2021/22
DHSC group 

bodies
£’000

2021/22
Non DHSC 

group bodies
£’000

2020/21
DHSC group 

bodies
£’000

2020/21
Non DHSC 

group bodies
£’000

By up to 3 months 26 2,203 13 2,161
By 3 to 6 months - 1,358 41 2
By more than 6 months - 1,213 5 1,142
Total 26 4,774 59 3,305

9.3. Loss allowance on asset classes

Trade and other receivables Non DHSC 
group bodies

£’000
Balance at 1 April 2021 (201)
Lifetime expected credit losses on trade and other receivables-Stage 2 100
Total (101)

10. Trade and other payables

Description 2021 to 2022
£’000

2020 to 2021
£’000

NHS payables: Revenue 375 659
NHS accruals 500 222
Non-NHS and other whole of government accounts payables: 
Revenue

9,384 10,740

Non-NHS and other whole of government accruals 47,609 51,886
Social security costs 189 155
Tax 150 124
Other payables and accruals 1,151 823
Total trade and other payables 59,358 64,609

Other payables include £1,134,836 outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2022 (31 
March 2021: £821,206).
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11. Borrowings

Bank overdrafts 2021 to 2022
£’000

2020 to 2021
£’000

Government banking service 2,796 2,562
 
NHS Kernow’s cash position is reported in the financial statements as borrowings at 31 March 
2022. CCGs draw cash on a monthly basis according to cash flow requirements and are expected 
to have minimal cash balances at the end of the month. Due to outstanding payments that 
had been processed during the year but cleared after the year end NHS Kernow has a technical 
overdraft - reported as borrowings - as at 31 March 2022. As at 31 March 2022, the CCG had a 
positive cash balance in its government banking service bank account of £331,266 (31 March 
2021: £221,480).       

12. Provisions

Description 2021/22
Current
£’000

2021/22
Non-current

£’000

2020/21
Current
£’000

2020/21
Non-current

£’000
Continuing care 271 271 177 177
Other - - 90 -
Total 271 271 267 177
Total current and non-
current

542 444

Description 2021/22
Continuing 

care
£’000

2021/22
Other

£’000

2021/22
Total

£’000

2020/21
Continuing 

care
£’000

2020/21
Other

£’000

2020/21
Total

£’000
Balance at 1 April 2021 354 90 444 317 90 407
Arising during the year 531 - 531 368 - 368
Utilised during the year (218) - (218) (185) - (185)
Reversed unused (125) (90) (215) (146) - (146)
Balance at 31 March 2022 542 - 542 354 90 444
Expected timing of cash 
flows: within 1 year

271 - 271 177 90 267

Expected timing of cash 
flows: between 1 and 5 
years

271 - 271 177 - 177

Balance at 31 March 2022 542 - 542 354 90 444

The continuing care provision reflects an estimate of the expected liability for retrospective 
claims for eligibility relation to the period since the inception of the CCG (for example from 1 
April 2013). 
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Under the accounts directions issued by NHS 
England on 12 February 2014, NHS England 
is responsible for accounting for liabilities 
relating to NHS continuing healthcare 
claims relating to periods of care before the 
establishment of NHS Kernow. The legal 
liability remains with NHS Kernow. The total 
value of the legacy NHS continuing healthcare 
accruals accounted for by NHSEI on behalf of 
this CCG at 31 March 2022 is £35,960 (31 March 
2021: £416,584 as provisions).

13. Contingencies
    
The CCG does not consider that there are any 
material contingent liabilities at 31 March 
2022 (31 March 2021: none). The principal 
exposure to such liabilities would be in respect 
of retrospective claims for eligibility for 
continuing healthcare. Such costs are accrued 
when appropriate and a further provision has 
been made in respect of claims where there 
is considered to be a reasonable likelihood of 
success. The exposure of the CCG to such risk 
is also limited to periods of care since 1 April 
2013 as earlier claims are being settled on a risk 
shared basis from a defined national funding 
pool. In view of this context the residual 
exposure of the CCG to contingent liabilities is 
not considered to be material to the financial 
statements.

14. Commitments

The CCG has not entered into any 
commitments as at 31 March 2022.
 

15. Financial instruments

15.1. Financial risk management

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires 
disclosure of the role that financial instruments 
have had during the period in creating or 
changing the risks a body faces in undertaking 
its activities.

Because NHS Kernow is financed through 
parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to 
the degree of financial risk faced by business 
entities. Also, financial instruments play a 
much more limited role in creating or changing 
risk than would be typical of listed companies, 
to which the financial reporting standards 
mainly apply. NHS Kernow has limited powers 
to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial 
assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-
day operational activities rather than being 
held to change the risks facing the CCG in 
undertaking its activities.

Treasury management operations are carried 
out by the finance department, within 
parameters defined formally within the NHS 
Kernow’s standing financial instructions 
and policies agreed by the Governing Body. 
Treasury activity is subject to review by the 
CCG and internal auditors.

15.1.1. Currency risk

NHS Kernow is principally a domestic 
organisation with the great majority of 
transactions, assets and liabilities being in 
the UK and sterling based. NHS Kernow has 
no overseas operations. It therefore has low 
exposure to currency rate fluctuations.

15.1.2. Interest rate risk

CCGs do not borrow money in the normal 
course of business neither are they permitted 
to make interest bearing deposits. The CCG 
therefore has a low exposure to interest rate 
fluctuations. Borrowings disclosed in the 
financial statements are those arising from a 
technical overdraft as explained in note 11.

15.1.3. Credit risk 

Because the majority of the NHS Kernow 
and revenue comes parliamentary funding, 
NHS Kernow has low exposure to credit risk. 
The maximum exposures as at the end of 
the financial year are in receivables from 
customers, as disclosed in the trade and other 
receivables note.



136 | 2021 to 2022 annual report

15.1.4. Liquidity risk 

NHS Kernow is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are 
financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. NHS Kernow draws down cash every 
month to cover its immediate expenditure requirements. It is not, therefore, exposed to 
significant liquidity risks.

15.1.5. Financial Instruments

NHS Kernow’s activities do not involve the use of complex financial instruments. The majority 
of financial instruments relate to contracts to buy non financial items in line with its delegated 
powers. It is therefore exposed to minimal credit, liquidity or market risk.

15.2. Financial assets

Bank overdrafts 2021 to 2022
Financial 

assets 
measured at 
amortised 

cost
£’000

2020 to 2021
Financial 

assets 
measured at 
amortised 

cost
£’000

Trade and other receivables with NHS England bodies 1,183 1,272
Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies 508 243
Trade and other receivables with external bodies 9,541 5,468
Cash and cash equivalents (0) 0
Total at 31 March 11,232 6,983

            
15.3 Financial liabilities

Bank overdrafts 2021 to 2022
Financial 
liabilities 

measured at 
amortised 

cost
£’000

2020 to 2021
Financial 
liabilities 

measured at 
amortised 

cost
£’000

Loans with group bodies - -
Loans with external bodies 2,796 2,562
Trade and other payables with NHS England bodies 250 640
Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies 1,415 425
Trade and other payables with external bodies 57,354 63,264
Total at 31 March 61,815 66,891
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16. Joint arrangements: interests in joint operations

NHS Kernow has a joint arrangement that is material to the accounts. In line with the 
requirements in IFRS 12: disclosure of interests in other entities this is detailed below.

Mental health pooled fund 
 
NHS Kernow is party to a mental health pooled budget with Cornwall Council and CFT, which 
was originally entered into on 1 October 2003. Under this arrangement funds are pooled under 
section 75 of the Health Act 2006 for the provision of adult mental health services in Cornwall 
and the Isles of Scilly. The pool is hosted by NHS Kernow and the expenditure incurred for 2021 
to 2022 was £40,637,000 (2020 to 2021: £39,886,000). This expenditure is reflected in operating 
expenses in Note 5 to these accounts. 
           
NHS Kernow has given notice that it is terminating this arrangement in line with the provisions 
in the section 75 agreement, This takes effect from 2 June 2022. 

17. Related party transactions

Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:    
 
2021 to 2022 Payments to 

related party

£’000

Receipts from 
related party

£’000

Amounts 
owed to 

related party
£’000

Amounts due 
from related 

party
£’000

Carnon Downs Surgery  2,693 Nil Nil Nil
Helston Medical Centre  2,864 Nil Nil Nil
St Mary's Health Centre  992 Nil Nil Nil
St Agnes Surgery  1,818 Nil Nil Nil
Tamar Valley Medical Practice 
(until 13 April 2021)

 206 Nil Nil Nil

Funding Angels Ltd (23 April 2021 
to 13 August 2021)

 35 Nil Nil Nil

2020 to 2021 Payments to 
related party

£’000

Receipts from 
related party

£’000

Amounts 
owed to 

related party
£’000

Amounts due 
from related 

party
£’000

Carnon Downs Surgery  2,020 Nil Nil Nil
Helston Medical Centre  2,419 Nil 15 Nil
St Mary's Health Centre  1,070 Nil Nil Nil
St Agnes Surgery  1,884 Nil Nil Nil
Tamar Valley Medical Practice  5,482 Nil 1 Nil
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The DHSC is regarded as a related party. During the year, the CCG has had a significant number 
of material transactions with entities for which the DHSC is regarded as the parent department. 
These included:

• NHSEI
• NHS Business Services Authority
• RCHT
• CFT
• UHP
• SWASFT

In addition, the CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government 
departments and other central and local government bodies. The most significant of these 
transactions have been with Cornwall Council.

The CCG comprises all the GP practices situated within Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly. The CCG 
has many routine and regular transactions with each of its constituent practices in the normal 
course of business. In accordance with the constitution of the CCG, a number of GPs also serve 
as members of the Governing Body of the CCG: the practices associated with Governing Body 
GP members are regarded as ‘related parties’ for accounting purposes: we disclose the level of 
financial transactions with those practices.
     
Funding Angels Ltd is a private limited company registered with Companies House (Reg No 
05633335). Kate Schroder who was interim managing director from 23 April 2021 to 13 August 
2021 is the sole director of this company.

18. Events after the end of the reporting period

The Health and Care Bill received Royal Assent on 28 April 2022 and is now an Act of Parliament. 
The Act establishes ICBs across England on 1 July 2022 and abolishes CCGs. All the functions, 
assets and liabilities of NHS Kernow will transfer to NHS Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly ICB on 1 
July 2022.
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19. Financial performance targets

NHS CCGs have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).

NHS Kernow’s performance against those duties was as follows:

2021 to 2022 Target
£’000

Performance
£’000

Difference
£’000

Duty 
achieved?

Expenditure not to exceed income 1,168,389 1,167,818 571 Yes
Capital resource use does not exceed the 
amount specified in directions

153 153 0 Yes

Revenue resource use does not exceed 
the amount specified in directions

1,159,848 1,159,277 571 Yes

Capital resource use on specified 
matter(s) does not exceed the amount 
specified in directions

0 0 0 Yes

Revenue resource use on specified 
matter(s) does not exceed the amount 
specified in directions

0 0 0 Yes

Revenue administration resource use 
does not exceed the amount specified in 
directions

11,448 10,950 498 Yes

2020 to 2021 Target
£’000

Performance
£’000

Difference
£’000

Duty 
achieved?

Expenditure not to exceed income 1,026,761 1,026,416 345 Yes
Capital resource use does not exceed the 
amount specified in directions

121 121 0 Yes

Revenue resource use does not exceed 
the amount specified in directions

1,018,811 1,018,466 345 Yes

Capital resource use on specified 
matter(s) does not exceed the amount 
specified in directions

- - 0 Yes

Revenue resource use on specified 
matter(s) does not exceed the amount 
specified in directions

- - 0 Yes

Revenue administration resource use 
does not exceed the amount specified in 
directions

11,439 10,966 473 Yes
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of the 
Governing Body of Cornwall and Isles of Scilly Integrated 
Care Board in respect of NHS Kernow

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion on financial statements

We have audited the financial statements of 
NHS Kernow (the CCG) for the year ended 31 
March 2022, which comprise the statement of 
comprehensive net expenditure, the statement 
of financial position, the statement of changes 
in taxpayers equity, the statement of cash 
flows and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting 
policies. The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their preparation is 
applicable law and international accounting 
standards in conformity with the requirements 
of the accounts directions issued under 
schedule 15 of the National Health Service Act 
2006, as amended by the Health and Social 
Care Act 2012 and interpreted and adapted by 
the DHSC GAM 2021 to 2022.

In our opinion, the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the CCG as at 31 March 2022 and 
of its expenditure and income for the year 
then ended

• have been properly prepared in accordance 
with international accounting standards as 
interpreted and adapted by the DHSC GAM 
2021 to 2022;

• have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the National Health Service 
Act 2006, as amended by the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) UK 
and applicable law, as required by the Code 
of Audit Practice 2020 (the Code of Audit 
Practice) approved by the comptroller and 
auditor general. 

Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of our report. 

We are independent of the CCG in accordance 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant 
to our audit of the financial statements in 
the UK, including the FRC’s ethical standard, 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of matter: Demise of the 
organisation

In forming our opinion on the financial 
statements, which is not modified, we 
draw attention to note 1.1 to the financial 
statements, which confirms that, under the 
Health and Care Act 2022 the commissioning 
functions, assets and liabilities of the CCG 
transferred to Cornwall and Isles of Scilly 
Integrated Care Board on 1 July 2022.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We are responsible for concluding on the 
appropriateness of the accountable officer’s 
use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, 
whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the CCG’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our report to the 
related disclosures in the financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify the auditor’s opinion. 
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Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our 
report. 

In our evaluation of the accountable officer’s 
conclusions, and in accordance with the 
expectation set out within the DHSC GAM 2021 
to 2022 that the CCG’s financial statements 
shall be prepared on a going concern basis, we 
considered the inherent risks associated with 
the continuation of services currently provided 
by the CCG. In doing so we have had regard 
to the guidance provided in practice note 10 
audit of financial statements and regularity 
of public sector bodies in the UK (revised 
2020) on the application of ISA UK 570 going 
concern to public sector entities. We assessed 
the reasonableness of the basis of preparation 
used by the CCG and the CCG’s disclosures over 
the going concern period.

Based on the work we have performed, we 
have not identified any material uncertainties 
relating to events or conditions that, 
individually or collectively, may cast significant 
doubt on the CCG’s ability to continue as a 
going concern for a period of at least twelve 
months from when the financial statements 
are authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have 
concluded that the accountable officer’s use 
of the going concern basis of accounting in 
the preparation of the financial statements is 
appropriate. 

The responsibilities of the accountable officer 
with respect to going concern are described in 
the responsibilities of the accountable officer 
and those charged with governance for the 
financial statements sections of this report.

Other information

The accountable officer is responsible for the 
other information. The other information 
comprises the information included in the 
annual report, other than the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does 
not cover the other information and, except 
to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in 
our report, we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
If we identify such material inconsistencies 
or apparent material misstatements, we 
are required to determine whether there 
is a material misstatement in the financial 
statements or a material misstatement of 
the other information. If, based on the work 
we have performed, we conclude that there 
is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that 
fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Other information we are required to 
report on by exception under the Code 
of Audit Practice 

Under the Code of Audit Practice published 
by the National Audit Office in April 2020 on 
behalf of the comptroller and auditor general 
(the Code of Audit Practice) we are required to 
consider whether the governance statement 
does not comply with the guidance issued by 
NHS England or is misleading or inconsistent 
with the information of which we are aware 
from our audit. We are not required to 
consider whether the governance statement 
addresses all risks and controls or that risks are 
satisfactorily addressed by internal controls.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Opinion on other matters required by 
the Code of Audit Practice 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken 
in the course of the audit: 

• the parts of the remuneration and staff 
report to be audited have been properly 
prepared in accordance with international 
accounting standards in conformity with 
the requirements of the accounts directions 
issued under schedule 15 of the National 
Health Service Act 2006, as amended by 
the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and 
interpreted and adapted by the DHSC GAM 
2021 to 2022

• based on the work undertaken in the course 
of the audit of the financial statements 
and our knowledge of the CCG, the other 
information published together with the 
financial statements in the annual report 
for the financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with 
the financial statements

 
Qualified opinion on regularity of 
income and expenditure required by 
the Code of Audit Practice

In our opinion, except for the effects of the 
matter described in the basis for qualified 
opinion on regularity section of our report, 
in all material respects the expenditure and 
income recorded in the financial statements 
have been applied to the purposes intended by 
Parliament and the financial transactions in the 
financial statements conform to the authorities 
which govern them.

Basis for qualified opinion on regularity

The financial statements of the CCG include 2 
severance payments totalling £51,551 as well 
as pay in lieu of notice of £24,497 in respect 
of employees that left the organisation during 
the year.

Having carefully considered this matter and 
the supporting information available, in our 
view the payments incurred by the CCG fall 
within the definition of special payments as set 
out in managing public money. To the extent 
that the severance payment and pay in lieu of 
notice are considered special payments under 
the terms of managing public money they 
should have been referred to NHS England for 
consultation and approval. The CCG did not 
seek approval prior to making these payments 
but retrospectively referred these payments 
to NHS England for approval in May 2022. On 
6 July 2022 all payments were retrospectively 
rejected by NHS England and as a result we 
consider them to be unlawful.

Matters on which we are required to 
report by exception

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are 
required to report to you if we:

• issue a report in the public interest 
under section 24 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or 
at the conclusion of the audit

• refer a matter to the Secretary of State 
under section 30 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 because we have 
reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer 
of the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a 
decision which involves or would involve the 
body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is 
about to take, or has begun to take a course 
of action which, if followed to its conclusion, 
would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss 
or deficiency

• we make a written recommendation to the 
CCG under section 24 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or 
at the conclusion of the audit

We have nothing to report in respect of the 
above matters except on 29 July 2022 we 
referred a matter to the Secretary of State 
under section 30 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 in relation to the 
CCG’s breach of the terms of managing public 
money, as referenced in the basis for qualified 
opinion on regularity section above.
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Responsibilities of the accountable 
officer and those charged with 
governance for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the statement of 
accountable officer’s responsibilities set out 
on pages 73 to 74, the accountable officer, is 
responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements in the form and on the basis set out 
in the accounts directions, for being satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view, and for 
such internal control as the accountable 
officer determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the 
accountable officer is responsible for assessing 
the CCG’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless they have 
been informed by the relevant national body 
of the intention to dissolve the CCG without 
the transfer of its services to another public 
sector entity.

The accountable officer is responsible for 
ensuring the regularity of expenditure and 
income in the financial statements.

The audit committee of the CCG was those 
charged with governance until 30 June 2022. 
The audit committee of Cornwall and Isles of 
Scilly Integrated Care Board (the ICB) took on 
this role from 1 July 2022. Those charged with 
governance are responsible for overseeing the 
CCG’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs UK 
will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for 
the audit of the financial statements is located 
on the Financial Reporting Council’s website. 
This description forms part of our auditor’s 
report.

We are also responsible for giving an opinion 
on the regularity of expenditure and income in 
the financial statements in accordance with the 
Code of Audit Practice.

Explanation as to what extent the audit 
was considered capable of detecting 
irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances 
of non-compliance with laws and regulations. 
We design procedures in line with our 
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect 
material misstatements in respect of 
irregularities, including fraud. Owing to the 
inherent limitations of an audit, there is an 
unavoidable risk that material misstatements in 
the financial statements may not be detected, 
even though the audit is properly planned and 
performed in accordance with the ISAs UK. 

The extent to which our procedures are 
capable of detecting irregularities, including 
fraud is detailed below.

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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• We obtained an understanding of the 
legal and regulatory frameworks that are 
applicable to the CCG and determined 
that the most significant which are directly 
relevant to specific assertions in the 
financial statements are those related to 
the reporting frameworks (international 
accounting standards and the National 
Health Service Act 2006, as amended by 
the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and 
interpreted and adapted by the DHSC GAM 
2021 to 2022).

• We enquired of management and the audit 
committee of the CCG, concerning the CCG’s 
policies and procedures relating to the: 
• identification, evaluation and compliance 

with laws and regulations
• detection and response to the risks of 

fraud
• establishment of internal controls to 

mitigate risks related to fraud or non-
compliance with laws and regulations

• We enquired of management, internal 
audit and the audit committee of the CCG, 
whether they were aware of any instances of 
non-compliance with laws and regulations or 
whether they had any knowledge of actual, 
suspected or alleged fraud. 

• We assessed the susceptibility of the 
CCG’s financial statements to material 
misstatement, including how fraud might 
occur, evaluating management’s incentives 
and opportunities for manipulation of 
the financial statements. This included 
the evaluation of the risk of management 
override of controls. We determined that the 
principal risks were in relation to:
• journals posted by senior officers
• post year end journals
• journals with a blank description
• significant manual accruals
• credits to income with debits to liability 

codes
• Our audit procedures involved: 

• evaluation of the design effectiveness of 
controls that management has in place to 
prevent and detect fraud

• journal entry testing, with a focus on 
large and unusual journals, including 
journals posted by senior officers, post 
year end journals, journals with a blank 
description, significant manual accruals 
and credits to income with debits to 
liability codes

• challenging assumptions and judgements 
made by management in its significant 
accounting estimates in respect of 
accruals

• assessing the extent of compliance with 
the relevant laws and regulations as part 
of our procedures on the related financial 
statement item

• These audit procedures were designed 
to provide reasonable assurance that the 
financial statements were free from fraud 
or error. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement due to fraud is higher than 
the risk of not detecting one resulting from 
error and detecting irregularities that result 
from fraud is inherently more difficult than 
detecting those that result from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, deliberate 
concealment, forgery or intentional 
misrepresentations. Also, the further 
removed non-compliance with laws and 
regulations is from events and transactions 
reflected in the financial statements, the less 
likely we would become aware of it.

• The team communications in respect of 
potential non-compliance with relevant laws 
and regulations, including the potential 
for fraud in revenue and expenditure 
recognition, and the significant accounting 
estimates related to prescribing accruals.

• Our assessment of the appropriateness of 
the collective competence and capabilities 
of the engagement team included 
consideration of the engagement team’s:
• understanding of, and practical 

experience with audit engagements of 
a similar nature and complexity through 
appropriate training and participation

• knowledge of the health sector and 
economy in which the CCG operates
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• understanding of the legal and 
regulatory requirements specific to the 
CCG including:
• the provisions of the applicable 

legislation
• NHS England’s rules and related 

guidance
• the applicable statutory provisions

• In assessing the potential risks of 
material misstatement, we obtained an 
understanding of:
• the CCG’s operations, including the nature 

of its operating revenue and expenditure 
and its services and of its objectives and 
strategies to understand the classes of 
transactions, account balances, expected 
financial statement disclosures and 
business risks that may result in risks of 
material misstatement

• the CCG’s control environment, including 
the policies and procedures implemented 
by the CCG to ensure compliance with the 
requirements of the financial reporting 
framework

Report on other legal and 
regulatory requirements

CCG’s arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in its use of resources

Matter on which we are required to report by 
exception

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are 
required to report to you if, in our opinion, we 
have not been able to satisfy ourselves that the 
CCG made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use 
of resources for the year ended 31 March 2022. 

Our work on the CCG’s arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in its use of resources is not yet complete. 

The outcome of our work will be reported in 
our commentary on the CCG’s arrangements in 
our auditor’s annual report. If we identify any 
significant weaknesses in these arrangements, 
they will be reported by exception in a further 
auditor’s report. We are satisfied that this 
work does not have a material effect on our 
opinion on the financial statements for the 
year ended 31 March 2022. 

Responsibilities of the accountable officer

As explained in the governance statement, the 
accountable officer of the CCG was responsible 
for putting in place proper arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in the use of the CCG’s resources.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the 
CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources

We are required under section 21(1)(c) of the 
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to 
be satisfied that the CCG has made proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources. We 
are not required to consider, nor have we 
considered, whether all aspects of the CCG’s 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources are 
operating effectively.

We undertake our review in accordance with 
the Code of Audit Practice, having regard 
to the guidance issued by the comptroller 
and auditor general in December 2021. This 
guidance sets out the arrangements that fall 
within the scope of proper arrangements. 
When reporting on these arrangements, the 
Code of Audit Practice requires auditors to 
structure their commentary on arrangements 
under 3 specified reporting criteria:

Financial sustainability
How the CCG plans and manages its resources 
to ensure it can continue to deliver its services.
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Governance
How the CCG ensures that it makes informed 
decisions and properly manages its risks.

Improving economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness
How the CCG uses information about its 
costs and performance to improve the way it 
manages and delivers its services.

We document our understanding of the 
arrangements the CCG has in place for each of 
these 3 specified reporting criteria, gathering 
sufficient evidence to support our risk 
assessment and commentary in our auditor’s 
annual report. In undertaking our work, we 
consider whether there is evidence to suggest 
that there are significant weaknesses in 
arrangements.

Delay in certification of completion of 
the audit

We cannot formally conclude the audit and 
issue an audit certificate for the CCG for the 
year ended 31 March 2022 in accordance 
with the requirements of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit 
Practice until we have:

• completed our work on the CCG’s 
arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources

• completed the work necessary to issue our 
whole of government accounts component 
assurance statement for the CCG for the year 
ended 31 March 2022; we are satisfied that 
this work does not have a material effect on 
the financial statements for the year ended 
31 March 2022

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the members of 
the Governing Body of the ICB, as a body, in 
respect of the CCG, in accordance with part 
5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014. Our audit work has been undertaken 
so that we might state to the members of the 
Governing Body of the ICB those matters we 
are required to state to them in an auditor’s 
report in respect of the CCG and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by 
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility 
to anyone other than the ICB, and the 
members of the Governing Bodies of the ICB 
and the CCG ,as bodies, for our audit work, 
for this report, or for the opinions we have 
formed.

      
Peter Barber, Key Audit Partner
For and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, 
Local Auditor
Bristol
13 September 2022
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